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hG critical Hnk

Critca of essential importance indispensable

Unk anything serving to connect one part or thing wIth another bond or tie

Energy plays an increasingly pivotal role in the way we live work and play

We depend on electric energy to light our communities power our industries and

serve our families Reliable sustainable efficient energy is essential to our

quality of life and the economic viability of our nation

Since its inception IIC has invested more than $1 .5 billion in transmission

system upgrades to improve electric reliability reduce system congestion and

facilitate the non-discriminatory interconnection of new generating assets

including renewable resources As the nations only fully independent

transmission company IC is critical link in the energy chain
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While achieving these results we also delvered on our other financial commitments such as maki ig capital investments

in our business
totaling

8361 .6 mil ion ncluding $87.2 million at International Trails iiission Company ITC Transrriissioif

$1 32.7 million at Michigan Electric Transmission Company METC $1 40.1 million at ITC Midwest and $1.6 million for

ITO Great Plains These nvestments not only drive our earnings growth but provide substantial benefits to our customers

As we advance toward our goal of besffinclass performance for all our operating compares we continue to invest in

our systems to improve reliability support the interconnection of new generating resources improve system efficiency

and lower the cost of delivered energy

Recent benchmarking studies illustrate that our efforts to improve system reliability have resulted in substantially Oetter

peiformance over the past year Additionally we have been able to achieve these reliability improvements thile

mainta ning the transmission component of the enduse consumer bill at approximately four to ye percent in the

ITO Transmission and METC service territories both of which are ranked us top decile performers in reliability compared

to the national average of greater than seven percent

During 2009 ITO and its contractors continued to build on oui history of safe opeiations On January25 2010 ITO

field operations and maintenance conti actor Utility Lines Construction reached one million sac mai hours without

one ost-time safety incident This is quite feat considerng the amount of work ITO and its contractors are

accomplishing every day in our efforts to improve electric reliability

We believe our ability to achieve ope ational excellence provides our compaiy with competitive advantage as we

pursue our bLisiness strategy

ADVANCNG OUR BUSNESS STRATEGY

During 2009 we made noteworthy progress advancing oci overall strategy

TC Midwest Since its formation in 2007 ITO Midwest has made significant investments to nterconnect wind and

other renewable generators demonstrating our commitment to allow all generating resources access to the transmission

system on nondiscriminatory basis

ITO Midwest connected 716 megawatts MW of installed wind energy generation to the company electric transmission

system in 2009 Combined with the 810 MW of new wind generation connected to the ITO Midwest system durng 2008

the company has connected more than 1500 MW of wind energy in Iowa during our ownership penod whch has

heiped propel owe to second in the nation in terms of instailed wind generating capacity



COMPARSON OF S-YEAR CUMULASVE TOTAL RETURN

Assumes mittS investment of$lOO and reinvestment of dividends

HOLDiNGS CORP SP 500 TOTTL RETURNS 4- SP UTiLITiES iNDEX

51 005 00 200 007 2088 200

ITO HOLDiNGS CORP turn 24 46 47.13 4498 2073

Cum$ 10000 12446 1812 26548 2044 25849

SAP 500 TOTAL RETURNS turn 15 78 49 -36 99 26 47

Curn$ 10000 0157 117.o9 12405 7816 9885

SPUT1LITIES1NDEX urn% 042 20 1939 -2996 1194

Curn$ 10000 10042 121.50 145.07 101.61 113.74

Additionally we havu greatly improved electric reliability at ITC Midwest When ITC acquired the ITC Midwest

transmission system it was rated as third-quartile performer in terms of sustained outages Through our focuseo

transmission investments and proactive maintenance programs we significantly reduced the number of sustained

outages on the ITC Mdwest system in 2009 Improveme its in electric reliability tend to lag compared to the timing

of investments and here remains significant work to be done However this achievement in reduced sustained

outages demonstrates the va ue of improving the transmission network

TC Great Pains ITC Great Plains reached number of significant milestones in 2009 that moved us closer to

making critical transmission infrastructure improvements in tie Southwest to supoort the region growing energy

needs in March ruling from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FERC approved rate incentives for two

Kansas projects the Plan and the KETA project

In June the company signed an agreement to reso ye pending regulatory proceedings regarding who should be

authorized to buld the 180-mile V-Plan project which will serve as link between western and eastern Kansas

and fac litate the exportation of oower out of state The agreement was approved by the Kansas Corporation

Commission KCC in July

ITC Great Plains received
siting approva from the KCC in July on the proposed route for Phase of the KETA line

ri.inning from Spearville Kansas to substation near Hays Kansas



In August ITC Great Plains completed the purchase of two electric transmission substations in the Southwest

Power Pool SPP that represent the first components of what will ultimately result in our ownership and operation

of state-of-the-art transmission system across the region

In October the SPP approved priority list of projects for further analysis that includes the V-Plan The
priority

projects will be reviewed on regional basis and are scheduled to be approved by the SPP board in 2010

At the end of 2009 we began preconstruction planning routing and right-of-way acquisition for the Hugo-to

Valliant Project 19-mile 345 kilovolt 345 transmission line in southeastern Oklahoma that is part of larger

transmission line project being implemented to provide more efficient and cost-effective transmission of energy

and increase access to broader range of generation resources

As result of these successes ITC Great Plains is well positioned to continue developing transmission solutions

for the Southwest region that facilitate renewable energy and address current system capacity constraints

Green Power Express In February 2009 the Green Power Express was unveiled as one of ITCs broadest and

most ambitious efforts to modernize an overburdened aging electric grid The project spanning seven states will

ultimately include 3000 miles of extra-high-voltage 765 kV transmission and is expected to facilitate the flow of

up to 12000 MW of renewable energy from the upper Midwest to load centers in the central-Midwest and mid-

Atlantic regions of the country

Over the course of the year Green Power Express achieved some important objectives the first of which occurred

in April when the FERC approved favorable transmission incentives for the project At the same time the FERC

authorized the establishment of regulatory asset for development and preconstruction costs These incentives

will enable us to more effectively pursue the development of partnerships with other transmission owners in the

region of the multi-state Green Power Express project

In the first of several anticipated strategic alliances we signed agreements with Bismarck North Dakota-based

MDU Resources Group and Sioux Falls South Dakota-based NorthWestern Energy in the third quarter of last year

Both companies will collaborate with ITC on development efforts and securing the approvals needed to advance

the project

The entire project is currently estimated to cost $1 0-12 billion and ITC expects to participate and invest in

portion of this total



POSITIONED FOR THE FUTURE

In March we celebrated our seventh year of operations and in July of 2010 we will celebrate our fifth year as publicly

listed company We have successfully grown our business over this time by addressing customer needs and maintaining

keen eye on creating shareholder value while expanding our business Since our inception we have significantly

increased the scope of our business including megawatts delivered miles of transmission lines number of communities

served and number of substations interconnections poles and towers For example our miles of transmission have

increased by 451 percent Our peak load has increased by 96 percent The number of communities served increased

from 430 to 1821 while the number of square miles in our footprint has increased more than tenfold

We were operating in one state and now operate in six separate state jurisdictions We have

grown from 38 employees in 2003 to over 400 today

We were operating in

Our earnings per share have grown by compounded rate of 24.9 percent and we have

one state and now we increased our dividend annually at an average rate of over five percent since we have been public

Importantly the growth in our business also has manifested itself in value creation for our

operate in six separate
shareholders

state Jurisdictions
Our liquidi and ability to finance our business remain strong and we will continue to focus and

We have gone from 38 move forward on our development and growth efforts

employees in 2003 to
Our companys five-year capital expenditure plan announced in September of 2009 includes

approximately $3 billion of capital investments Between 2010 and 2014 we expect to invest

over 400 today approximately $2.3 billion in our base businesses including expected transmission investments

associated with non-discriminatory generator interconnections and approximately $700 million

in development initiatives

The five-year capital investment plan is projected to increase ITCs consolidated rate base from approximately $2.1 billion

at the end of 2008 to approximately $4.5 billion by the end of 2014 This increase in rate base is expected to result in

compound annual growth in earnings per share of approximately 13 to 15 percent over this period

When we started this business seven years ago we had vision to become leader in the build-out of more reliable

and robust transmission system capable of meeting the needs of 21st century energy-intensive economy We have

made great strides toward this goal but much work remains to be done Developing the kind of transmission system

the nation requires will be evolutionary not revolutionary As the countrys only independent transmission company ITC

is well positioned to benefit from this opportunity and be an instrumental player in the build-out of the transmission grid

Thank you for the confidence you have placed in us Rest assured we will work hard every day to continually earn your trust

Joseph Welch

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

ITC Holdings Corp
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REUABLE TRANSMSSON

Reliability is the foundaton on vnich CC bulk Ow ongoino efforts to replace aging

transmission fad los eouipment across tie ITC se vice terntory have resulted

in increascd re iabitty and officiercy wni pay ng the way for the non scriminatory

iotegration of new oenerating resources icluding renet Jable resources 2009

Cs transmission systei is cx eienced 46 pemelt fewer sustained outages than

ie previous year

To ensure the sa Ag and reilability transmission lines while remaining compiant

with the federa governments zero out ige mandate TC maintains an active

vegctat on ma iage cent prograrr As result we dic io experience any outages

livolving transmission lines impacted by he federa mandate due vegetation

issues ith rgf of-way 2009 testament to ow Wst ii class operations

In the SGS Statist cal Service Tra isnission Reliab ty Benchmark Study our

subsidiary Transmission ranked as tie has ove all system in sustained outages

ann was second overal in momcntars outages

ENERGY EFHCENCY

When
electricity

travels long distances on lower voltage elactric lines efficiency is

compromised Congested nes also
significantly

reduce energy efficiency In the past

30 years transmissio line losses have doubled pdmarily due to icreased demand

congestion and outdated infrastructure ITCs ivestiients ii the transmission
grin

reduce energy losses thci eby increasi ig effic icy

Extra- igh-voitage iransmission Ities such as those oposed foi TCs Green Rowe

Express project are more eff cient requ ro less
right

of way aid are inherently more

reliable tian their lower-voltage counterparts For examp /65 kV Ii ie incurs half

the losses of 345 kV ne carry ng the same amount of porver Just as mpontant

one 765 kV line can carry the same amount of
electricity as six single-c rcut

345 kV lines
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More than half the states in the U.S have adopted renewable poolio standards which typica ly

require electricity providers to obtain minimum percentage of their power from renewable

energy resources by specific date TOs independence fosters focus on grid improve cc its

and facilitates the non-discriminatory in erconnection of wind and other renewable resource

power ge leration In 2009 alone ITS Midwest connected 716 MW of installed clod energy

generation to ts electric tra ismission system an amount capab powe mo anprox matelv

200000 homes

2009 ITS unveiled its Greei Power Express project an energy superh ghway designeo to

reliably and efficiently oeliver renewable energy from wind abundant areas of the upper Midwent

to midwestern and eastern states that demand ciean renewable energy As designed Green

Power Express will facilitate the movement of 12 000 MW of power over 3000 mIe nenwork

of extra-high voltage 76 kV transmission lines and address ecognized lack of electr

transmiss on infrastructure needed to integrate wind energy from the wind resource-rich regions

in Iowa Minnesota and North and South Dakota to load center communit es farther east

Additonally Grenn Power Express would esu tin ar anrual reduntior of up to 34 rilion ietmic

tons of carbon emissions which is equivalent to the annual cissions of approximately seven

to nine 600 MW coa plants or nine to eleven million automob les

The frst project its kind to apply such an expansive regional approach to developino

transmission infrastructure the Green Power Express oroposal is part of ITSs broader effo Is

to create high-voltago backbone that can meet America energy goals and g.iifca t1

reduce costly inefficiencies in the gr
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ECONOM DEV LOPMEN

IC coidnued to mace significant investrirts in ts Vansnussion system dr inc the en these invest eec

improve rd abtity enable the interco inec io nee ger arat cc sources lower S\ ste ii losses reduce

rongestion id dove earnings growth Our ivestments also pos tiveif
ioact the commu ties bach

do business by creat ng 1obs and suoporting local businesses id goverrments Jest as rnporta lt IC capi

projects generate property taxes for ommunites impmve eetnc re iab ity and ovide access to iorrer cost

ene from varet of sources which halos artroct aid etai businesses

TC Great Pans Ir 2009 lIC advanced several iif can do don it pmjocts the SPP regio

IIC au ached its Vet Kansas endeavo he Kansss Electric ransm as on Arthority KEIA project tne

weste part of the state Ihe KEIA projec is hioh-voltage Inc trot Soearri rt to ho Nebraska border

We secured sting appi oval from the sac Kansas anc oega piccons rucion actvties P1 ae of tie

project Spearvi Ic to Hays ln add on mo than 100 laidowne nd wsder attended rio pnbrc open

house everts to reviev and provde put on three potential ro tes or Phase nice bays to tie

Nebmska border Ihe KEIA project will bolse the abi ity of hn regiona traps nison id anc enable

further deve opment wind powel tI egio

IC Great lains also reached an agreement ci seve al uti As cur ior zing

the co npa iy
to construct and own substation and wo the three scgnients 11We are proud to partner with

of the Kansas V-Plan proiect 180 mile blob-voltage transrrission lin rink no

fTC in project that will

Spoarville to Wichita be SPP approved Priority Protect status fw the V-P an

ano authorized further ana ysis
of the pro net Ihe Ia gest electrc ifrastr cturc

enhance the reliability and

nves merit proposed Ka isas in near 25 yeai the Piaj ornase aftordabilily of energy to our

reliabi ity loww costs anl promote wind enero deveIoo int
members and allow the import

CC launcher rs rst Oklahoma project lugo to Va liant rhu sou ieaster and eoort of energy while

co ncr ot We state ompant begar ecoostructine clan 1c an OuLl

promoting further development

artivhAs for tb mil transr iss on ne id substation ale are par of

of renewable resources
laiger transmission line protect pianned to reduce system conoestio

provide more efficient and cost effective transmission of iergy and aweasc including win in western

access to broader range of oe ieration esoorces Kansas and the entire region

Earl Watkins pies/dent and CEO

Sun flower Elector Rower Corporation



ECONOM DEVELOPMENT

Mchgan TCTransrniss/on compieted and put into service the new 21 mile

Genos-Durant line project designed to accorr modate rising power demands and

safeguard reliabili growing eaot southeasteri Michigan Elsewhere in the

state METC continued its aggress ye crogram of system improvements and support

of Michgans econom oeveiopment needs by comp eting the Midland Project

significant transm ssion system upgrade that addressed reliabil ty issues and the

energy requirements Hemlock Semiconductor Corporation joint veiture with

Dow Corning Corporaton

FTC Mdwest In Iowa ITC Midwest rebuilt 4D mles of 161 kV transmssion

line that runs fro the Duane Arnold Energy Center substation near Palo to the

Washburn substation located south of Wate 100 The oroect which was identif ed

by regulators and the Midwest Independent Transriission System Dperator as

recessart to improve the regions reliability and re ieve system congestion included

upgrades to ITCs substations at Dysart and Vinton

COMMUNfY NVOLVEMENT

is comm tted to good corporate citizenship Throughout its footprint TC builds

relationships vs th loca governments businesses and tizens to generate goodwill

ard piomote our objectives and capital projects Cur outreach is good for the

communities we serve and good for business

ITC interacted with moie than 18CC communities ii Michigan Iowa Minnesota

Kansas and Oklahoma in 2009 ITC took leadership ole in dozens of local regional

and nat onai conferences and co mentions We so sponsored hundreds of

charitable and community events such as tLindraisers for cancei research

educational programs coat dnves and rriore In addition TC employees donated

hundreds of hours to scpport the companys comriun ty
outreach activities during

the year

In ou iewest commu des in Kansas ano Oklahoma ITC conducted open house

events and community outreach meeti igs to initiate dialogue with local county and

state offic als as well as commun ty leaders esidents and property owners

regard ng proposed transm.ssion ne routes

ITCs community effor include number of environmental programs that

emphasize how individuals can educe reuse and recycle in thet everyday lives

Our Right Plant Right Place garden plans help property owners understand the

importance of vegetation management and the proper types of low-growing plants

that can oe pianted unoer transmission tnes
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THE PUBLK P01KV DEBATE

Amencas tmcsmssion gro me ctcaI lw btwecn power generators and consumers

As demand for elecLr city 0\V5 and we continue change the ways we use energy outdated

mis that govern the electr gr are stand ng in the way of Americas energy goals If Arnenca

to reduce ts dependence on foreign oi nee renewable energy standards and address

ctmate change aid othm environmenta challenges it nius modmnze the ules that govern

the grid Soecifically America most dorm the way transmission planned sited aid paid for

IIC is at the forefront of the energy policy debate and has taken leadership role promoti ig

transmisswn pohcv reform In hs testimoiy hefore the Un ted States Hnjsn of Rep euentativec

Subcommittee 01 and the Environ nent Chai man Pres dew and CEO

Joseph Welch sad the lack of national energy po cy to guide plann ng is the fundamental

problem

In vanett of public forums hG has called on Congress iO isure mandatory and ndependent

plaining of the gnd while promding for broader regional and nabonal planning landscapes

In add tion hG supports stronger federal backstop siting authority rather than relyng sole

on state regulated st ng process Just as important hG be ieves the costs for regior al

transmisswn project should be distributed across broad regional geograpt to recognze the

broad based benefits of reginnal transmission infrastructure Lie ideal outco sic vail be

single cohesive plan for Americas transmission system that wil facilitate energy markets

and benefit the entirc nation





7b meet the energy challenge and create

21st century energy economy we need 21st

century electric grid .S Depanuert Energy

THE FUTURE OF THE ELECTRK ENERGY NDUSTRY

Underinvestment in the nation electric transmission grid over the past three decades has eft

the grid unreliable inefhcent and unable to meet growing demand Seventy percent of the

nations transmission lines and large power transformers are at least 30 years old According

to the U.S Department of Energy major power outages and power quality disturbances cost

our economy between $25 billion and $180 billion annually

Increasing demand on the grid has resulted in greater losses and wasted energy In the last

30 years transmission line losses have effectively doubled As aericans consume more

electricity demand is expected to increase 25 percent by 2030 the country relies on an

antiquated transmission system that was not designed to meet the demands of modern society

Meeting the nations goals of energy security renewable energy development energy

sustainability and increased economic efficiencies will require major investment in the

electric transmission infrastructure

Another challenge facing our nations electuc transmission system is lack of strategic

planning The current grid has been expanded in an incremental fashion to serve local needs

with little regard for broad national goals This parochial approach has Imited the countrys

ability to fully harness our domestic energy po ential

To meet the nations futLire energy needs America must develop high-voltage transmission

backbone that will support electric
reliability competitive energy market and non

discriminatory interconnection of all generaton sources including renewables regionally

planned nationally coordinated transmission superhighway will decrease reliance on loreign

oil reduce carbon emissions and help meet Americas energy requirements in the 21st

century and beyond As the nations only fully independent transmission company ITS is

critical link to Americas energy future
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Independent Business Consultant

ndependent Policy Consultant

Independent Energy Consultant

Co-Founder Stern Stewart Cm

CEO EVA Dimensions LLC

Independent Financ al Consu tant

Chairman Pres dent and CEO

IIC Hold ngs Corp

Audit and Finance

Compensation

Nominating Corporate Governance

Security Safety Environmental Health and
Reliability

President Fsk University
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Phone 248 946 3000

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURF11ES
INTERNET www ho drn
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Phone 248 946 3563 nause ctud re Of rfomanco and aol ievement

thffe mate aty .rorn An exprssod or enohed by the

TRANSFE NT
taternent ncutnq mono 0th tIinos the oaks ai .U

Cornpute bar Trust Company
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Phone 781 575 3100
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The transfm agent is esponsible for handhnp hareholde quesuons
esumafes and umphons that dre subet gnfm

regarding lost cerbfmate address changes changes of ownersmp or
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name which shares is held
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Delo4te Touche LLI forwai lookng sttement may tm out ye ong
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The atemenis are reflecuve as of the date dod can

Detrmt Michigan 48243 704
affected by assumotions me miqht make oy knomn or

Phonm 31 396-3000
unknown nsks and uncertambes Many tdc1or mentFoned in

ANNUAL MEETING The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 900 EDT on our di cus ion in ti report will be imporfant in detei mining

Wednesday May 19 2010 atthe ITC corporate headquarters
future iesults Consequently see cannot assure you that cm

27175 EnergyWay Novi Michigan 48377 xpectations or for ca expiossed in uch forward looking

statm nts \./ill be achievd Actual futm results ry

RTIFICATIONS The most recent certifications by our chief exocutive and clii

materially Except as equired by law we und rtake no obligation

financial officers pursuant to Section 302 of the Serbanes Oxley Act
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DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise noted or the context requires all references in this report to

ITC Holdings Corp and its subsidiaries

ITC Great Plains are references to ITC Great Plains LLC wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Grid

Development LLC

ITC Grid Development are references to ITC Grid Development LLC wholly-owned subsidiary

of ITC Holdings

Green Power Express are references to Green Power Express LP an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of ITC Holdings

ITC Holdings are references to ITC Holdings Corp and not any of its subsidiaries

ITC Midwest are references to ITC Midwest LLC wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Holdings

lTCTransmission are references to International Transmission Company wholly-owned sub

sidiary of ITC Holdings

METC are references to Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC wholly-owned subsid

iary of MTH

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are references to lTCTransmission METC and ITC

Midwest together

MTH are references to Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership the sole member of

METC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Holdings

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are references to lTCTransmission METC ITC Midwest and

ITC Great Plains together and

We our and us are references to ITC Holdings together with all of its subsidiaries

Other definitions

Consumers Energy are references to Consumers Energy Company wholly-owned subsidiary of

CMS Energy Corporation

Detroit Edison are references to The Detroit Edison Company wholly-owned subsidiary of DTE

Energy

DTE Energy are references to DTE Energy Company

FERC are references to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

FPA are references to the Federal Power Act

ICC are references to the Illinois Commerce Commission

lPL are references to Interstate Power and Light Company an Alliant Energy Corporation

subsidiary

ISO are references to Independent System Operators

IUB are references to the Iowa Utilities Board

KCC are references to the Kansas Corporation Commission

kV are references to kilovolts one kilovolt equaling 1000 volts

kW are references to kilowatts one kilowatt equaling 1000 watts



MISO are references to the Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator Inc FERC
approved RTO which oversees the operation of the bulk power transmission system for sub
stantial portion of the Midwestern United States and Manitoba Canada and of which ITCTrans
mission METC and ITC Midwest are members

MOPSC are references to the Missouri Public Service Commission

MPSC are references to the Michigan Public Service Commission

MPUC are references to the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission

MW are references to megawatts one megawatt equaling 1000000 watts

NERC are references to the North American Electric Reliability Corporation

NOLs are references to net operating loss carryforwards for income taxes

0CC are references to Oklahoma Corporation Commission

RTO are references to Regional Transmission Organizations and

SPP are references to Southwest Power Pool Inc FERC-approved RTO which oversees the

operation of the bulk power transmission system for substantial portion of the South Central

United States and of which ITC Great Plains is member



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Our business consists primarily of the operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries In 2002
ITC Holdings was incorporated in the State of Michigan for the purpose of acquiring lTCTransmission

lTCTransmission was originally formed in 2001 as subsidiary of Detroit Edison an electric utility

subsidiary of DIE Energy and was acquired in 2003 by ITC Holdings METC was originally formed in

2001 as subsidiary of Consumers Energy an electric and gas utility subsidiary of CMS Energy

Corporation and was acquired in 2006 by ITC Holdings ITC Midwest was formed in 2007 by ITC

Holdings to acquire the transmission assets of lPL in December 2007 ITC Great Plains was formed in

2006 by ITC Holdings and became FERC-jurisdictional entity in 2009 after acquiring certain electric

transmission assets in Kansas

Through our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries we are engaged in the transmission of electricity in

the United States Our business strategy is to operate maintain and invest in transmission infrastructure in

order to enhance system integrity and reliability to reduce transmission constraints and to allow new

generating resources to interconnect to our transmission systems By pursuing this strategy we strive for

high reliability of our systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of choice including

renewable sources We operate high-voltage systems in Michigans Lower Peninsula and portions of Iowa
Minnesota Illinois Missouri and Kansas that transmit electricity from generating stations to local distri

bution facilities connected to our systems

As electric transmission utilities with rates regulated by the FERC our Regulated Operating Sub
sidiaries earn revenues through tariff rates charged for the use of their electric transmission systems by our

customers which include investor-owned utilities municipalities cooperatives power marketers and

alternative energy suppliers As independent transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries are subject to rate regulation only by the FERC The rates charged by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries are established using cost-based formula rate template Attachment of the MISO tariff is

used by our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries as discussed in Item Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up

Mechanism ITC Great Plains uses formula rate that is included in Attachment of the SPP tariff as

discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Recent Developments ITC Great Plains Formula Rate and Incentives

Development of Business

We are pursuing strategic development opportunities for transmission construction related to building

super-regional transmission facilities primarily to improve overall grid reliability lower electricity conges
tion enhance competitive markets and facilitate interconnections of new generating resources including

wind generation and other renewable resources For example we announced project in 2009 known as

the Green Power Express project consisting of network of transmission lines that would facilitate the

movement of 12000 megawatts of power from the wind-abundant areas in the Dakotas Minnesota and

Iowa to Midwest load centers that demand clean renewable energy The Green Power Express project

would traverse portions of North Dakota South Dakota Minnesota Iowa Wisconsin Illinois and Indiana

and is ultimately expected to include approximately 3000 miles of extra high-voltage 765 kV transmis

sion Portions of the Green Power Express project fall within the service territory of ITC Midwest ITC

Holdings expects to partner with other utilities within the geographical footprint of the Green Power

Express and therefore expects to invest in only portion of the total project cost In addition to the Green

Power Express project based on proposals by RTOs including MISO and the SPF we are exploring

additional strategic opportunities to upgrade the transmission grid within the MISO and SPP regions and

surrounding regions with backbone transmission network Based on the anticipated growth of wind

generation resources we also foresee the need to construct additional transmission facilities that will



provide interconnection opportunities for those wind facilities The backbone transmission network
transmission for wind interconnection and for interconnection of other renewable generating facilities

may provide additional investment opportunities Further we are pursuing the opportunity to invest in two

projects in Kansas through ITC Great Plains known as the Spearville-Knoll-Axtell transmission project

the KETA Project and the Kansas V-Plan transmission project running from Spearville substation near

Dodge City to Wichita The capital investment for these two projects is anticipated to be $600 million ITC

Great Plains has established formula rate for these two projects and other projects within the SPP region
We are also exploring opportunities to build new 765 kV transmission facility across the southern portion

of Michigans Lower Peninsula We cannot predict if or when these investment opportunities will begin or

their duration Refer to the discussion of risks associated with our strategic development opportunities in

Item 1A Risk Factors Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries actual capital expenditures may be lower

than planned which would decrease expected rate base and therefore our revenues In addition we
expect to invest in strategic development opportunities to improve the efficiency and reliability of the

transmission grid but we cannot assure you that we will be able to initiate or complete any of these

investments

Segments

We have ne reportable segment consisting of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Additionally we
have other subsidiaries focused primarily on business development activities and holding company
whose activities include corporate debt and equity financings and general corporate activities more
detailed discussion of our reportable segment including financial information about the segment is

included in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Operations

As transmission-only companies our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries function as conduits allow

ing for power from generators to be transmitted to local distribution systems either entirely through their

own systems in conjunction with neighboring transmission systems Third parties then transmit power
through these local distribution systems to end-use consumers The transmission of electricity by our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is central function to the provision of electricity to residential

commercial and industrial end-use consumers The operations pertormed by our Regulated Operating
Subsidiaries fall into the following categories

asset planning

engineering design and construction

maintenance and

real time operations

Asset Planning

Our Asset Planning group uses detailed system models and long-term load forecasts to develop our

system expansion capital plans The expansion plans identify projects that would address potential future

reliability issues and/or produce economic savings for customers by eliminating constraints

Asset Planning works closely with MISO and SPP in the development of our system expansion capital

plans by performing technical evaluations and detailed studies As the regional planning authorities MISO
and SPP review regional system improvement projects by their members including our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries

Engineering Design and Construction

Our Engineering Design and Construction group is responsible for design equipment specifications

maintenance plans and project engineering for capital operation and maintenance work We work with



outside contractors to perform some of our engineering and design and all of our construction but retain

internal technical experts who have experience with respect to the key elements of the transmission

system such as substations lines equipment and protective relaying systems This internal expertise

allows us to effectively manage outside contractors

Maintenance

We develop and track preventive maintenance plans to promote safe and reliable systems By

performing preventive maintenance on our assets we can minimize the need for reactive maintenance

resulting in improved reliability Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries contract with Utility Lines Con
struction which is division of Asplundh Tree Expert Co to perform the majority of their maintenance The

agreements provide us with access to an experienced and scalable workforce with knowledge of our

system at an established rate The agreements are scheduled to terminate on August 29 2013 but

automatically renew for additional five year terms unless terminated by either party

Real Time Operations

System Operations From our operations control room facility in Novi Michigan transmission

system coordinators continuously monitor the performance of the transmission systems of our MISO

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission systems using state of the art computer and commu
nication systems to perform analysis to plan for contingencies and maintain security and reliability

following any unplanned events on the system Transmission system coordinators are also responsible

for the switching and protective tagging function taking equipment in and out of service to ensure capital

construction projects and maintenance programs can be completed safely and reliably

Local Balancing Authority Operator Under the functional control of MISO lTCTransmission and

METC operate their electric transmission systems as combined Local Balancing Authority LBA area
known as the Michigan Electric Coordinated SystemsMECS From the operations control room facility

in Novi Michigan our employees perform the LBA functions as outlined in MISOs Balancing Authority

Agreement These functions include actual interchange data administration and verification and MECS
LBA area emergency procedure implementation and coordination

Operating Contracts

ITCTransmission

Detroit Edison operates the electric distribution system to which lTCTransmissions transmission

system connects set of three operating contracts sets forth the terms and conditions related to Detroit

Edisons and lTCTransmissions ongoing working relationship These contracts include the following

Master Operating Agreement The Master Operating Agreement the MOA dated as of

February 28 2003 governs the primary day-to-day operational responsibilities of lTCTransmission

and Detroit Edison and will remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties

subject to any required FERC approvals unless earlier terminated pursuant to its terms The MOA
identifies the control area coordination services that lTCTransmission is obligated to provide to Detroit

Edison The MOA also requires Detroit Edison to provide certain generation-based support services

to lTCTransmission

Generator Interconnection and Operation Agreement Detroit Edison and ITCTransmission

entered into the Generator Interconnection and Operation Agreement the GIOA dated as of

February 28 2003 in order to establish re-establish and maintain the direct electricity interconnec

tion of Detroit Edisons electricity generating assets with lTCTransmissions transmission system for

the purposes of transmitting electric power from and to the electricity generating facilities Unless

otherwise terminated by mutual agreement of the parties subject to any required FERC approvals
the GIOA will remain in effect until Detroit Edison elects to terminate the agreement with respect to

particular unit or until particular unit ceases commercial operation



Coordination and Interconnection Agreement The Coordination and Interconnection Agree

ment the CIA dated as of February 28 2003 governs the rights obligations and responsibilities of

ITCTransmission and Detroit Edison regarding among other things the operation and interconnec

tion of Detroit Edisons distribution system and lTCTransmissions transmission system and the

construction of new facilities or modification of existing facilities Additionally the CIA allocates costs

for operation of supervisory communications and metering equipment The CIA will remain in effect

until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties subject to any required FERC approvals

METC

Consumers Energy operates the electric distribution system to which METCs transmission system

connects METC is party to number of operating contracts with Consumers Energy that govern the

operations and maintenance of its transmission system These contracts include the following

Amended and Restated Easement Agreement Under the Amended and Restated Easement

Agreement the Easement Agreement dated as of April 29 2002 and as further supplemented

Consumers Energy provides METC with an easement to the land which we refer to as premises on

which majority of METCs transmission towers poles lines and other transmission facilities used to

transmit electricity at voltages of at least 120 kV are located which we refer to collectively as the

facilities Consumers Energy retained for itself the rights to and the value of activities associated with

all other uses of the premises and the facilities covered by the Easement Agreement such as for

distribution of electricity fiber optics telecommunications gas pipelines and agricultural uses

Accordingly METC is not permitted to use the premises or the facilities covered by the Easement

Agreement for any purposes other than to provide electric transmission and related services to

inspect maintain repair replace and remove electric transmission facilities and to alter improve

relocate and construct additional electric transmissionfacilities The easement is further subject to the

rights of any third parties that had rights to use or occupy the premises or the facilities prior to April

2001 in manner not inconsistent with METCs permitted uses

METC pays Consumers Energy annual rent of $10.0 million in equal quarterly installments for

the easement and related rights under the Easement Agreement Although METC and Consumers

Energy share the use of the premises and the facilities covered by the Easement Agreement METC

pays the entire amount of any rentals property taxes inspection fees and other amounts required to

be paid to third parties with respect to any use occupancy operations or other activities on the

premises or the facilities and is generally responsible for the maintenance of the premises and the

facilities used for electric transmission at its expense METC also must maintain commercial general

liability insurance protecting METC and Consumers Energy against claims for personal injury death

or property damage occurring on the premises or the facilities and pay for all insurance premiums

METC is also responsible for patrolling the premises and the facilities by air at its expense at least

annually and to notify Consumers Energy of any unauthorized uses or encroachments discovered

METC must indemnify Consumers Energy for all liabilities arising from the facilities covered by the

Easement Agreement

METC must notify Consumers Energy before altering improving relocating or constructing

additional transmission facilities covered by the Easement Agreement Consumers Energy may

respond by notifying METC of reasonable work and design restrictions and precautions that are

needed to avoid endangering existing distribution facilities pipelines or communications lines in

which case METC must comply with these restrictions and precautions METC has the right at its own

expense to require Consumers Energy to remove and relocate these facilities but Consumers Energy

may require payment in advance or the provision of reasonabie security for payment by METC prior to

removing or relocating these facilities and Consumers Energy need not commence any relocation

work until an alternative right-of-way satisfactory to Consumers Energy is obtained at METCs

expense



The term of the Easement Agreement runs through December 31 2050 and is subject to 10

automatic 50-year renewals after that time unless METC provides one years notice of its election not

to renew the term Consumers Energy may terminate the Easement Agreement 30 days after giving

notice of failure by METC to pay its quarterly installment if METC does not cure the non-payment

within the 30-day notice period At the end of the term or upon any earlier termination of the Easement

Agreement the easement and related rights terminate and the transmission facilities revert to

Consumers Energy

Amended and Restated Operating Agreement Under the Amendqd and Restated Operating

Agreement the Operating Agreement dated as of April 29 2002 METC agrees to operate its

transmission system to provide all transmission customers with safe efficient reliable and non

discriminatory transmission service pursuant to its tariff Among other things METC is responsible

under the Operating Agreement for maintaining and operating its transmission system providing

Consumers Energy with information and access to its transmission system and related books and

records administering and performing the duties of control area operator that is the entity exercising

operational control over the transmission system and if requested by Consumers Energy building

connection facilities necessary to permit interaction with new distribution facilities built by Consumers

Energy Consumers Energy has corresponding obligations to provide METC with access to its books

and records and to build distribution facilities necessary to provide adequate and reliable transmission

services to wholesale customers Consumers Energy must cooperate with METC as METC performs

its duties as control area operator including by providing reactive supply and voltage control from

generation sources or other ancillary services and reducing load The Operating Agreement is

effective through 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals after that time unless METC
provides one years notice of its election not to renew

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillaiy Services The Amended
and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary Services the Ancillary Services Agree

ment is dated as of April 29 2002 Since METC does not own any generating facilities it must

procure ancillary services from third party suppliers such as Consumers Energy Currently under the

Ancillary Services Agreement METC pays Consumers Energy for providing certain generation-

based services necessary to support the reliable operation of the bulk power grid such as voltage

support and generation capability and capacity to balance loads and generation METC is not

precluded from procuring these ancillary services from third party suppliers when available The

Ancillary Services Agreement is subject to rolling one-year renewals starting May 2003 unless

terminated by either METC or Consumers Energy with six months prior written notice

Amended and Restated Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement The Amended
and Restated Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement the DT Interconnection Agree

ment dated April 29 2002 provides for the interconnection of Consumers Energys distribution

system with METCs transmission system and defines the continuing rights responsibilities and

obligations of the parties with respect to the use of certain of their own and the other partys properties

assets and facilities METC agrees to provide Consumers Energy interconnection service at

agreed-upon interconnection points and the parties have mutual responsibility for maintaining

voltage and compensating for reactive power losses resulting from their respective services The

DT Interconnection Agreement is effective so long as any interconnection point is connected to

METC unless it is terminated earlier by mutual agreement of METC and Consumers Energy

Amended and Restated Generator Interconnection Agreement The Amended and Restated

Generator Interconnection Agreement the Generator Interconnection Agreement dated as of

April 29 2002 specifies the terms and conditions under which Consumers Energy and METC
maintain the interconnection of Consumers Energys generation resources and METCs transmission

assets The Generator Interconnection Agreement is effective either until it is replaced by any MISO
required contract or until mutually agreed by METC and Consumers Energy to terminate but not later

than the date that all listed generators cease commercial operation



ITC Midwest

IPL operates the electric distribution system to which ITC Midwests transmission system connects

ITC Midwest is party to number of operating contracts with IPL that govern the operations and

maintenance of its transmission system These contracts include the following

Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement The Distribution-Transmission Inter

connection Agreement the DTIA dated as of December 17 2007 governs the rights responsi

bilities and obligations of ITC Midwest and IPL with respect to the use of certain of their own and the

other parties property assets and facilities and the construction of new facilities or modification of

existing facilities Additionally the DTIA sets forth the terms pursuant to which the equipment and

facilities and the interconnection equipment of lPL will continue to connect ITC Midwests facilities

through which ITC Midwest provides transmission service under the MISO Transmision and Energy

Markets Tariff The DTIA will remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement by the parties

subject to any required FERC approvals or as long as any interconnection point of lPL is connected

to ITC Midwests facilities unless modified by written agreement of the parties

Large Generator Interconnection Agreement ITC Midwest IPL and MISO entered into the

Large Generator Interconnection Agreement the LGIA dated as of December20 2007 in order to

establish re-establish and maintain the direct electricity interconnection of lPLs electricity gener

ating assets with ITC Midwests transmission system for the purposes of transmitting electric power

from and to the electricity generating facilities The LGIA will remain in effect until terminated by ITC

Midwest or until IPL elects to terminate the agreement if particular unit ceases commercial

operation for three consecutive years

Transition Services Agreement ITC Midwest is party to Transition Services Agreement with

PL the PLTSA dated as of December 20 2007 under which PL performs operations of the

34.5 kV transmission system on behalf of ITC Midwest The system operations services related to the

34.5 kV transmission system and the associated detailed billing service have been extended through

December 31 2010 The agreement can also be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties

Subsequent to the termination of the TSA ITC Midwest expects to perform the activities covered

under the TSA or enter into an operating agreement for these services

ITC Great Plains

Transition Services Agreement Mid-Kansas Electric Company LLC Mid-Kansas and ITC

Great Plains have entered into Transition Services Agreement the Mid-Kansas TSA dated as of

August 18 2009 The Mid-Kansas TSA identifies the operations and accounting services Mid-Kansas

has agreed to perform related to the ITC Great Plains Elm Creek and Flat Ridge Substations which

ITC Great Plains has purchased from Mid-Kansas The services will be provided for 12 months from

the date of the agreement The agreement can also be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties

Subsequent to the termination of the Mid-Kansas TSA and any subsequent extensions ITC Great

Plains expects to perform the activities covered under the agreement or enter into an operating

agreement for these services

ITO Great Plains also has various interconnection agreements with generation and transmission

providers that address terms and conditions of interconnection

Regulatory Environment

Many regulators and public policy makers support the need for further investment in the transmission

grid The growth in electricity generation wholesale power sales and consumption combined with

historicaiiy inadequate transmission iiivesijrieii liave iesuted in sgnificant transmission constrants

across the United States and increased stress on aging equipment These problems will continue without

increased investment in transmission infrastructure Transmission system investments can also increase

system reliability and reduce the frequency of power outages Such investments can reduce transmission



constraints and improve access to lower cost generation resources resulting in lower overall cost of

delivered electricity for end-use consumers After the 2003 blackout that affected sections of the North

eastern and Midwestern United States and Ontario Canada the Department of Energy the DOE
established the Office of Electric Transmission and Distribution focused on working with reliability experts

from the power industry state governments and their Canadian counterparts to improve grid reliability and

increase investment in the countrys electric infrastructure In addition the FERC has signaled its desire for

substantial new investment in the transmission sector by implementing financial incentives such as

increasing the return on equity for transmission-only companies to level that is greater than that of

traditional utilities

The FERC has issued orders to promote non-discriminatory transmission access for all transmission

customers In the United States electric transmission assets are predominantly owned operated and

maintained by utilities that also own electricity generation and distribution assets known as vertically

integrated utilities The FERC has recognized that the vertically-integrated utility model inhibits the

provision of non-discriminatory transmission access and in order to alleviate this potential discrimination

the FERC has mandated that all transmission systems over which it has jurisdiction must be operated in

comparable non-discriminatory manner such that any seller of electricity affiliated with transmission

owner or operator is not provided with preferential treatment The FERC has also indicated that inde

pendent transmission companies can play prominent role in furthering its policy goals and has

encouraged the legal and functional separation of transmission operations from generation and distri

bution operations

On August 2005 the Energy Policy Act was enacted which requires the FERC to implement

mandatory electric transmission reliability standards to be enforced by an Electric Reliability Organization

Effective June 2007 the FERC approved mandatory adoption of certain reliability standards and approved

enforcement actions for violators including fines of up to $1.0 million per day The NERC was assigned the

responsibility of developing and enforcing these mandatory reliability standards We continually assess

our transmission systems against these reliability standards established by the NERC as well as the

standards of applicable regional entities under the NERC that have been delegated certain authority for

the purpose of proposing and enforcing reliability standards In addition the FERC has finalized rules

under which our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries may qualify for rate incentives to invest in transmission

infrastructure Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries may also be eligible for federal assistance in the

siting of such infrastructure Finally the Energy Policy Act repealed the Public Utility Holding Company Act

of 1935 which was replaced by the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 It also subjected utility

holding companies to regulations of the FERC related to access to books and records and amended

Section 203 of the FPA to provide explicit authority for the FERC to review mergers and consolidations

involving utility holding companies in certain circumstances

Federal Regulation

As electric transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are regulated by the FERC
The FERC is an independent regulatory commission within the DOE that regulates the interstate trans

mission and certain wholesale sales of natural gas the transmission of oil and oil products by pipeline and

the transmission and wholesale sale of electricity in interstate commerce The FERC also administers

accounting and financial reporting regulations and standards of conduct for the companies it regulates In

1996 in order to facilitate open access transmission for participants in wholesale power markets the FERC
issued Order No 888 The open access policy promulgated by the FERC in Order No 888 was upheld in

United States Supreme Court decision State of New York vs FERC issued on March 2002 To facilitate

open access among other things FERC Order No 888 encouraged investor owned utilities to cede

operational control over their transmission systems to ISOs which are not-for-profit entities

As an alternative to ceding operating control of their transmission assets to ISOs certain investor

owned utilities began to promote the formation of for-profit transmission companies which would assume

control of the operation of the grid In December 1999 the FERC issued Order No 2000 which strongly

encouraged utilities to voluntarily transfer operational control of their transmission systems to RTOs
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RTOs as envisioned in Order No 2000 would assume many of the functions of an ISO but the FERC

permitted greater flexibility with regard to the organization and structure of RTOs than it had for ISOs

RTOs could accommodate the inclusion of independently owned for-profit companies that own trans

mission assets within their operating structure Independent ownership would facilitate not only the

independent operation of the transmission systems but also the formation of companies with greater

financial interest in maintaining and augmenting the capacity and reliability of those systems

RTOs such as MISO and SPP monitor electric reliability and are responsible for coordinating the

operation of the wholesale electric transmission system and ensuring fair non-discriminatory access to

the transmission grid

State Regulation

The regulatory agencies in the states where our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets are located

do not have jurisdiction over rates or terms and conditions of service However they do have jurisdiction

over siting of transmissionfacilities and related matters as described below Additionally we are subject to

the regulatory oversight of various state environmental quality departments for compliance with any state

environmental standards and regulations

ITC Transmission and METC

Michigan

The MPSC has jurisdiction over the siting of transmission facilities Additionally pursuant to Michigan

Public Acts 197 and 198 of 2004 lTCTransmission and METC have the right as independent transmission

companies to condemn property in the state of Michigan for the purposes of building or maintaining

transmission facilities

lTCTransmission and METC are also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Michigan Department

of Environmental Quality the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and certain local authorities for

compliance with all environmental standards and regulations

ITC Midwest

Iowa

ITC Midwest is not public utility subject to the IUBs statutory jurisdiction to regulate public utilitys

rates and services pursuant to Iowa Code ch 476 Iowa Code ch 478 however provides that the IUB has

the power of supervision over the construction operation and maintenance of transmission facilities in

Iowa by any entity which includes the power to issue franchises Iowa Code ch 478 further provides that

any entity granted franchise by the UB is vested with the power of condemnation in Iowa to the extent the

UB approves and deems necessary for public use city has the power pursuant to Iowa Code ch 364 to

grant franchise to erect maintain and operate transmission facilities within the city which franchise may

regulate the conditions required and manner of use of the streets and public grounds of the city and may

confer the power to appropriate and condemn private property

ITC Midwest also is subject to the regulatory oversight of certain state agencies including the Iowa

Department of Natural Resources and certain local authorities with respect to the issuance of environ

mental highway railroad and similar permits

Minnesota

The MPUC does not have jurisdiction to regulate ITC Midwests rates or terms and conditions of

service However the MFUC has jurisdkiioii ovel the siting and rooting of new transmission nes or

upgrades of existing lines through Minnesotas Certificate of Need and Route Permit Processes Trans

mission companies are also required to participate in the States Biennial Transmission Planning Process

and are subject to the states preventative maintenance requirements Pursuant to Minnesota law ITC
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Midwest has the right as an independent transmission company to condemn property in the State of

Minnesota for the purpose of building new transmission facilities

ITC Midwest is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency the

Minnesota Department of Natural Resources the MPUC in conjunction with the Department of Com
merce/Office of Energy Security and certain local authorities for compliance with applicable environmental

standards and regulations

Illinois

The ICC does not have jurisdiction to regulate ITC Midwests rates or terms and conditions of service

but the ICC does exercise jurisdiction over siting of new transmission lines through its requirements for

Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity and Right-Of-Way acquisition that apply to construction

of new or upgraded facilities

ITC Midwest also is subject to the regulatory oversight of the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency
the Illinois Department of Natural Resources the Illinois Pollution Control Board and certain local

authorities for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations

Missouri

The MOPSC does not have jurisdiction to regulate the Companys rates terms or conditions of

service However because ITC Midwest is public utility and an electrical corporation under Missouri

law the MOPSC has jurisdiction to determine whether ITC Midwest may operate in such capacity In this

regard on August 30 2007 the MOPSC granted ITC Midwest certificate of public convenience and

necessity to own operate and maintain 161 kV transmission line of approximately 9.5 miles located in

Clark County Missouri which connects the former IPLs transmission substation in Keokuk Iowa with

Ameren Energy Generating Companys transmission substation near Wayland Missouri The MOPSC
also exercises jurisdiction with regard to other non-rate matters affecting this Missouri asset such as

transmission substation construction general safety and the transfer of the franchise or property

ITC Midwest is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Missouri Department of Natural

Resources for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations relating to this transmission

line

ITC Great Plains

Kansas

ITC Great Plains is public utility in Kansas and an electric utility pursuant to state statutes

however the KCC does not have jurisdiction to regulate the ITC Great Plains rates terms or conditions of

service The KCC issued an order approving the issuance of limited certificate of convenience to ITC

Great Plains for the purposes of building owning and operating SPP transmission projects in Kansas In

addition to its certificate authority the KCC has jurisdiction over the siting of electric transmission lines At

this time ITC Great Plains owns and operates assets in Kansas consisting of the 138 kV Flat Ridge and

230 kV Elm Creek electric substations

ITC Great Plains is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Kansas Department of Health and

Environment for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations relating to the construction

phase of any transmission line

Oklahoma

The 0CC does not have jurisdiction to regulate ITC Great Plains rates terms or conditions of service

as those processes are preempted by regulation of the FERC On September 11 2008 ITC Great Plains

received approval from the 0CC to operate in Oklahoma pursuant to Oklahoma Statutes as an electric
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public utility providing only transmission services The 0CC does not exercise jurisdiction over the siting of

any transmission lines

ITC Great Plains may be subject to the regulatory oversight of Oklahoma Department of Environ

mental Quality for compliance with environmental standards and regulations relating to construction of

proposed transmission lines

ITC Great Plains does not currently own or operate transmission facilities in Oklahoma but is

preparing to construct an approximately 19 mile 345 kV transmission line and associated facilities in

southeastern Oklahoma known as the Hugo to Valliant project discussed in Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent Developments

Sources of Revenue

See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper
ations Results of Operations Operating Revenues for discussion of our principal sources of

revenue

Seasonality

The cost-based formula rates with true-up mechanism in effect for all our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries as discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations Cost-Based Formula Rates with True- Up Mechanism mitigate the seasonality

of net income for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue or

defer revenues to the extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher or

lower respectively than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period For example to the extent that

amounts billed are less than our net revenue requirement for reporting period revenue accrual is

recorded for the difference and this results in no net income impact

Operating cash flows are seasonal at our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries in that cash

received for revenues is typically higher in the summer months when peak load is higher

Principal Customers

Our principal transmission service customers are Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL which

accounted for approximately 37.7% 23.6% and 22.5% respectively of our total operating revenues for the

year ended December31 2009 One or more of these customers together have consistently represented

significant percentage of our operating revenue These percentages of total operating revenues of

Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL include an estimate for the 2009 Attachment revenue

accruals and deferrals that were included in our 2009 operating revenues but will not be billed to our

customers until 2011 We have assumed that the Attachment revenues billed to these customers in 2011

would be in the same proportion of the respective percentages of network revenues billed to them in 2009

Our remaining revenues were generated from providing service to other entities such as alternative

electricity suppliers power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide electricity to end-use

consumers and from transaction-based capacity reservations Nearly all of our revenues are from

transmission customers in the United States Although we may have allocated revenues from time to

time from Canadian entities reserving transmission over the Ontario or Manitoba interlace these revenues

have not been and are not expected to be material to us

Billing

MISO is responsible for billing and collection for transmission services and administers the trans

mission tarin in me MIbL service territory tne oiiiing agent ror our ivii reguiaieu LlpeIatIiiQ

Subsidiaries MISO bills Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly

basis and collects fees for the use of our transmission systems See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures about Market Risk Credit Risk for discussion of our credit policies
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SPP is responsible for billing and collection for transmission services and administers the transmis

sion tariff in the SPP service territory of which ITC Great Plains is member As the billing agent for ITC

Great Plains SPP independently administers the transmission tariff

Competition

Each of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is the only transmission system in its respective

service area and therefore effectively has no competitors For our subsidiaries focused on development

opportunities for capital projects in other service areas the incumbent utilities or other entities with

transmission development initiatives may compete with us by deciding to pursue capital projects that we

are pursuing Because our subsidiaries are currently the only transmission companies that are indepen
dent from electricity market participants we believe we are best able to develop these projects in non

discriminatory manner However there are no assurances we will be selected to develop projects that

other entities are also pursuing Our development expenses are recorded to operating expenses unless

and until the FERC allows us recovery of such expenses and they are probable of recovery

Employees

As of December31 2009 we had 413 employees We consider our relations with our employees to be

good

Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to federal state and local environmental laws and regulations which

impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment establish standards for the

management treatment storage transportation and disposal of hazardous materials and of solid and

hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and remediate contamination in certain circum

stances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as well as other liabilities concerning

hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury or property damage may arise

at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and sites where wastes have been

treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated by us Such liabilities may arise

even where the contamination does not result from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws

Under number of environmental laws such liabilities may also be joint and several meaning that party

can be held responsible for more than its share of the liability involved or even the entire share

Environmental requirements generally have become more stringent and compliance with those require

ments more expensive We are not aware of any specific developments that would increase our costs for

such compliance in manner that would be expected to have material adverse effect on our results of

operations financial position or liquidity

Our assets and operations also involve the use of materials classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise

dangerous Many of the properties our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries own or operate have been used

for many years and include older facilities and equipment that may be more likely than newer ones to

contain or be made from such materials Some of these properties include aboveground or underground

storage tanks and associated piping Some of them also include large electrical equipment filled with

mineral oil which may contain or previously have contained polychlorinated biphenyls commonly known

as PCBs Our facilities and equipment are often situated close to or on property owned by others so that if

they are the source of contamination the property of others may be affected For example aboveground

and underground transmission lines sometimes traverse properties that we do not own and at some of

our transmission stations transmission assets owned or operated by us and distribution assets owned
or operated by our transmission customers are commingled

Some properties in which we have an ownership interest or at which we operate are and others are

suspected of being affected by environmental contamination We are not aware of any claims pending or

threatened against us with respect to environmental contamination or of any investigation or remediation
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of contamination at any properties that entail costs likely to materiaiiy affect us Some facilities and

properties are located near environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands

Claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or other

damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmission and

distribution lines While we do not believe that causal link between electromagnetic field exposure and

injury has been generally established and accepted in the scientific community if such relationship is

established or accepted the liabilities and costs imposed on our business could be significant We are not

aware of any claims pending or threatened against us for bodily injury disease or other damages allegedly

related to exposure to electromagnetic fields and electric transmission and distribution lines that entail

costs likely to have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial position or liquidity

Filings Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Our internet address is www.itc-holdings.com You can access free of charge on our web site all of our

reports filed pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the

Exchange Act including our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 1O-Q current

reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports These reports are available as soon as

practicable after they are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the
SEC Also on our web site are our

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and

Committee Charters for the Audit and Finance Committee Compensation Committee and Nom
inating/Corporate Governance Committee

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to all directors officers and employees including

our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer and our Senior Vice President Treasurer and Chief

Financial Officer We will post any amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and any

waivers that are required to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the NYSE on our web site within

the required periods The information on our web site is not incorporated by reference into this report

To learn more about us please visit our web site at www.itc-holdings.com We use our website as

channel of distribution of material company information Financial and other material information regarding

us is routinely posted on our web site and is readily accessible

You mayalso read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at

100 Street NE Washington DC 20549 You may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains an internet site that

contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file

electronically with the SEC The address is httpI/www.sec.gov

ITEM RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

Certain elements of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries cost recovery through rates can be

challenged which could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts previously collected

and thus have an adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and

cash flows We have also made certain commitments to federal and state regulators with respect

to among other things our rates in connection with recent acquisitions including ITC

Midwests acquisition of lPLs electric transmission assets that could have an adverse effect

on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries provide transmission service under rates regulated by the

FERC The FERC has approved our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries use of the rate setting
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formula under Attachment In addition FERC has approved the formula rate of ITC Great Plains but it

has not expressly approved the amount of actual capital and operating expenditures to be used in either

formula rate All aspects of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries rates approved by the FERC including

the formula rate mechanisms lTCTransmissions METCs ITC Midwests and ITC Great Plains respec

tive allowed 13.88% 13.38% 12.38% and 12.16% rates of return on the actual equity portion of their

respective capital structures and the data inputs provided by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries for

calculation of each years rate are subject to challenge by interested parties at the FERC in proceeding

under Section 206 of the FPA If challenger can establish that any of these aspects are unjust

unreasonable unduly discriminatory or preferential then the FERC will make appropriate prospective

adjustments to them and/or disallow any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries inclusion of those

aspects in the rate setting formula This could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts collected

after the date that Section 206 challenge is filed

On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint against ITC Midwest with the FERC under Section 206

of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleged that the operations and maintenance expenses and

administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appeared excessive the

true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through December 31 2008

would cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the methodology of allocating

administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating companies was changed resulting in

such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest Among other things lPLs complaint sought

investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission service charges reflected in its

2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness of the 2009 rate with the

ultimate goal of reducing such rate

On April 16 2009 the FERC issued an order that dismissed the IPL complaint finding that IPL
failed to meet its burden as the complainant to establish that the current rate is unjust and unreasonable

and to establish that IPLs alternative rate proposal is just and reasonable Requests for rehearing have

been filed with the FERC therefore the April 16 order remains subject to rehearing and ultimately to an

appeal within 30 days of any decision on rehearing

The FERCs order approving our acquisition of METC was conditioned upon ITCTransmission and

METC not recovering merger-related costs in their rates as described in the order unless separate

informational filing is submitted to the FERC The informational filing which could be challenged by

interested parties would need to identify those costs and show that such costs are outweighed by the

benefits of the acquisition Determinations by ITCTransmission or METC that expenses included in

Attachment for recovery are not acquisition related costs are also subject to challenge by interested

parties at the FERC If challenged at the FERC and lTCTransmission or METC fail to show that costs

included for recovery are not merger-related this also could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of

amounts collected We have not sought recovery of merger-related costs at lTClransmission or METC

Under the FERCs order approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITC Midwest agreed to hold

harmless commitment in which no acquisition premium will be recovered in rates nor will ITC Midwest

recover through transmission rates any transaction-related costs that exceed demonstrated transaction-

related savings for period of five years If during the five year period ITC Midwest seeks to recover

transaction-related costs through Attachment ITC Midwest must make an informational filing at the

FERC that identifies the transaction-related costs sought to be recovered and demonstrates that those

costs are exceeded by transaction-related savings If challenged at the FERC and ITC Midwest fails to

show that transaction-related costs included for recovery do not exceed transaction-related savings ITC

Midwest could be subject to lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts previously collected Additionally in

Iowa and Minnesota as part of the regulatory approval process ITC Midwest committed not to recover the

first $15.0 million in transaction-related costs under any circumstances We have not sought recovery of

transaction-related costs at ITC Midwest

In the Minnesota regulatory proceeding ITC Midwest also agreed to build two construction projects

intended to improve the reliability and efficiency of our electric transmission system ITC Midwest agreed to
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use commercially reasonable efforts to complete these projects prior to December 31 2009 and 2011
respectively The project that was required to be completed prior to December31 2009 was completed by
that deadline In the event ITC Midwest fails to meet the remaining commitments the allowed 12.38% rate

of return on the actual equity portion of ITC Midwests capital structure will be reduced to 10.39% under

Attachment until such time as it completes these projects and ITC Midwest will refund with interest any
amounts collected since the close date of the transaction that exceeded what would have been collected if

the 10.39% ROE had been used in Attachment Any of the events described above could have an

adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries actual capital expenditures may be lower than planned
which would decrease expected rate base and therefore our revenues In addition we expect to

invest in strategic development opportunities to improve the efficiency and reliability of the

transmission grid but we cannot assure you that we will be able to initiate or complete any of

these investments

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries rate base revenues and earnings are determined in

part by additions to property plant and equipment when placed in service We anticipate making capital

investments of approximately $3 billion for the period January 2010 through December 31 2014 The

expected amounts of capital investment over the period beginning January 2010 through December31
2014 include estimated transmission network upgrades for generator interconnections The amounts for

network upgrades could change significantly due to factors beyond our control such as changes in the

MISO queue for generation projects and whether the generator meets the various criteria of Attachment

FF of the MISO Open Access Transmission Energy and Operating Reserve Markets Tariff for the project

to qualify as refundable network upgrade among other factors

We expect to make significant investments at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries in 2010 including

capital investments for transmission network upgrades Our expected capital investments in our Regu
lated Operating Subsidiaries for the year ended December31 2010 could change significantly due to the

uncertainty around capital investments for transmission network upgrades for generator interconnections

as described above If our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries capital expenditures and the resulting in-

service property plant and equipment are lower than anticipated for any reason our Regulated Operating
Subsidiaries will have lower than anticipated rate base thus causing their revenue requirements and

future earnings to be potentially lower than anticipated

In addition we are pursuing broader strategic development investment opportunities for transmission

construction related to building super-regional transmission facilities interconnections for wind generation
and other renewable resources and other investment opportunities The incumbent utilities or other

entities with transmission development initiatives may compete with us by deciding to pursue capital

projects that we are pursuing These estimates of potential investment opportunities are based primarily

on foreseeable transmission needs and general transmission construction costs not necessarily on

particular project cost estimates

Any capital investment at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries or as result of our broader strategic

development initiatives may be lower than expected due to among other factors the impact of actual

loads forecasted loads regional economic conditions weather conditions union strikes labor shortages
material and equipment prices and availability our ability to obtain financing for such expenditures if

necessary limitations on the amount of construction that can be undertaken on our system or transmission

systems owned by others at any one time or regulatory approvals for reasons relating to rate construct

environmental siting regional planning cost recovery and other issues or as result of legal proceedings
and variances between estimated and actual costs of construction contracts awarded Our ability to

engage in construction projects resulting from pursuing these initiatives is subject to significant uncer

tainties including the factors discussed above and will depend on obtaining any necessary regulatory and
other approvals for the project and for us to initiate construction our achieving status as the builder of the

project in some circumstances and other factors Therefore we can provide no assurance as to the actual

17



level of investment we may achieve at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries or as result of the broader

strategic development initiatives

The regulations to which we are subject may limit our ability to raise capital and/or pursue

acquisitions development opportunities or other transactions or maysubject us to liabilities

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is public utility under the FPA and accordingly is

subject to regulation by the FERC Approval of the FERC is required under Section 203 of the EPA for

disposition or acquisition of regulated public utility facilities either directly or indirectly through holding

company Such approval may also be required to acquire securities in public utility Section 203 of the

FPA also provides the FERC with explicit authority over utility holding companies purchases or acqui

sitions of and mergers or consolidations with public utility Finally each of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries must also seek approval by the FERC under Section 204 of the FPA for issuances of its

securities including debt securities

We are also pursuing strategic development opportunities for construction of transmission facilities

and interconnections with wind generation and other renewable resources These projects require

regulatory approval by the FERC applicable RTOs and state regulatory agencies Failure to secure such

regulatory approval for new strategic development projects could adversely aftect our ability to grow our

business and increase our revenues

In addition we are subject to state and/or local regulations relating to among other things facility

siting If we fail to comply with these local regulations we may incur liabilities for such failure

Changes in federal energy laws regulations or policies could impact cash flows and could

reduce the dividends we may be able to pay our stockholders

The formula rate templates used by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries to calculate their respec

tive annual revenue requirements will be used by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries for that purpose

until and unless the FERC determines that such rate formula is unjust and unreasonable or that another

mechanism is more appropriate Such determinations could result from challenges initiated at the FERC

by interested parties by the FERC on its own initiative in proceeding under Section 206 of the EPA or by

successful application initiated by any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries under Section 205 of the

FPA End-use consumers and entities supplying electricity to end-use consumers mayattempt to influence

government and/or regulators to change the rate setting methodologies that apply to our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries particularly if rates for delivered electricity increase substantially

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is regulated by the EERC as public utility under the

EPA and is transmission owner in MISO or SPP We cannot predict whether the approved rate

methodologies for any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will be changed In addition the U.S Con

gress periodically considers enacting energy legislation that could shift new responsibilities to the FERC

modify provisions of the FPA or provide the FERC or another entity with increased authority to regulate

transmission matters We cannot predict whether and to what extent our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries may be affected by any such changes in federal energy laws regulations or policies in the future

If the network load or point-to-point transmission service on our MISO Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries transmission systems is lower than expected the timing of collection of our

revenues would be delayed

If the network load or point-to-point transmission service on our MISO Regulated Operating Sub

sidiaries transmission systems is lower than expected due to weather weak economy changes in the

nature or composition of the transmission grids of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and

surrounding areas poor transmission quality of neighboring transmission systems or for any other

reason the timing of the collection of our revenue requirement would likely be delayed until such

circumstances are adjusted through the true-up mechanism in our MISO Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries formula rate mechanism
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Each of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries depends on its primary customer for

substantial portion of its revenues and any material failure by those primary customers to make

payments for transmission services would adversely affect our revenues and our ability to

service our debt obligations and affect our ability to pay dividends

ITCTransmission derives substantial portion of its revenues from the transmission of electricity to

Detroit Edisons local distribution facilities Detroit Edison accounted for 83.8% of lTCTransmissions total

operating revenues for the year ended December 31 2009 and is expected to constitute the majority of

lTCTransmissions revenues for the foreseeable future Detroit Edison is rated BBB/stable and Baal/

stable by Standard Poors Ratings Services and Moodys Investors Services Inc respectively Similarly

Consumers Energy accounted for 78.0% of METCs total operating revenues for the year ended Decem
ber 31 2009 and is expected to constitute the majority of METCs revenues for the foreseeable future

Consumers Energy is rated BBB-/stable and Baa2/stable by Standard Poors Ratings Services and

Moodys Investors Service Inc respectively Further IPL accounted for 82.6% of ITC Midwests total

operating revenues for the year ended December31 2009 and is expected to constitute the majority of ITC

Midwests revenues for the foreseeable future IPL is rated BBB/stable and A3/stable by Standard

Poors Ratings Services and Moodys Investors Service Inc respectively These percentages of total

operating revenues of Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL include an estimate for the 2009

Attachment revenue accruals and deferrals that were included in our 2009 operating revenues but will

not be billed to our customers until 2011 We have assumed that the Attachment revenues billed to these

customers in 2011 would be in the same proportion of the respective percentages of network revenues

billed to them in 2009

Any material failure by Detroit Edison Consumers Energy or lPL to make payments for transmission

services could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and our ability to service

our debt obligations and could impact the amount of dividends we pay our stockholders

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its transmission assets are located

Additionally significant amount of the land on which FTC Transmissions and ITC Midwests

assets are located is subject to easements mineral rights and other similarencumbrances and

significant amount of lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests other property consists of ease
ments As result ITCTransmission METC and FTC Midwest must comply with the provisions of

various easements mineral rights and other similar encumbrances which may adversely

impact their ability to complete construction projects in timely manner

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its electric transmission assets are located

Instead under the provisions of an Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy METC pays annual

rent of $10.0 million to Consumers Energy in exchange for rights-of-way leases fee interests and licenses

which allow METC to use the land on which its transmission lines are located Under the terms of the

Easement Agreement METCs easement rights could be eliminated if METC fails to meet certain

requirements such as paying contractual rent to Consumers Energy in timely manner Additionally

significant amount of the land on which lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests assets are located is

subject to easements mineral rights and other similar encumbrances and significant amount of

lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests other property consists of easements As result they must

comply with the provisions of various easements mineral rights and other similar encumbrances which

may adversely impact their ability to complete their construction projects in timely manner

If ITC Midwests operating agreement with lPL is terminated early ITC Midwest may face

shortage of labor or replacement contractors to provide the services formerly provided by IPL

ITC Midwest has an operating service agreement with IPL the IPL TSA which governs the

operation of ITC Midwests 34.5 kV transmission system The lPL TSAs initial term expired but ITC

Midwest exercised its option under the lPL TSA to extend the system operations services and an

associated billing service to December31 2010 The lPLTSA can be terminated by mutual agreement of

the parties If the FERC were to terminate this agreement prematurely or if this agreement is terminated or
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fails to be renewed for any other reason at any time when ITC Midwest is unprepared for such termination

ITC Midwest mayface difficulty finding qualified replacement work force to provide such services which

could have material adverse effect on its ability to carry on its business and on its results of operations

Hazards associated with high-voltage electricity transmission may result in suspension of our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties

The operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to the usual hazards associated

with high-voltage electricity transmission including explosions fires inclement weather natural disasters

mechanical failure unscheduled downtime equipment interruptions remediation chemical spills dis

charges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases and other environmental risks The

hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life severe damage to or destruction of property and

equipment and environmental damage and may result in suspension of operations and the imposition of

civil or criminal penalties We maintain property and casualty insurance but we are not fully insured

against all potential hazards incident to our business such as damage to poles towers and lines or losses

caused by outages

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to environmental regulations and to laws that

can give rise to substantial liabilities from environmental contamination

The operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to federal state and local

environmental laws and regulations which impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the

environment establish standards for the management treatment storage transportation and disposal of

hazardous materials and of solid and hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and

remediate contamination in certain circumstances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as

well as other liabilities concerning hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury

or property damage may arise at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and

sites where wastes have been treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated

by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Such liabilities may arise even where the contamination does not

result from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws Under number of environmental laws

such liabilities mayalso be joint and several meaning that party can be held responsible for more than its

share of the liability involved or even the entire share Environmental requirements generally have become

more stringent in recent years and compliance with those requirements more expensive

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have incurred expenses in connection with environmental

compliance and we anticipate that each will continue to do so in the future Failure to comply with the

extensive environmental laws and regulations applicable to each could result in significant civil or criminal

penalties and remediation costs Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets and operations also

involve the use of materials classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise dangerous Some of our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries facilities and properties are located near environmentally sensitive areas such as

wetlands and habitats of endangered or threatened species In addition certain properties in which our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operate are or are suspected of being affected by environmental

contamination Compliance with these laws and regulations and liabilities concerning contamination or

hazardous materials may adversely affect our costs and therefore our business financial condition and

results of operations

In addition claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or

other damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmis

sion and distribution lines We cannot assure you that such claims will not be asserted against us or that if

determined in manner adverse to our interests such claims would not have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition and results of operations
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Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory requirements Viola

tions of these requirements whether intentional or unintentional may result in penalties that

under some circumstances could have material adverse effect on our financial condition
results of operations and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are required to comply with various regulations laws and

standards

The various regulatory requirements we are subject to include reliability standards established by the

NERC which acts as the nations Electric Reliability Organization approved by the FERC in accordance

with Section 215 of the FPA These standards address operation planning and security of the bulk power

system including requirements in respect of real-time transmission operations emergency operations

vegetation management critical infrastructure protection and personnel training Failure to comply with

these requirements can result in monetary penalties as well as non-monetary sanctions Monetary

penalties vary based on an assigned risk factor for each potential violation the severity of the violation

and various other circumstances such as whether the violation was intentional or concealed whether

there are repeated violations the degree of the violators cooperation in investigating and remediating the

violation and the presence of compliance program Penalty amounts range from $1000 to maximum of

$1.0 million per day depending on the severity of the violation Non-monetary sanctions include potential

limitations on the violators activities or operation and placing the violator on watchlist for major violators

Despite our best efforts to comply and the implementation of compliance program intended to ensure

reliability there can be no assurance that violations will not occur that would result in material penalties or

sanctions If any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries were to violate the NERC reliability standards

even unintentionally in any material way any penalties or sanctions imposed against us could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Acts of war terrorist attacks and threats or the escalation of military acti vityin response to such

attacks or otherwise may negatively affect our business financial condition and cash flows

Acts of war terrorist attacks and threats or the escalation of military activity in response to such

attacks or otherwise may negatively affect our business financial condition and cash flows in unpredictable

ways such as increased security measures and disruptions of markets Strategic targets such as energy

related assets including for example our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission facilities and

Detroit Edisons Consumers Energys and IPLs generation and distribution facilities may be at risk of

future terrorist attacks In addition to the increased costs associated with heightened security require

ments such events may have an adverse effect on the economy in general lower level of economic

activity could result in decline in energy consumption which may adversely affeôt our business financial

condition and cash flows

Risks Relating to Our Structure and Financial Leverage

ITC Holdings is holding company with no operations and unless we receive dividends or other

payments from our subsidiaries we may be unable to pay dividends and fulfill our other cash

obligations

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings material assets consist primarily of

the stock and membership interests in our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and our other subsidiaries

deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax NOLs and cash on hand Our only sources of

cash to pay dividends to our stockholders are dividends and other payments received by us from time to

time from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and our other subsidiaries and the proceeds raised from
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legally distinct from us and has no obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us for the

payment of dividends to ITC Holdings stockholders or otherwise The ability of each of our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries and our other subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other payments to us is

subject to among other things the availability of funds after taking into account capital expenditure
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requirements the terms of its indebtedness applicable state laws and regulations of the FERC and the

FPA While we currently intend to continue to pay quarterly dividends on our common stock we have no

obligation to do so The payment of dividends is within the absolute discretion of our board of directors and

will depend on among other things our results of operations working capital requirements capital

expenditure requirements financial condition contractual restrictions anticipated cash needs and other

factors that our board of directors deems relevant

We are highly leveraged and our dependence on debt may limit our ability to fulfill our debt

obligations and/or to obtain additional financing

We are highly leveraged and our consolidated indebtedness consists of various outstanding debt

securities and borrowings under various revolving credit agreements This capital structure can have

several important consequences including but not limited to the following

If future cash flows are insufficient we may not be able to make principal or interest payments on our

debt obligations which could result in the occurrence of an event of default under one or more of

those debt instruments

If future cash flows are insufficient we may need to incur further indebtedness in order to make the

capital expenditures and other expenses or investments planned by us

Our indebtedness will have the general effect of reducing our flexibility to react to changing business

and economic conditions insofar as they affect our financial condition and therefore may pose

substantial risk to our shareholders substantial portion of the dividends and payments in lieu of

taxes we receive from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will be dedicated to the payment of

interest on our indebtedness thereby reducing the funds available for the payment of dividends on

our common stock

In the event that we are liquidated our senior or subordinated creditors and the senior or subor

dinated creditors of our subsidiaries will be entitled to payment in full prior to any distributions to the

holders of shares of our common stock

Our revolving credit facilities mature in March 2012 for ITC Holdings ITC Transmission and METC
and in January 2013 for ITC Midwest Our ability to secure additionalfinancing prior to or after that

time if needed may be substantially restricted by the existing level of our indebtedness and the

restrictions contained in our debt instruments

Lehman Brothers Bank FSB Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndications

was included in bankruptcy filing made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on

September 14 2008 Lehman has not funded its share of borrowing notices since its bankruptcy

filing and given the favorable terms of our existing agreement compared to current market

conditions we do not expect to replace Lehmans commitments on our existing credit agreements
As such our capacity to borrow under our currently outstanding revolving credit facilities has been

reduced by Lehmans aggregate commitment of $55.0 million

Market conditions could affect our access to capital markets restrict our ability to secure financing to

make the capital expenditures and other expenses or investments planned by us and could

adversely affect our business financial condition cash flows and results of operations

We may incur substantial indebtedness in the future The incurrence of additional indebtedness would

increase the leverage-related risks described here
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terrain provisions in our oem instrumerns limu our mWnciw iiexiunLy

Our debt instruments include senior notes secured notes first mortgage bonds and revolving credit

agreements containing numerous financial and operating covenants that place significant restrictions on

among other things our ability to

incur additional indebtedness

engage in sale and lease-back transactions

create liens or other encumbrances

enter into mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions or sell or otherwise dispose of all or

substantially all of our assets

create and acquire subsidiaries and

pay dividends or make distributions on our and lTCTransmissions capital stock and METCs ITC

Midwests and ITC Great Plains member capital

The revolving credit agreements ITC Holdings senior notes lTCTransmissions first mortgage

bonds fTC Midwests first mortgage bonds and METCs senior secured notes require us to meet certain

financial ratios such as maintaining certain debt to capitalization ratios Our ability to comply with these

and other requirements and restrictions may be affected by changes in economic or business conditions

results of operations or other events beyond our control failure to comply with the obligations contained

in any of our debt instruments could result in acceleration of the related debt and the acceleration of debt

under other instruments evidencing indebtedness that may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default

provisions

Adverse changes in our credit ratings may negatively affect us

Our ability to access capital markets is important to our ability to operate our business Increased

scrutiny of the energy industry and the impact of regulation as well as changes in our financial perfor

mance and unfavorable conditions in the capital markets could result in credit agencies reexamining our

credit ratings downgrade in our credit ratings could restrict or discontinue our ability to access capital

markets at attractive rates and increase our borrowing costs rating downgrade could also increase the

interest we pay under our revolving credit agreements

The amount of our federal income tax NOLs that we may use to reduce our tax liability in any

given period is limited

As of December 31 2009 we had estimated federal income tax NOLs of $266.9 million resulting in

part from accelerated depreciation methods for property plant and equipment for income tax reporting

purposes These federal income tax NOLs may be used to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce

our U.S federal income taxes otherwise payable Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended imposes an annual limit on the ability of corporation that undergoes an ownership change to

use its federal income tax NOLs to reduce its tax liability We are subject to annual limitations on the use of

such feclera income tax NOLs as result of chanOes in our ownership in 200A We have not recorded

valuation allowance relating to our federal income tax NOLs In the event it becomes more likely than not

that any portion of the federal income tax NOLs will expire unused we would be required to recognize an

expense to establish valuation allowance in the period in which the determination is made If the expense

is significant it could have material adverse effect on our results of operations
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Provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws Michigan corporate law and our debt

agreements may impede efforts by our shareholders to change the direction or management of

our company

Our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that might enable our management to

resist proposed takeover These provisions could discourage delay or prevent change of control or an

acquisition at price that our shareholders may find attractive These provisions also may discourage

proxy contests and make it more difficult for our shareholders to elect directors and take other corporate

actions The existence of these provisions could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future

for shares of our common stock These provisions include

requirement that special meetings of our shareholders may be called only by our board of

directors the chairman of our board of directors our president or the holders of majority of the

shares of our outstanding common stock

advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and nominations and

the authority of our board to issue without shareholder approval common or preferred stock

including in connection with our implementation of any shareholders rights plan or poison pill

In addition our revolving credit agreements provide that change in majority of ITC Holdings board

of directors that is not approved by the current ITC Holdings directors or acquiring beneficial ownership of

35% or more of ITC Holdings outstanding common shares will constitute default under those

agreements

Provisions in ourArticles of Incorporation restrict market participants from voting or owning 5%
or more of the outstanding shares of our capital stock

Certain of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have been granted favorable rate treatment by the

FERC based on their independence from market participants The FERC defines market participant to

include any person or entity that either directly or through an affiliate sells or brokers electricity or

provides ancillary services to an RTO An affiliate for these purposes includes any person or entity that

directly or indirectly owns controls or holds with the power to vote 5% or more of the outstanding voting

securities of market participant To help ensure that we and our subsidiaries will remain independent of

market participants our Articles of Incorporation impose certain restrictions on the ownership and voting of

shares of our capital stock by market participants In particular the Articles of Incorporation provide that we
are restricted from issuing any shares of capital stock or recording any transfer of shares if the issuance or

transfer would cause any market participant either individually or together with members of its group as
defined in SEC beneficial ownership rules to beneficially own 5% or more of any class or series of our

capital stock Additionally if market participant together with its group members acquires beneficial

ownership of 5% or more of any series of the outstanding shares of our capital stock such market

participant or any shareholder who is member of group including market participant will not be able to

vote or direct or control the votes of shares representing 5% or more of any series of our outstanding capital

stock Finally to the extent market participant together with its group members acquires beneficial

ownership of 5% or more of the outstanding shares of any series of our capital stock our Articles of

Incorporation allow our board of directors to redeem any shares of our capital stock so that after giving

effect to the redemption the market participant together with its group members will cease to beneficially

own 5% or more of that series of our outstanding capital stock

ITEM UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission facilities are located in the lower peninsula of

Michigan and portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois Missouri and Kansas Our MISO Regulated Operating
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Subsidiaries have agreements with other utilities tor the joint ownership ot specitic substations and

transmission lines See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements

lTCTransmission owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 2800 circuit miles of overhead and underground transmission lines rated at voltages

of 120 kV to 345 kV

approximately 18200 transmission towers and poles

station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at 169 stations and substations which

either interconnect our transmission facilities or connect lTCTransmissions facilities with gener
ation or distribution facilities owned by others

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g monitoring and

metering equipment

warehouses and related equipment

associated land held in fee rights of way and easements

an approximately 188000 square-foot corporate headquarters facility and operations control room

including furniture fixtures and office equipment and

an approximately 40000 square-foot facility in Ann Arbor Michigan that includes back-up

operations control room

llCTransmissions First Mortgage Bonds are issued under lTCTransmissions First Mortgage and

Deed of Trust As result the bondholders have the benefit of first mortgage lien on substantially all of

lTCTransmissions property

METC owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 5500 circuit miles of overhead transmission lines rated at voltages of 138 kV to

345 kV

approximately 36200 transmission towers and poles

station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at 87 stations and substations which

either interconnect our transmission facilities or connect METCs facilities with generation or

distribution facilities owned by others

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g monitoring and

metering equipment and

warehouses and related equipment

Amounts borrowed under METCs revolving credit agreement are secured by first priority security

interest on all of METCs assets through the issuance of senior secured bonds collateral series under

METCs first mortgage indenture and the second supplemental indenture thereto

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its assets are located but under the provisions

of its Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy METC has an easement to use the land

rights-of-way leases and licenses in the land on which its transmission lines are located that are held

or controlled by Consumers Energy See Item Business Operating Contracts METC Amended

and Restated Easement Agreement

ITC Midwest owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 6800 miles of transmission lines rated at voltages of 34.5 kV to 345 kV

transmission towers and poles
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station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at approximately 253 stations and

substations which either interconnect ITC Midwests transmission facilities or connect ITC Mid

wests facilities with generation or distribution facilities owned by others

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g monitoring and

metering equipment

warehouses and related equipment and

associated land held in fee rights of way and easements

ITC Midwests First Mortgage Bonds were initially issued in January 2008 under ITC Midwests First

Mortgage and Deed of Trust As result the bondholders have the benefit of first mortgage lien on

substantially all of ITC Midwests property

ITC Great Plains owns the assets of two electric transmission substations in Kansas

The assets of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are suitable for electric transmission and

adequate for the electricity demand in our service territory We prioritize capital spending based in part

on meeting reliability standards within the industry This includes replacing and upgrading existing assets

as needed

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in certain legal proceedings from time to time before various courts governmental

agencies and mediation panels concerning matters arising in the ordinary course of business These

proceedings include certain contract disputes regulatory matters and pending judicial matters We
cannot predict the final disposition of such proceedings We regularly review legal matters and record

provisions for claims that are considered probable of loss The resolution of pending proceedings is not

expected to have material effect on our operations or financial statements in the period they are resolved

On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint with the FERC against ITC Midwest under Section 206

of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleged that the operations and maintenance expenses and

administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appeared excessive the

true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through December 31 2008

would cause hG Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the methodology of allocating

administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating companies was changed resulting in

such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest Among other things IPLs complaint sought

investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission service charges reflected in its

2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness of the 2009 rate with the

ultimate goal of reducing such rate

On April 16 2009 the FERC issued an order that dismissed the PL complaint citing that PL failed

to meet its burden as the complainant to establish that the current rate is unjust and unreasonable to

establish that IPLs alternative rate proposal is just and reasonable Requests for rehearing have been

filed with the FERC therefore the April 16 order remains subject to rehearing and ultimately to an appeal

to federal Court of Appeals within 30 days of any decision on rehearing

Refer to Notes and 16 to the consolidated financial statements for description of other pending

litigation

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAT
TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Stock Price and Dividends

Our common stock has traded on the NYSE since July 26 2005 under the symbol ITO Prior to that

time there was no public market for our stock As of February 19 2010 there were approximately

533 shareholders of record of our common stock

The following tables set forth the high and low sales price per share of the common stock for each full

quarterly period in 2009 and 2008 as reported on the NYSE and the cash dividends per share paid during

the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31 2009 High Low Dividends

Quarter ended December 31 2009 $52.77 $42.90 $0.320

Quarter ended September 30 2009 $48.69 $41.90 $0320

Quarter ended June 30 2009 $46.82 $40.57 $0305

Quarter ended March 31 2009 $46.50 $32.26 $0305

Year Ended December 31 2008 High Low Dividends

Quarter ended December 31 2008 $56.00 $32.35 $0.305

Quarter ended September 30 2008 $59.99 $49.35 $0.305

Quarter ended June 30 2008 $57.13 $50.42 $0.290

Quarter ended March 312008 $58.14 $49.16 $0.290

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of ITC Holdings board of

directors and depends on various factors including our net income financial condition cash requirements

future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors As holding company with

no business operations ITC Holdings material assets consist primarily of the common stock or ownership

interests in its subsidiaries deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax NOLs and cash ITO

Holdings material cash inflows are only from dividends and other payments received from time to time

from its subsidiaries and the proceeds raised from the sale of debt and equity securities ITO Holdings may

not be able to access cash generated by its subsidiaries in order to pay dividends to shareholders The

ability of ITO Holdings subsidiaries to make dividend and other payments to ITO Holdings is subject to the

availability of funds after taking into account the subsidiaries funding requirements the terms of the

subsidiaries indebtedness the regulations of the FERC under FPA and applicable state laws The debt

agreements to which we are parties contain numerous financial covenants that could limit ITO Holdings

ability to pay dividends as well as covenants that prohibit ITO Holdings from paying dividends if we are in

default under our revolving credit facilities Further each of our subsidiaries is legally distinct from ITO

Holdings and has no obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us

If and when ITO Holdings pays dividend on its common stock pursuant to our special bonus plans

for executives and certain non-executive employees amounts equivalent to the dividend may be paid to

the special bonus plan participants if approved by the compensation committee We currently expect

these amounts to be paid upon the declaration of dividends on ITO Holdings common stock

The board of directors intends to increase the dividend rate from time to time as necessary to maintain

an appropriate dividend payout ratio subject to prevailing business conditions applicable restrictions on

dividend payments the availability of capital resources and our investment opportunities

The transfer agent for the common stock is Oomputershare Trust Oompany N.A P.O Box 43078

Providence RI 02940-3078
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In addition the information contained in the Equity Compensation table under Item 12 Security

Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters of this report

is incorporated herein by reference

Stock Repurchases

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Purchased Paid Per Share

October thorough October 31 2009

November through November 30 2009

December through December 31 2009a 17 $45.67

Shares acquired were delivered to us by employees as payment of tax withholdings due to us upon the

vesting of restricted stock We did not repurchase any shares of common stock during this period as

part of publicly announced repurchase plan or program and do not have such plan or program
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The following table sets forth our selected historical financial data for the periods indicated On

July 19 2005 ITC Holdings affected an approximately 3.34-for-one stock split All amounts and values of

common shares and options and per share data in the accompanying financial information have been

retroactively adjusted to give effect to the stock split

95730

69231

85949

43905

113818

81296

94769

41180

81406

62089

67928

33340

35441

40632

40156

22156

667

294148

326867

809

330254

287623

688

244075

182174

842

137543

86079

The selected financial data presented below should be read together with our consolidated financial

statements and the notes to those statements and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

ITC Holdings and Subsidiariesa

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

In thousands except per share data

OPERATING REVENUESb $621015 $617877 $426249 $223622 $205274

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenancec 48310

General and administrativecd 25198

Depreciation and amortizatione 33197

Taxes other than income taxes 13982

Termination of management

agreements 6725

Other operating income and

expensenet

Total operating expenses 127412

OPERATING INCOME 77862

OTHER EXPENSES INCOME
Interest expense 130209 122234 81863 42049 28128

Allowance for equity funds used

during construction 13203
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1263

Other income 2792
Other expense 2918

Total other expenses income 118395

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 208472

INCOME TAX PROVISION 77572

INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 130900 109208 73296 33194 34671

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLE

NETOFTAXOF$16 29

NET INCOME $130.900 $109208 73.296 33223 34671

Basic earnings per share 2.62 2.22 1.72 0.94 1.09

Diluted earnings per share 2.58 2.18 1.68 0.91 1.06

Dividends declared per share 1.250 1.190 1.130 1.075 0.525

11610

3415
3944

111153

176470

67262

8145
349

3457
1618

72228

109946

36650

3977
1874

2348
1629

39227

46852

13658

2790

1700
615

24253

53609

18938
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ITC Holdings and Subsidiariesa

As of December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

In thousands

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Cash and cash equivalents 74853 58110 2616 13426 24591

Working capital deficit 147335 1095 30370 10107 19945

Property plant and

equipmentnet 2542064 2304386 1960433 1197862 603609

Goodwill 950163 951319 959042 624385 174256

Total assets 4029716 3714565 3213297 2128797 916639

Long-term debt

ITC Holdings 1458757 1327741 1687193 775963 266104

Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries 975641 920512 556231 486315 251211

Total long-term debt 2434398 2248253 2243424 1262278 517315

Total stockholders equity 1011523 929063 563075 532244 263301

ITC Holdings and Subsidiariesa

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

In thousands

CASH FLOWS DATA

Capital expenditures $404514 $401840 $287170 $167496 $118586

METCs results of operations cash flows and balances are included for the periods presented

subsequent to its acquisition on October 10 2006 In addition ITC Midwests results of operations

cash flows and balances are included for the periods presented subsequent to its acquisition of the

electric transmission assets of lPL on December 20 2007

lTCTransmissions and METCs implementation of Attachment with true-up mechanism for rates

beginning January 2007 resulted in increases in operating revenues for the years presented

subsequent to December31 2006 Refer to Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism in

Note to the consolidated financial statements

The reduction in expenses for 2009 are due in part to the expense mitigation efforts described under

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Trends and Seasonality Revenue Accruals Effects of Monthly Peak Loads and Expense Miti

gation Efforts and the expense capitalization process discussed under Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent Develop

ments Capitalization of Expenses

During 2009 we recognized $10.0 million of regulatory assets associated with both the start-up and

development costs at ITC Great Plains and development costs for the KETA project Upon initial

establishment of these regulatory assets in the third quarter of 2009 $8.0 million of general and

administrative expenses were reversed of which $5.9 million were incurred in periods prior to 2009

In 2009 the FERC accepted the depreciation studies filed by lTCTransmission and METC that revised

depreciation rates at lTCTransmission and METC This change in accounting estimate results in lower

composite depreciation rates for lTCTransmission and METC primarily due to the revision of asset

service lives and cost of removal values The revised estimate of 2009 annual depreciation expense

was reflected in 2009 See discussion in Note to the consolidated financial statements under

Depreciation Studies
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Sate Harbor Statement Under The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Our reports filings and other public announcements contain certain statements that describe our

managements beliefs concerning future business conditions plans and prospects growth opportunities

and the outlook for our business and the electric transmission industry based upon information currently

available Such statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Wherever possible we have identified these forward-looking statements by

words such as will may anticipates believes intends estimates expects projects and similar

phrases These forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions our management believes are

reasonable Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause our

actual results performance and achievements to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by

these statements including among others the risks and uncertainties disclosed under Item 1A Risk

Factors

Because our forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions that are subject to

significant business economic and competitive uncertainties many of which are beyond our control or are

subject to change actual results could be materially different and any or all of our forward-looking

statements may turn out to be wrong Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and can

be affected by assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Many factors

mentioned in our discussion in this report will be important in determining future results Consequently we

cannot assure you that our expectations or forecasts expressed in such forward-looking statements will be

achieved Actual future results may vary materially Except as required by law we undertake no obligation

to publicly update any of our forward-looking or other statements whether as result of new information

future events or otherwise

Overview

Through our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries we are engaged in the transmission of electricity in

the United States Our business strategy is to operate maintain and invest in transmission infrastructure in

order to enhance system integrity and reliability to reduce transmission constraints and to allow new

generating resources to interconnect to our transmission systems By pursuing this strategy we strive for

high reliability of our systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of choice including

renewable sources We operate high-voltage systems in Michigans Lower Peninsula and portions of Iowa

Minnesota Illinois Missouri and Kansas that transmit electricity from generating stations to local distri

bution facilities connected to our systems

As electric transmission utilities with rates regulated by the FERC our Regulated Operating Sub

sidiaries earn revenues through tariff rates charged for the use of their electric transmission systems by our

customers which include investor-owned utilities municipalities cooperatives power marketers and

alternative energy suppliers As independent transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries are subject to rate regulation only by the FERC The rates charged by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries are established using cost-based formula rate template as discussed in Item Manage

ments Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cost-Based Formula

Rates with True-Up Mechanism

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries primary operating responsibilities include maintaining

improving and expanding their transmission systems to meet their customers ongoing needs scheduling

outages on system elements to allow for maintenance and construction balancing electricity generation

and demand maintaining appropriatc system votages and monitoring flows nver trnnsmission lines and

other facilities to ensure physical limits are not exceeded

We derive nearly all of our revenues from providing network transmission service point-to-point

transmission service and other related services over our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission
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systems to investor owned utilities such as Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and to other entities

such as alternative electricity suppliers power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide

electricity to end-use consumers and from transaction-based capacity reservations on our transmission

systems

Significant recent events that influenced our financial position and results of operations and cash flows
for the year ended December 31 2009 or may affect future results include

Our capital investment of $361.6 million at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries $87.2 million

$132.7 million $140.1 million and $1.6 million at lTCTransmission METC ITC Midwest and ITC
Great Plains respectively for the year ended December 31 2009 primarily to improve system
reliability and interconnect new generating resources

Debt issuances and borrowings under our revolving credit agreements in 2009 and 2008 to fund

capital investment at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries resulting in higher interest

expense and

Our development activities relating to ITC Great Plains and Green Power Express Certain devel

opment activities are expensed in the period incurred as they are not yet probable of recovery and
there is no corresponding revenue recognized for these expenses

These items are discussed in more detail throughout Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Recent Developments

ITC Great Plains

Formula Rate and Incentives

As described in Note to the consolidated financial statements ITC Great Plains cost-based formula
rate with true-up mechanism and request for certain incentives for transmission investment have been

accepted by the FERC

In October 2009 SPP made filing with FERC to include ITC Great Plains revenue requirement in its

tariff In December 2009 the FERC issued an order which accepted the SPPs filing to include ITC Great
Plains revenue requirement in its tariff SPP began to bill ITC Great Plains 2009 network revenues in

January 2010 retroactive to August 18 2009 the date of the substation acquisitions described below

Substation Acquisitions

In August 2009 ITC Great Plains purchased two electric transmission substations from Mid-Kansas
with net book value of $4.7 million ITC Great Plains now operates the 138 kV Flat Ridge Substation
located in Barber County Kansas and the 230 kV Elm Creek Substation located in Cloud County Kansas
under services agreement with Mid-Kansas As result of this acquisition ITC Great Plains participates
in SPP as transmission owner

Regulatory Assets

In July 2009 we recorded approximately $8.2 million of regulatory assets for development expenses
incurred by ITC Great Plains through June 30 2009 that became probable of recovery and recorded

corresponding $8.2 million reduction to operating expenses primarily to general and administrative

expense Subsequent to the initial recognition of these regulatory assets we recorded an additional

$1.8 million of costs incurred during the third and fourth quarters of 2009 directly to regulatory assets The
regulatory asset includes amounts relating to development activities of ITC Great Plains as well as pre
construction costs for the KETA Project Based on ITC Great Plains application and the FERC order hG
Great Plains will be required to make an additional filing with the FERC under Section 205 of the Federal
Power Act in order to recover these start-up development and pre-construction expenses The regulatory
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assets recorded at ITC Great Plains do not include amounts associated with pre-construction costs for the

Kansas V-Plan In the period in which it becomes probable that future revenues will result from the

authorization to recover pre-construction expenses for the Kansas V-Plan which total $0.9 million at

December 31 2009 we will recognize those expenses as regulatory assets

KETA Project

On July 13 2009 ITC Great Plains received siting approval from the KCC to build the first phase of its

345 kV KETA Project 215-mile long transmission line that will run between Spearville Kansas and Axtell

Nebraska This first phase of the project involves the construction of an 89-mile transmission line between

Spearville and Hays Kansas The KCC siting approval is critical step in allowing ITC Great Plains to

pursue construction of the first phase of the KETA Project The siting permit was conditioned upon ITC

Great Plains obtaining the authorization to construct the project from SPP On January 19 2010 the FERC

issued an order approving the novation agreements required by SPP for the designation to ITC Great

Plains by Sunflower Electric Power Corporation and Midwest Energy Inc ITC Great Plains is also in the

process of securing other remaining regulatory approvals for the second phase of the project which will

run from Hays Kansas to the Nebraska border The final segment of the project from the Nebraska border

to Axtell Nebraska will be completed by Nebraska Public Power District We estimate that the cost for ITC

Great Plains portion of the KETA project will be approximately $175 million The first phase of the project

represents approximately $105 million of this total and ITC Great Plains has commenced right of way

acquisition activities

Kansas V-Plan Project

On June 2009 ITC Great Plains entered into stipulation and an agreement with Prairie Wind

Transmission LLC Prairie Wind and other interested parties to resolve pending regulatory proceedings

about who should be authorized to build the 180-mile long transmission line project known as the Kansas

V-Plan On July 24 2009 the KCC issued bench ruling accepting the stipulation and agreement between

ITC Great Plains and Prairie Wind and on October 2009 the KCC issued its final order granting

motion to approve the stipulation and agreement Under the terms of the settlement agreement ITC Great

Plains and Prairie Wind are each authorized by the KCC to build segments of the Kansas V-Plan which will

run between Spearville and Wichita Kansas The agreement stipulates that ITC Great Plains will construct

and own two segments of the line including the first section of line running from Spearville to Comanche

County Kansas and the second section from Comanche County to Medicine Lodge Kansas ITC Great

Plains will also construct new substation in Comanche County Prairie Wind will construct substation at

Medicine Lodge and third section of line from that substation to termination point outside of Wichita

Prairie Wind also would be certificated to construct line from the Kansas V-Plan to the Oklahoma border

The settlement agreement addresses only facilities proposed to be constructed in Kansas The next steps

for this project are expected to include securing siting approvals resolution of cost allocation issues and

project evaluation by the SPP regional planning authority The stipulation and agreement approved by the

KCC has various conditions including approval of regional cost allocation by the SPR The Kansas V-Plan

has been proposed to be constructed at voltage of 765 kV if deemed appropriate by SPR ITC Great

Plains estimates it will invest approximately $430 million to construct its portions of the project if it is built at

this voltage

Hugo to Valliant Project

On April 2009 Western Farmers Electric Cooperative an Oklahoma rural electric cooperative

corporation agreed to designate ITC Great Plains as the exclusive party responsible and authorized to

construct own and operate the Hugo-Valliant transmission line and the Hugo 345 kV Substation both

located in Oklahoma The project will consist ot 19 mile 345 KV transmission Iineand substation

including new 138/345 kV autotransformer The project has an estimated cost of approximately

$30 million On April 28 2009 SPP approved the novation agreement required by the SPP for the

designation of ITC Great Plains by Western Farmers Electric Cooperative On July 10 2009 the FEAC
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issued an order accepting the novation agreement and ITC Great Plains has commenced right of way

acquisition activities

Development Bonuses

During the third quarter of 2009 our board of directors authorized and we paid total of $0.3 million in

bonuses to substantially all employees for the successful completion of certain significant regulatory

milestones relating to the Hugo to Valliant transmission line project which were recorded to general and

administrative expenses

In January of 2010 the board of directors authorized and we paid $0.9 million in bonuses to

substantially all employees for the successful completion of certain regulatory milestones relating to

the KETA Project which were recorded to general and administrative expenses in 2010 It is reasonably

possible that future development-related bonuses would be authorized and awarded for these or other

development projects

Green Power Express

As described in Note to the consolidated financial statements in April 2009 the FEAC approved

Green Power Express request for transmission investment incentives and has conditionally accepted

Green Power Express proposed formula rate tariff sheets subject to refund and set them for hearing and

Settlement Judge procedures Drafts of an offer of settlement and supporting documents that would

resolve all of the issues set for hearing in the April 10 2009 order are under review by the parties and are

expected to be filed in the first quarter of 2010

The Green Power Express project is network of transmission lines that would facilitate the

movement of 12000 megawatts of power from the wind-abundant areas in the Dakotas Minnesota

and Iowa to Midwest load centers that demand clean renewable energy The Green Power Express

project would traverse portions of North Dakota South Dakota Minnesota Iowa Wisconsin Illinois and

Indiana and is ultimately expected to include approximately 3000 miles of extra high-voltage 765 kV
transmission The entire project is currently estimated to cost approximately $10 to $12 billion Portions of

the Green Power Express project fall within the service territory of ITC Midwest ITC Holdings expects to

partner with other utilities within the geographical footprint of the Green Power Express project and
therefore expects to invest in only portion of the total project cost

The total development expenses through December 31 2009 that may be recoverable through

regulatory assets were approximately $4.5 million which have been recorded to expenses in the periods

in which they were incurred In the period in which it becomes probable that future revenues will result from

the authorization to recover these pre-construction expenses we would recognize the regulatory assets and

record reduction to operating expenses for the total amount of these costs incurred through that period

Complaint of IPL

On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint with the FERC against ITC Midwest under Section 206

of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleges that the operations and maintenance expenses and

administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appeared excessive the

true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through December 31 2008

would cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the methodology of allocating

administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating companies was changed resulting in

such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest Among other things IPLs complaint sought

investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission service charges reflected in its

2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness of the 2009 rate with the

ultimate goal of reducing such rate

On April 16 2009 the FERC issued an order that dismissed the IPL complaint citing that IPL failed

to meet its burden as the complainant to establish that the current rate is unjust and unreasonable and to
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establish that IPLs alternative rate proposal is just and reasonable Requests for rehearing have been

filed with the FERC so the April 16 order remains subject to rehearing and ultimately to an appeal to

federal Court of Appeals within 30 days of any decision on rehearing

Depreciation Studies

During 2009 the FERC accepted depreciation studies filed by lTCTransmission and METC that

revised depreciation rates at lTCTransmission and METC and their revenue requirements for 2009 and

resulted in $19.5 million reduction in revenue recognized for the year This change in accounting estimate

results in lower composite depreciation rates for lTCTransmission and METC primarily due to the revision

of asset service lives and cost of removal values The revised estimates resulted in reduction of

depreciation expense of $19.5 million for the year ended December31 2009 Because of the inclusion of

depreciation expense as component of net revenue requirement under the cost-based formula rate the

offsetting effect on revenues and expenses from the change in depreciation rates had an immaterial effect

on net income and earnings per share amounts for the year ended December 31 2009

Capitalization of Expenses

During 2009 we reviewed the processes and assumptions used to record our estimates for certain

expenses to be capitalized including compensation and benefits general business expenses and

depreciation expense for our vehicles and equipment given our continued focus on capital investment

at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and the continuing costs to support these activities As part of this

review we examined the activities performed by employees to determine which activities were directly and

incrementally related to the construction programs at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries As result of

this review the general and administrative expense and operation and maintenance amounts capitalized

during 2009 exceed the amounts capitalized during 2008 As result of the ratemaking model discussed in

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cost-

Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism and the inclusion of operating expenses in the net

revenue requirements of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries this capitalization reduced oper

ating expenses and operating revenues by approximately equivalent amounts and therefore did not result

in significant change in net income in 2009 compared to 2008

Michigan Sales and Use Tax Audit

The Michigan Department of Treasury conducted sales and use tax audit of lTCTransmission for the

audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 and has recently determined to deny lTCTransmissions

use of the industrial processing exemption from use tax it has taken beginning January 2007

ITCTransmission has certain administrative and judicial appeal rights

lTCTransmission believes that its utilization of the industrial processing exemption is appropriate and

intends to defend itself against the denial of such exemption However it is reasonably possible that the

assessment of additional use tax could be sustained after all administrative appeals and litigation have

been exhausted

The amount of use tax liability associated with the exemptions taken by lTCTransmission through

December 31 2009 is estimated to be approximately $5.7 million which includes approximately $3.3 mil

lion assessed for the audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 including interest In the event it

becomes appropriate to record additional use tax expense relating to this matter lTCTransmission would

record the additional use tax expense primarily as an increase to the cost of property plant and equipment

as the majority of purchases for which the exemption was taken relate to equipment purchases associated

with capital projects These higher use tax expenses would be passed on to lTCTransmissions customers

as the amounts are included as components of net revenue requirements and resulting rates METC has

also taken the industrial processing exemption estimated to be approximately $5.9 million for periods still

subject to audit since 2005 The Michigan Department of Treasury initiated use tax audit of MTH METCs

sole member in the first quarter of 2010
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Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries net revenue requirements are derived using cost-based

formula rate templates and are effective without the need to file rate cases with the FERC although the

rates are subject to legal challenge at the FERC Under these formula rate templates our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries recover expenses and earn return on and recover investments in property plant

and equipment on current rather than lagging basis using forecasted expenses property plant and

equipment point-to-point revenues network load and other items for the upcoming calendar year to

establish their projected net revenue requirement and their component of the billed network rates for

service on their systems from January to December 31 of that year The formula rates include true-up

mechanism whereby each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will compare its actual net revenue

requirements to its billed network revenues for each year after the end of that year Under our formula

rates in the event billed network revenues in given year are more or less than actual net revenue

requirements which are calculated primarily using information from that years FERC Form No our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will refund or collect additional revenues with interest within two-year

period such that customers pay only the amounts that correspond to actual net revenue requirements for

that given period This annual true-up ensures that our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries recover their

allowed costs and earn their allowed returns For example the true-up adjustment relating to 2009 is

finalized in 2010 upon completion of the 2009 FERC Form No and will be included in the projected net

revenue requirement that is used to establish the rate that will be effective commencing January 2011

As part of the orders by the IUB and the MPUC approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITO

Midwest agreed to provide rate discount of $4.1 million per year to its customers for eight years

beginning in the first year customers experience an increase in transmission charges following the

consummation of the ITO Midwest asset acquisition Beginning in 2009 and extending through 2016

ITO Midwests net revenue requirement was or will be reduced by $4.1 million for each year The

recognition of the rate discount occurs when we provide the service and charge the reduced rate that

includes the rate discount

Monthly peak loads continue to be used for billing network revenues for our MISO Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries Therefore network load continues to have an impact on cash flows from trans

mission service but does not impact operating revenues recognized Refer to Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Oondition and Results of Operations Oritical Accounting Poli

cies Revenue Recognition under Oost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanisms for discus

sion of revenue recognition relating to network revenues

The following table presents our component of network transmission rates per kW/month for our

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries that are relevant to our results of operations and cash flows since

January 2007

Network Transmission Rate lTCTransmission METC ITC Midwesta

January 2007 to December 31 2007 $2.099 $1 .524 $2.373

January 2008 to December 31 2008 $2.350 $1 .985 $2.446

January 12009 to December 31 2009 $2.520 $2.522 $4162

January 2010 to December 31 2010 $2.81 $2370 $6.882

ITO Midwests results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its asset

acquisition of the electric transmission assets of lPL on December 20 2007

ITO Great Plains does not receive revenue based on network transmission rate and peak load each

month The SPP tariff applicable to ITO Great Plains is billed ratably each month based on the annual

projected net revenue requirement
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Net Revenue Re quiremnt Calculation

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries separately calculates net revenue requirement based

on financial information specific to each company The calculation of actual net revenue requirements for

historic period is used to calculate the amount of network revenues recognized in that period and to

calculate the true-up adjustment for that period The calculation of projected net revenue requirements is

used to establish the transmission rate used for billing purposes and follows the same methodology as the

calculation of actual net revenue requirement The following steps illustrate the calculation of net revenue

requirement and the rate-setting methodology under the Attachment formula rate template with

true-up mechanism used by our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries ITC Great Plains follows

similar methodology

Step One Establish Projected Rate Base and Calculate Projected Allowed Return

Rate base is projected using the average of the 13 projected month-end balances for the months

beginning with December 31 of the current year and ending with December 31 of the upcoming year and

consists primarily of projected in-service property plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation

as well as other items

Projected rate base is multiplied by the projected weighted average cost of capital to determine the

projected allowed return on rate base The weighted average cost of capital is calculated using projected

13 month average capital structure the forecasted pre-tax cost of the debt portion of the capital structure

and FERC-approved return of 13.88% 13.38% and 12.38% for lTCTransmission METC and ITC

Midwest respectively on the common equity portion of the forecasted capital structure

Step Two Calculate Projected Gross Revenue Requirement

The projected gross revenue requirement is calculated beginning with the projected allowed return on

rate base as calculated in Step One above and adding projected recoverable operating expenses and an

allowance for income taxes

Step Three Calculate Projected Net Revenue Requirement

After calculating the projected gross revenue requirement in Step Two above the projected gross

revenue requirement is adjusted for any prior year true-up adjustment discussed in Step Four and is

reduced for certain revenues other than network revenues such as projected point-to-point regional cost

sharing revenues and rental revenues to arrive at our projected net revenue requirement

Step Four Calculate True-up Adjustment

The actual transmission revenues billed for 2008 were compared to 2008 actual net revenue

requirement which is based primarily on amounts from the completed FERC Form No for 2008 The

true-up adjustment that results from the difference between the actual revenue billed and actual net

revenue requirement for 2008 was added to the 2010 projected net revenue requirement used to

determine the 2010 network transmission rate Interest is also applied to the true-up adjustment

Illustration of Attachment Rate Setting Set forth below is simplified illustration ot the calcuiatiOfl

of lTCTransmissions projected net revenue requirement as well as its component of the joint zone network

transmission rate for billing purposes under the Attachment rate setting mechanism for the period from

January 2010 through December 31 2010 that was based primarily upon projections of
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lTCTransmissions 2010 FERC Form No data Amounts below are approximations of the amounts used

to establish our projected net revenue requirement in the 2010 lTCTransmission Attachment posting

Attachment items InstrUctionS Amount

Projected rate base the average of the

13 months ended December 31 2009 through

December 31 2010 $963100000

Multiply by projected 13 month weighted

average cost of capitala
10.38%

Projected allowed return on rate base Line Line 99969780

Projected recoverable operating expenses for

2010 57600000

Projected taxes and depreciation and

amortization for 2010 $133200000

Projected gross revenue requirements for 2010 Line Line Line $290769780

Less projected revenue credits for 2010 40500000

Plus/less 2008 true-up adjustment 18490027

Projected net revenue requirement for 2010 Line Line Line $268759807

10 Projected average monthly 2010 network load in

kW 7949000

Annual component of the joint zone network

transmission rate Line divided by Line 10 33.811

12 Monthly component of the joint zone network Line divided by

transmission rate $/kW per month 12 months 2.818

The weighted average cost of capital for purposes of this illustration is calculated as follows

Weighted

Percentage of Average

ITC Transmissions Cost of

Total Capitalization Cost of Capital Capital

Debt 40.00% 5.13% Pre-tax 2.05%

Equity
60.00% 13.88% After tax 8.33%

100.00% 10.38%

Trends and Seasonality

Network Revenues

We expect general trend of increases in network transmission rates and revenues for our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries over the long term The primary factor that is expected to continue to increase our

rates and our actual net revenue requirements in future years is our anticipated capital investment in

excess of depreciation levels as result of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries long-term capital

investment programs Investments in property plant and equipment when placed in service upon

completion of capital project are added to the rate base of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries strive for high reliability of their systems and to improve accessibility

to generation sources of choice including renewable sources In addition the Energy Policy Act requires

the FERC to implement mandatory electric transmission reliability standards to be enforced by an Electric

Reliability Organization Effective June 2007 the FERC approved mandatory adoption of certain reliability

standards and approved enforcement actions for violators including fines of up to $1.0 million per day The

NERC was assigned the responsibility of developing and enforcing these mandatory reliability standards
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We continually assess our transmission systems against standards established by the NERC as well as

the standards of applicable regional entities under the NERC that have been delegated certain authority for

the purpose of proposing and enforcing reliability standards We believe we meet the applicable standards

in all material respects although further investment in our transmission systems will likely be needed to

maintain compliance improve reliability and address any new standards that could be promulgated

We also assess our transmission systems against our own planning criteria that are filed annually with

the FERC Based on our planning studies we see needs to make capital investments to rebuild existing

property plant and equipment upgrade the system to address demographic changes that have

impacted transmission load and the changing role that transmission plays in meeting the needs of the

wholesale market including accommodating the siting of new generation or to increase import capacity to

meet changes in peak electrical demand and relieve congestion in the transmission systems The

following table shows our expected and actual capital investment for each of the Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries

Capital Investmentb

Actual for the Forecast for the

Five-Year Capital Year Ended Year Ending

In millions Investment Program December 31 December 31

Regulated OperatIng Subsidiary 2010-2014a 2009 2010

lTCTransmission 445 87.2 5060
METC 750 132.7 140155

ITC Midwest 1147 140.1 205225

ITC Great Plains 637 1.6 1020

Otherc 91

Total $3070 $361.6 $405 460

The expected amounts for our five-year program include estimates for transmission network upgrades

for generator interconnections Due to high degree of uncertainty on whether these projects will

ultimately be built and because they could replace other transmission projects currently being planned

these estimates for network upgrades could change significantly due to factors beyond our control

such as changes in the MISO queue for generation projects and whether the generator meets the

various criteria of Attachment FF of the MISO tariff for the project to qualify as refundable network

upgrade among other factors

Capital investment amounts differ from cash expenditures for property plant and equipment included

in our consolidated statements of cash flows due in part to differences in construction costs incurred

compared to cash paid during that period as well as payments for major equipment inventory that are

included in cash expenditures but not included in capital investment until transferred to construction

work in progress among other factors

Includes Green Power Express and other development initiatives

Investments in property plant and equipment could vary due to among other things the impact of

actual loads forecasted loads regional economic conditions weather conditions union strikes labor

shortages material and equipment prices and availability our ability to obtain financing for such expen

ditures if necessary limitations on the amount of construction that can be undertaken on our systems at

any one time regulatory approvals for reasons relating to rate construct environmental siting regional

planning cost recovery or other issues or as result of legal proceedings and variances between

estimated and actual costs of construction contracts awarded

Revenue Accruals Effects of Monthly Peak Loads and Expense Mitigation Efforts

Under their formula rates that contain true-up mechanism our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

accrue or defer revenues to the extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is

higher or lower respectively than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period For example to the
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extent that amounts billed are less than our net revenue requirement for reporting period revenue

accrual is recorded for the difference One of the primary factors that impacts the revenue accrual/deferral

at our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is actual monthly peak loads experienced as compared to

those forecasted in establishing the annual network transmission rate The monthly peak load of our MISO

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is affected by many variables but is generally reduced as economic

activity decreases and is seasonally shaped with higher load in the summer months when cooling demand

is higher llCTransmissions monthly peak loads for the year ended December 31 2009 decreased 8.3%

and 18.0% respectively compared to the corresponding totals for 2008 and 2007 METCs monthly peak

loads for the year ended December31 2009 decreased 5.5% and 14.0% respectively compared to the

corresponding totals for 2008 and 2007 Additionally in 2009 lTCTransmission and METCs monthly peak

loads were 11.6% and 10.4% lower respectively than what had been forecasted in developing the

transmission network rates applicable for 2009 due in part to the unfavorable economic conditions in

Michigan challenging economic environment in Michigan that results in lower network loads than what

had been forecasted in developing the transmission network rates applicable for 2010 would continue to

negatively impact our operating cash flows from network revenues in 2010 and result in an Attachment

revenue accrual for 2010 all other factors being equal Transmission network rates in 2012 at each of our

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries would include any Attachment revenue accrual for any under-

recovered amounts relating to 2010 including interest

To offset the impact of lower network load on cash flows and any potential revenue accrual relating to

2009 we engaged in efforts to mitigate operations and maintenance expenses and general and admin

istrative expenses These expense mitigation efforts were designed to ensure that we continue to meet our

high standards for the reliability and safety of our systems and operations By minimizing the revenue

accrual in 2009 that would have resulted from lower than forecasted load we collected cash in manner

that more closely corresponded with the revenues that we recorded This action will also benefit our

customers by reducing the significant 2009 revenue accrual that otherwise would have resulted and the

impact it would have on network rates in 2011

Our rates at ITC Great Plains are billed ratably each month based on its annual projected net revenue

requirement

Monthly Peak Load in MWa
2009 2008 2007

ITClransmjssjon METS ITC Midwest IlcTransmission METC ITC Midwest ITCTransmission METC ITc Midwestb

January 7314 6009 2996 7890 6215 2963 7876 6051

February 7176 5818 2830 7715 6159 2916 8170 6227

March 7070 5548 2723 7532 5797 2756 7739 6006

April 6761 5112 2437 6926 5223 2455 7141 5473

May 6801 5296 2408 7051 5328 2431 9927 6981

June 10392 8022 3504 10624 7241 2888 11761 8511

July 8720 6512 2832 11016 8042 3376 11706 8672

August 9846 7120 3181 10890 7816 3259 12087 8955

September 8043 6062 2529 10311 7622 3191 11033 7908

October 6446 5360 2528 6893 5514 2786 10365 7524

November 6996 5780 2734 7205 5823 2944 7812 6200

December 7661 6190 2855 7636 6280 3003 8022 6215 2706

Total 93226 72829 33557 101689 77060 34968 113639 84723 2706

Our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are each part of joint rate zone The load data

presented is for all transmission owners in the respective joint rate zone and is used for billing

network revenues Each of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries makes up the significant

portion of network load within their respective joint rate zone
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1TC Midwests results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its

acquisition of the electric transmission assets of IPL on December 20 2007

Significant Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We derive nearly all of our revenues from providing network transmission service point-to-point

transmission service and other related services over our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

systems to Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and to other entities such as alternative electricity

suppliers power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide electricity to end-use consumers

and from transaction-based capacity reservations on our transmission systems MISO and SPP are

responsible for billing and collection of transmission services As the billing agent for our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries MISO and SPP collect fees for the use of our transmission systems invoicing

Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly basis MISO and SPP each

have credit policies for its tariff customers

Network Revenues are generated from network customers for their use of our electric transmission

systems and consist of both billed network revenues and accrued or deferred revenues as result of our

accounting under our cost-based formula rates that contain true-up mechanism Refer to Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical

Accounting Policies Revenue Recognition under Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mecha

nisms for discussion of revenue recognition relating to network revenues The monthly network

revenues billed to customers using the transmission facilities of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries are the result of calculation which can be simplified into the following

multiply the network load measured in kW achieved during the one hour of monthly peak

usage for our transmission systems by the appropriate monthly tariff rate as calculated under

Attachment by 12 by the number of days in that month and

divide the result by 365

Our rates at ITC Great Plains are billed ratably each month based on its annual projected net revenue

requirement and therefore peak usage does not impact its billed network transmission revenues

Point-to-Point Revenues consist of revenues generated from type of transmission service for

which the customer pays for transmissioncapacity reserved along specified path between two points on

an hourly daily weekly or monthly basis Point-to-point revenues also include other components pursuant

to schedules under the MISO transmission tariff

Regional Cost Sharing Revenues consist of revenues received from transmission customers

associated with network upgrades to our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission systems

that are eligible for regional cost sharing under Attachment FF of the MISO Transmission and Energy

Market Tariff Docket No ERO6-18 There is also true-up mechanism associated with regional cost

sharing revenues whereby our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue or defer revenues for any

over- or underrecovery of these revenues Regional cost sharing revenues became applicable for us

during 2008

Scheduling Control and Dispatch Revenues are allocated to our MISO Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries by MISO as compensation for the services performed in operating the transmission system

Such services include monitoring of reliability data current and next day analysis implementation of

emergency procedures and outage coordination and switching Revenues that are allocated by MISO to

our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries relating to these services are not determined based on actual

expenses incurred In any given year our MISO Regulated Operatinq Subsidiaries may earn more or less

scheduling control and dispatch revenues than our actual expenses incurred for control room activities

Other Revenues consist of rental revenues easement revenues and amounts from providing

ancillary services to customers
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Operating Expenses

Operation and Maintenance Expenses consist primarily of the costs of contractors to operate and

maintain our transmission systems and costs for our personnel involved in operation and maintenance

activities

Operation expenses include activities related to control area operations which involve balancing

loads and generation and transmission system operations activities including monitoring the status of our

transmission lines and stations The expenses relating to METCs Easement Agreement are also recorded

within operation expenses

Maintenance expenses include preventive or planned maintenance such as vegetation manage
ment tower painting and equipment inspections as well as reactive maintenance for equipment failures

General and Administrative Expenses consist primarily of costs for personnel in our finance

human resources regulatory information technology and legal organizations general office expenses and

fees for professional services Professional services are principally composed of outside legal audit and

information technology services We capitalize to property plant and equipment portions of certain general

and administrative expenses such as compensation office rent utilities and information technology

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses consist primarily of depreciation of property plant and

equipment using the straight-line method of accounting Additionally this consists of amortization of

various regulatory and intangible assets We capitalize to property plant and equipment depreciation

expense for vehicles and equipment used in our construction activities

Taxes other than Income Taxes consist primarily of property taxes and payroll taxes Additionally

Michigan Single Business Taxes were recorded here through December 31 2007 prior to the January

2008 effective date of the Michigan Business Tax which is accounted for as an income tax

Other Operating Income and Expense Net consists primarily of gains and losses associated

with the sale of assets and gains associated with the sale of permanent land easements Additionally this

item consists of income recognized for tax gross-ups received from developers or generators for con
struction projects as described in Note to the consolidated financial statements under Generator

Interconnection Projects The tax gross-up represents the difference between taxable income associated

with the contribution compared to the present value of tax depreciation of the property constructed using

the taxable contribution in aid of construction

Other items of income or expense

Interest Expense consists primarily of interest on long term debt at ITC Holdings and our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries Additionally the amortization of debt financing expenses is recorded to interest

expense An allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included in property plant and

equipment accounts and is reduction to interest expense

Allowance for Equity Funds Used During Construction AFUDC equity is recorded as an item

of other income and is included in property plant and equipment accounts The allowance represents

return on equity at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries used for construction purposes in accordance

with FERC regulations The capitalization rate applied to the construction work in progress balance is

based on the proportion of equity to total capital which currently includes equity and long-term debt and

the allowed return on equity for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Income tax provision

Income tax provision consists primarily of federal income taxes Additionally we record income tax

provisions for the various state income taxes we are subject to including the Michigan Business Tax that

became effective for us on January 2008
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Results of ODerations

The following table summarizes historical operating results for the periods indicated

Year Ended
Percentage Year Ended Percentage

December 31 Increase Increase December 31 Increase Increase

2009 2008 Decrease Decrease 2007 Decrease Decrease

In thousands

OPERATING REVENUES $621015 $617877 3138 0.5% $426249 $191628 45.0%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance 95730 113818 18088 15.9% 81406 32412 39.8%

General and administrative 69231 81296 12065 14.8% 62089 19207 30.9%

Depreciation and amortization 85949 94769 8820 9.3% 67928 26841 39.5%

Taxes other than income taxes 43905 41180 2725 6.6% 33340 7840 23.5%

Other operating income and

expensenet 667 809 142 17.6% 688 121 17.6%

Total operating expenses 294148 330254 36106 10.9% 244075 86179 35.3%

OPERATING INCOME 326867 287623 39244 13.6% 182174 105449 57.9%

OTHER EXPENSES INCOME
Interest expense 130209 122234 7975 6.5% 81863 40371 49.3%

Allowance for equity funds used

during construction 13203 11610 1593 13.7% 8145 3465 42.5%

Loss on extinguishment of debt 1263 1263 n/a 349 349 100.0%

Other income 2792 3415 623 18.2% 3457 42 1.2%

Other expense 2918 3944 1026 26.0% 1618 2326 143.8%

Total other expenses income 118395 111153 7242 6.5% 72228 38925 53.9%

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 208472 176470 32002 18.1% 109946 66524 60.5%

INCOME TAX PROVISION 77572 67262 10310 15.3% 36650 30612 83.5%

NET INCOME $130900 $109208 21692 19.9% 73296 35912 49.0%

Operating Revenues

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

The following table sets forth the components of and changes in operating revenues

Percentage
2009 2008

Increase Increase

Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Decrease Decrease

In thousands

Network revenues $547279 88.1% $558896 90.5% $11617 2.1%

Regional cost sharing

revenues 39710 6.4% 15534 2.5% 24176 155.6%

Point-to-point 17087 2.8% 23417 3.8% 6330 27.0%

Scheduling control and

dispatch 14578 2.3% 16972 2.7% 2394 14.1%

Other 2361 0.4% 3058 0.5% 697 22.8%

Total $621015 100.0% $617877 100.0% 3138 0.5%

Network revenues decreased due primarily to lower net revenue requirements at our MISO Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries during the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the same period in

2008 Lower net revenue requirements were due primarily to our expense mitigation efforts discussed

under Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Trends and Seasonality Revenue Accruais Effects of Monthiy Peak Loads and Expense Mitigaton

Efforts other reductions to operating expenses as result of higher capitalization discussed under Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent

Developments Capitalization of Expenses the reduction of depreciation expense as result of the
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lTCTransmission and METC depreciation studies discussed in Note to the consolidated financial

statements and an increase in regional cost sharing revenues Partially offsetting these decreases

was an increase due to higher rate base primarily associated with higher balances of property plant

and equipment in-service

Network revenues for the year ended December 31 2009 include the revenue accrual deferral as

calculated below

Total

ITC Net Revenue
Line Item llCTransmission METC ITC Midwest Great Plains Accrual

In thousands

Estimated net revenue

requirement network
revenues recognizeda $232253 $154280 $159960 $786

Network revenues

billedbc 235216 161299 140136 261

Revenue accrual deferral

line 1line 2963 7019 19824 $525 $10367

The calculation of net revenue requirement for our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is

described in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism Net Revenue Requirement

Calculation The amount is estimated until such time as FERC Form No ls are completed for our

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and the calculations are filed with and reviewed by MISO
each year and posted on OASIS which provides information by electronic means about transmission

rates available transmission capability for point-to-point service and process for requesting trans

mission service on non-discriminatory basis The calculation of net revenue requirement for ITC

Great Plains is also based on cost-based formula rate and is estimated until FERC Form No is

completed and will be posted on the SPP OASIS each year

Network revenues billed at our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries were calculated based on the

joint zone monthly network peak load multiplied by our 2009 effective monthly network rates of $2.520

per kW/month $2.522 per kW/month and $4.1 62 per kW/month applicable to lTCTransmission METC
and ITC Midwest respectively adjusted for the actual number of days in the month less amounts
recovered or refunded associated with lTCTransmissions and METCs 2007 Attachment true-up
ITCTransmissions and METCs effective transmission rates include their 2007 true-up adjustment and
associated accrued interest Amounts billed through ITCTransmissions effective transmission rate

reduced ITCTransmissions regulatory liability associated with the 2007 true-up and accrued interest

by $0.2 million during the year ended December 31 2009 Additionally amounts billed through
METCs effective transmission rate reduced METCs regulatory asset associated with the 2007

true-up and its accrued interest by $22.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009

SPP began to bill ITC Great Plains network revenues in January 2010 retroactive to August 18 2009
discussed above under Recent Developments ITC Great Plains Formula Rate and Incentives

Regional cost sharing revenues increased due primarily to capital projects placed in service in 2007
2008 or 2009 that have been identified by MISO as eligible for regional cost sharing We expect to continue

to receive regional cost sharing revenues and the amounts could become more significant in the near

future including revenues associated with ITC Great Plains projects that have or are expected to be

approved for regional cost sharing

Point-to-point revenues decreased due primarily to fewer point-to-point reservations caused by
reduction of usage related to unfavorable regional economic conditions and unfavorable weather

conditions
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Scheduling control and dispatch revenues decreased due primarily to lower network peak load at

lTCTransmission

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

The following table sets forth the components of and changes in operating revenues

2008 2007
Percentage

Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Increase Increase

In thousands

Network revenues $558896 90.5% $390331 91.6% $168565 43.2%

Point-to-point 23417 3.8% 19321 4.5% 4096 21.2%

Scheduling control and

dispatch 16972 2.7% 14674 3.4% 2298 15.7%

Regional cost sharing

revenues 15534 2.5% 0.0% 15534 100.0%

Other 3058 0.5% 1923 0.5% 1135 59.0%

Total $617877 100.0% $426249 100.0% $191628 45.0%

Network revenues increased $133.5 million due to ITC Midwests asset acquisition in December of

2007 Additionally lTCTransmission and METC recognized additional network revenues of $18.6 million

and $16.5 million respectively due to higher net revenue requirements as result of higher rate base

operating expenses and taxes among other items during 2008 as compared to 2007

Network revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 include the revenue accrual deferral as

calculated below

ITC Total Revenue

Line Item ITCTransmission METC Midwestb Accrual

In thousands

Estimated net revenue requirement

network revenues $257156 $165803 $135937

Network revenues billeda 239473 153530 85085

Revenue accrual line line 17683 12273 50852 $80808

Network revenues billed at our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are calculated based on the

joint zone monthly network peak load multiplied by our effective monthly network rates of $2.350 per

kW/month $1 .985 per kW/month and $2.446 per kW/month applicable to lTCTransmission METC

and ITC Midwest respectively adjusted for the actual number of days in the month

ITC Midwests billed network rate was frozen during 2008 which was the primary reason for the

revenue accrual

Point-to-point revenues increased due primarily to ITC Midwests asset acquisition resulting in

$3.9 million of additional revenues

Scheduling control and dispatch revenues increased due primarily to ITC Midwests asset acquisition

resulting in $2.4 million of additional revenues

Regional cost sharing revenues became applicable for us during 2008
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Operating Expenses

Operation and maintenance expenses

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Operation and maintenance expenses decreased by $13.0 million due to lower field maintenance

expenses consisting primarily of reductions in inspections vegetation management tower painting over
head structure maintenance and field operations and training These items are due in part to the expense

mitigation efforts described above under Trends and Seasonality Revenue Accruals Effects of

Monthly Peak Loads and Expense Mitigation Efforts Operation and maintenance expenses also decreased

by $1.2 million for lower control center expenses and $5.1 million as result of the expense capitalization

process discussed under Recent Developments Capitalization of Expenses In addition operation

and maintenance expenses decreased by $1.2 million for lower incentive bonuses related to the ITC Midwest

integration activities and by $1 .5 million due to lower emergency station expenses at ITC Midwest that

resulted from the 2008 floods in Iowa These decreases were partially offset by higher information tech

nology system maintenance expenses of $3.5 million due in part to additional operating control room
software and expanded financial systems and the expenses to support those systems

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Operation and maintenance expenses increased by $21.5 milliondue to higher transmissionstructure

maintenance expenses inspections and other maintenance activities at ITC Midwest ITC Midwest also

incurred transmission system monitoring and control expenses of $4.7 million and incurred $1.2 million for

incentive bonuses for ITC Midwest integration activities In addition METC incurred additional vegetation

management expenses of $6.9 million

General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

General and administrative expenses decreased by $9.6 million as result of the aforementioned

expense capitalization process and $7.4 million due to lower business expenses and professional advisory

and consulting services resulting in part from our expense mitigation efforts described above In addition

general and administrative expenses decreased by $8.0 million due to the recognition of regulatory assets

relating to start-up and development activities of ITC Great Plains as well as pre-construction costs for the

KETA Project Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase of $6.8 million due to higher compen
sation and benefits expenses due in part to personnel additions stock compensation expense associated

with our 2008 and 2009 long term incentive plan grants and net pension cost detailed in Note 11 to the

condensed consolidated financial statements There was an additional $4.7 million increase for salaries

benefits and general business expenses associated with increased development activities at ITC Grid

Development and Green Power Express which are not included in the increases explained above

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

General and administrative expenses increased by $6.4 million due to higher professional advisory

and consulting services $6.3 million due to higher business expenses primarily for information technology

support and $1.3 million due to higher compensation and benefits expenses primarily resulting from

personnel additions and incentive bonuses for ITC Midwest integration activities In addition stock

compensation expenses increased by $0.9 million due to an executive deferred stock unit bonus General

and administrative expenses also increased by an additional $4.2 million at ITC Grid Development and its

subsidiaries for salaries benefits and general business expenses due to increased development activities

which are not included in the increases explained above
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Depreciation and amortization expenses

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Depreciation and amortization expenses at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries decreased due

primarily to the lTCTransmission and METC depreciation studies described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements which revised their depreciation rates used to calculate depreciation expense for the

entire 2009 calendar year and resulted in reduction of depreciation expense of $14.2 million and

$5.3 million for lTCTransmission and METC respectively Partially offsetting this decrease was an

increase in depreciation expense due to higher depreciable rate base resulting from property plant

and equipment additions

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $18.6 millionas result of ITC Midwests asset

acquisition in December 2007 Additionally we recognized additional depreciation expense of $5.4 million

and $2.8 million at lTCTransmission and METC respectively due primarily to higher depreciable asset

base resulting from property plant and equipment additions

Taxes other than income taxes

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Taxes other than income taxes increased due to higher property tax expenses due primarily due to our

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries 2008 capital additions which are included in the assessments for

2009 personal property taxes

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Taxes other than income taxes increased due to additional property tax expenses at ITC Midwest of

$6.2 million as result of ITC Midwests asset acquisition in December 2007 Additionally property tax

expenses at lTCTransmission and METC increased by $3.1 million and $0.8 million due primarily to

lTCTransmissions and METCs capital additions which are included in the assessments for 2008 personal

property taxes Partially offsetting these increases was decrease of $2.7 million as result of the

replacement of the Michigan Single Business Tax discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial

statements

Other expenses income

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Interest expense increased due primarily to additional interest expense associated with the

$186.1 million of additional indebtedness incurred since December 2008 This increase was partially

oftset by lower interest expense as result of lower interest rates under our revolving credit agreements

AFUDC equity increased due to increased property plant and equipment expenditures and the

resulting higher construction work in progress balances during 2009 compared to 2008

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Interest expense increased due primarily to higher borrowing levels to finance capital expenditures

and ITC Midwests asset acquisition

AFUDC equity increased due to increased property plant and equipment expenditures and the

resulting higher construction work in progress balances during 2008 compared to 2007

Other expenses increased due primarily to realized and unrealized losses on our trading securities

recognized during 2008 as result of financial market conditions that caused decrease in our investment

values
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Income Tax Provision

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are 37.2% and 38.1%
respectively Our effective rate differs from our 35% statutory federal income tax rate due primarily to state

income tax provision of $8.0 million net of federal deductibility recorded during the year ended Decem
ber 31 2009 and $9.0 million net of federal deductibility recorded during the year ended December 31
2008 offset by the tax effects of AFUDC equity The state income tax provision primarily results from the

new Michigan Business Tax as discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements The amount
of income tax expense relating to AFUDC equity is recognized as regulatory asset and not included in the

income tax provision Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries include taxes payable relating to AFUDC
equity in their actual net revenue requirements

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Our effective tax rate for the year ended December31 2008 of 38.1% differed from our 35% statutory

federal income tax rate due primarily to the state income tax provision of $9.0 million net of federal

deductibility recorded during the year ended December 31 2008 partially offset by the tax effects of

AFUDC equity described above The state income tax provision is primarily result of the new Michigan
Business Tax as discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements Our effective tax rate for

the year ended December 31 2007 of 33.3% differed from our 35% statutory federal income tax rate due

primarily to our accounting for the tax effects of AFUDC equity

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to fund our future capital requirements with cash from operations our existing cash and

cash equivalents and amounts available under our revolving credit agreements the terms of which are

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements In addition we may from time to time secure

debt and equity funding in the capital markets although we can provide no assurance that we will be able to

obtain financing on favorable terms or at all We expect that our capital requirements will arise principally
from our need to

Fund capital expenditures at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Our plans with regard to

property plant and equipment investments are described in detail above under Item Manage
ments Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Trends and

Seasonality

Fund business development expenses and related capital expenditures We are pursuing devel

opment activities described above under Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent Developments Green Power Express
as well as at ITC Grid Development that will continue to result in the incurrence of development

expenses and could result in significant capital expenditures

Fund working capital requirements

Fund our debt service requirements which are described in detail below under Item Manage
ments Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Contractual

Obligations We expect our interest payments to increase during 2010 compared to 2009 as result

of additional debt incurred in 2009 and 2010 to fund our capital expenditures

Fund dividends to holders of our common stock

Fund contributions to our retirement plans as described in Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements The impact of the growth in the number of participants in our retirement benefit plans
the recent financial market conditions that have caused decrease in the value of our retirement

plan assets and changes in the requirements of the Pension Protection Act may require contribu

tions to our retirement plans to be higher than we have experienced in the past
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In addition to the expected capital requirements above an adverse determination in our appeal

relating to the recent denial of our ability to use the sales and use tax exemption as described in Note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements would result in additional capital requirements

We believe that we have sufficient capital resources to meet our currently anticipated short-term

needs We rely on both internal and external sources of liquidity to provide working capital and to fund

capital investments We expect to continue to utilize our revolving credit agreements and our cash and

cash equivalents as needed to meet our other short-term cash requirements As of December 31 2009

we had consolidated indebtedness under our revolving credit agreements of $81.4 million with unused

capacity under the agreements of $258.6 million or $206.4 million of unused capacity if reduced by the

undrawn portion of Lehmans commitment of $52.3 million described below In addition as of Decem

ber 31 2009 we had $74.9 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand which exceeds the amounts that

we would typically maintain for operating purposes as result of the recently completed debt issuances

discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndication was included in bankruptcy filing

made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on September 14 2008 Lehmans aggregate

commitment to our various agreements of $55.0 million represented 16.2% of our total revolving credit

agreement capacity of $340.0 million and we had $2.7 million outstanding under the agreements at

December 31 2009 relating to Lehmans participation We do not expect that we will replace Lehmans

commitments to our existing credit facilities given the favorable terms of our existing agreements com

pared to current market conditions However we believe we have sufficient unused capacity under our

revolving credit agreements even without the Lehman capacity to meet our short-term capital require

ments Additionally we believe we will be able to access the financial markets for other short-term capital

requirements through term loan agreements such as the ITC Holdings Term Loan Agreement executed in

April 2009 and repaid in December 2009 discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

For our long-term capital requirements we expect that we will need to obtain additional debt and

equity financing Certain of our capital projects could be delayed in the event we experience difficulties in

accessing capital We expect to be able to obtain such additional financing as needed in amounts and upon

terms that will be reasonably satisfactory to us

Credit Ratings

Standard and Poors Moodys Investor

Issuer Issuance Ratings Servicesa Service Inc.b

ITC Holdings Senior Notes BBB Baa3

lTCTransmission First Mortgage Bonds A2

METC Senior Secured Notes A2

ITO Midwest First Mortgage Bonds A2

Our Standard and Poors Rating Services credit ratings have stable outlook

On December 2009 Moodys placed the ratings of ITC Holdings and its three rated subsidiaries

lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest under review for possible upgrade

We believe our investment-grade credit ratings should provide significant degree of flexibility in

obtaining funds on competitive terms However these credit ratings reflect the views of the rating agencies

only An explanation of the significance of these ratings may be obtained from each rating agency Such

ratings are not recommendation to buy sell or hold debt securities but rather an indication of cred

itworthiness Any rating can be revised upward or downward or withdrawn at any time by rating agency if

it decides that the circumstances warrant the change Each rating should be evaluated independently of

any other rating



Covenants

Our debt instruments include senior notes secured notes first mortgage bonds and revolving credit

agreements containing numerous financial and operating covenants that place significant restrictions as

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements We are currently in compliance with all debt

covenants and in the event of downgrade in our credit ratings none of the covenants would be directly

impacted

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes cash flows for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 130900 109208 73296

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 85949 94769 67928

Revenue accrual including accrued interest 10912 83390 20325
Deferred income tax expense 75001 65054 36650

Other 7574 1240 1523
Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of

changes shown separately 27253 11020 20242
Net cash provided by operating activities 267935 195421 135784

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for property plant and equipment 404514 401840 287170
ITC Midwests asset acquisition including

acquisition direct fees 5722 794490
Other 4448 6242 6130

Net cash used in investing activities 408962 401320 1075530
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net issuance/repayment of long-term debt

including revolving credit agreements 185802 4516 981000

Issuance of common stock 3575 310543 3402
Dividends on common stock 62408 58935 48168
Refundable deposits from and repayments to

generators for transmission network

upgrades net 35051 13309

Other 4250 8040 7298
Net cash provided by financing activities 157770 261393 928936

NET INCREASE/DECREA5E IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 16743 55494 10810

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of

period 58110 2616 13426

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS End of

period 74853 58110 2616
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $72.5 million in 2009 over 2008 The increase in

cash provided by operating activities was due to an increase in cash received for operating revenues of

$95.8 million primarily as result of additional revenues collected at ITC Midwest in 2009 subsequent to

the rate freeze that was in effect during 2008 This increase was partially offset by $23.1 million of

additional interest payments net of interest capitalized during 2009 compared to 2008 due primarily to

higher outstanding balances of long-term debt

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $59.6 million in 2008 over 2007 The increase in

cash provided by operating activities was due primarily to an increase in cash received for operating

revenues of $131.9 million Additionally cash provided by operating activities increased in 2008 due to

2007 payments of $20.0 million to various transmission customers pursuant to the METC rate case

settlement discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements These increases were partially

offset by higher operating expenses of $59.4 million Additionally we made $28.7 million of additional

interest payments net of interest capitalized during 2008 compared to 2007 due primarily to higher

outstanding balances of long-term debt

Cash Flows From In vesting Activities

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Net cash used in investing activities was consistent in 2009 compared to 2008 as result of similar

levels of capital investment

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $674.2 million in 2008 compared to 2007 The

decrease in cash used in investing activities was due primarily to payments of ITC Midwests asset

acquisition purchase price and related direct acquisition fees in 2007 The decrease in cash used in

investing activities was partially offset by higher levels of capital investment in property plant and

equipment in 2008 due primarily to activities at ITC Midwest

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $103.6 million in 2009 compared to 2008 The

decrease was due to the $307.0 million of proceeds of common stock issuance costs associated with the

January 2008 public common stock offering and the net decrease in borrowings under our revolving credit

facilities of $34.6 million during 2009 as compared to 2008 These decreases were partially offset by the

2009 issuances of the $200.0 million ITC Holdings Senior Secured Notes and proceeds from the issuance

of the $35.0 million ITC Midwest First Mortgage Bonds Series

Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $667.5 million in 2008 compared to 2007 The
decrease in cash provided by financing activities was due primarily to the 2007 issuance of the $765.0 mil

lion ITC Holdings Bridge Facility used to temporarily finance ITC Midwests asset acquisition net

decrease in borrowings under our revolving credit facilities of $129.3 million during 2008 as compared to

2007 the 2007 issuance by lTCTransmission of its $100.0 million First Mortgage Bonds Series and an

additional $10.8 million of dividend payments during 2008 as compared to 2007 These decreases in cash

provided by financing activities were partially offset by $101.2 million of additional permanent financing in
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excess of the amounts redeemed in full under the ITC Holdings Bridge Facility in January 2008
$13.3 million of additional net proceeds associated with refundable deposits for transmission network

upgrades and $224.9 million of proceeds from the 2008 issuances of lTCTransmissions First Mortgage

Bonds Series METCs Senior Secured Notes and ITC Midwests First Mortgage Bonds Series and
Series

Contractual Obligations

The following table details our contractual obligations as of December 31 2009

Less Than 1-3 4-5 More Than
Total Year Years Years Years

In thousands

Long-term debt

ITC Holdings Senior Notes $1462000 $267000 50000 $1145000
lTCTransmission First Mortgage

Bonds 385000 185000 200000

lTCTransmission/METC revolving

credit agreement 57803 57803
METC Senior Secured Notes 225000 225000

ITC Midwest First Mortgage

Bonds 285000 285000

ITC Midwest revolving credit

agreement 23564 23564
Interest payments

ITC Holdings Senior Notes 922681 85683 250624 139472 446902
lTCTransmission First Mortgage

Bonds 237376 20108 56549 23750 136969
METC Senior Secured Notes 76272 13378 40133 22761
ITC Midwest First Mortgage

Bonds 413934 19146 58816 39210 296762

Operating leases 2079 482 1257 333

Purchase obligations 57349 30318 21668 5363
METC Easement Agreement 409925 10041 30123 20082 349679

Total obligations $4557983 $179156 $992537 $525971 $2860319

Interest payments included above relate only to our fixed-rate long-term debt outstanding at Decem
ber 31 2009 We also expect to pay interest and commitment fees under our variable-rate revolving credit

agreements that have not been included above due to varying amounts of borrowings and interest rates

under the facilities In 2009 we paid $1.7 million of interest and commitment fees under our revolving credit

agreements

Purchase obligations represent commitments for materials services and equipment that had not

been received as of December31 2009 primarily for construction and maintenance projects for which we
have an executed contract The majority of the items relate to materials and equipment that have long

production lead times

The Easement Agreement provides METC with an easement for transmission purposes and

rights-of-way leasehold interests fee interests and licenses associated with the land over which the

transmission lines cross The cost for use of the rights-of-way is $10.0 million per year The term of the

Easement Agreement runs through December 31 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals

thereafter unless METC gives notice of nonrenewal of at least one year in advance Payments to

Consumers Energy under the Easement Agreement are charged to operation and maintenance expense
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On December 17 2009 ITC Midwest issued $35.0 million of its $75.0 million 4.60% First Mortgage

Bonds Series due December 17 2024 the Series Bonds At December 31 2009 ITC Midwest

held lending commitment from the lenders for the additional $40.0 million and closed on the remaining

balance of Series Bonds in February 2010 This commitment is not included in the table above

Crltcal Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen

erally accepted in the United States of America GAAP The preparation of these consolidated financial

statements requires the application of appropriate technical accounting rules and guidance as well as the

use of estimates The application of these policies necessarily involves judgments regarding future events

These estimates and judgments in and of themselves could materially impact the consolidated financial

statements and disclosures based on varying assumptions as future events rarely develop exactly as

forecasted and the best estimates routinely require adjustment

The following is list of accounting policies that are most significant to the portrayal of our financial

condition and results of operations and/or that require managements most difficult subjective or complex

judgments

Regulation

Nearly all of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries business is subject to regulation by the FERC As

result we apply accounting principles in accordance with the standards set forth by the Financial

Accounting Standards Board FASB for accounting for the effects of certain types of regulation Use of

this accounting guidance results in differences in the application of GAAP between regulated and non-

regulated businesses and requires the recording of regulatory assets and liabilities for certain transactions

that would have been treated as expense or revenue in non-regulated businesses Future regulatory

changes or changes in the competitive environment could result in discontinuing the application of the

guidance for accounting for the effects of certain types of regulations
If we were to discontinue the

application of this guidance on our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations we may be required to

record losses of $238.2 million relating to the regulatory assets at December31 2009 that are described in

Note to the consolidated financial statements We also may be required to record losses of $52.0 million

relating to intangible assets at December 31 2009 that are described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements Additionally we may be required to record gains of $122.7 million relating to

regulatory liabilities at December 31 2009 primarily for asset removal costs that have been accrued

in advance of incurring these costs

We believe that currently available facts support the continued applicability the standards for

accounting for the effects of certain types of regulation and that all regulatory assets and liabilities are

recoverable or refundable under our current rate environment

Revenue Recognition under Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanisms

Beginning January 2007 for lTCTransmission and METC January 2008 for ITC Midwest and

August 18 2009 for ITC Great Plains our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries recover expenses and earn

return on and recover investments in property plant and equipment on current rather than lagging basis

under their forward-looking cost-based formula rates with true-up mechanism

Under their formula rates our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries use forecasted expenses property

plant and equipment point-to-point revenues and other itemsfor the upcoming calendar year to establish

their projected net revenue requirement and their component of the billed network rates for service on their

systems from January to December 31 of that year The formula rates include true-up mechanism

whereby our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries compare their actual net revenue requirement to their

billed revenues for each year in order to subsequently collect or refund any under-recovery or over

recovery of revenues as appropriate
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The true-up mechanisms under our formula rates meet the requirements in the Accounting Standards

Codification for accounting for rate-regulated utilities and the effects of certain alternative revenue

programs Accordingly revenue is recognized during each reporting period based on actual net revenue

requirements calculated using the cost-based formula rate Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue

or defer revenues to the extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher or

lower respectively than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period The true-up amount is

automatically reflected in customer bills within two years under the provisions of the formula rates

lTCTransmissions Rate Freeze Revenue Deferral

llCTransmissions rate freeze revenue deferral resulted from the difference between the revenue

lTClransmission would have collected under Attachment and the actual revenue ITCTransmission

received based on the frozen rate of $1 .075 kw/month for the period from February 28 2003 through
December 31 2004 The cumulative revenue deferral at the end of the rate freeze was $59.7 million

$38.8 million net of tax The revenue deferral and related taxes are not reflected as an asset or as revenue

in our consolidated financial statements because they do not meet the criteria to be recorded as regulatory

assets in accordance with accounting standards for the effects on certain types of regulation or the effects

of certain alternative revenue programs for rate-regulated utilities These standards state that an enter

prise shall capitalize all or part of an incurred cost that would otherwise be charged to expense if certain

criteria are met including whether it is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the

capitalized cost will result from inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for ratemaking purposes Although

the amortization of the revenue deferral is an allowable component of rates based on the FERCs approval

obtained for this item the revenue deferral does not represent an incurred cost Rather it is delayed

recovery of revenue based on many components of our tariff rate including incurred costs rate base
capital structure network load and other components of Attachment Additionally the standards for the

effects of certain alternative revenue programs for rate-regulated utilities state that regulated enterprise

should recognize revenue for other than incurred costs if the revenue program meets certain criteria The
revenue deferral did not satisfy the criteria of the above guidance to record the revenue deferral in the year
it was determined as the amounts will not be collected within two years following the end of the year in

which the amount was established We will recognize revenues from June 2006 through May 2011 as the

revenue deferral amount is amortized for ratemaking on straight-line basis and included in Attachment

Valuation of Goodwill

We have goodwill resulting from our acquisitions of llCTransmission and METC and ITC Midwests

acquisition of the lPL transmission assets In accordance with the standards set forth by the FASB for

goodwill we are required to perform an impairment test annually or whenever events or circumstances

indicate that the value of goodwill may be impaired In order to perform these impairment tests we
determined fair value using quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques based on

discounted future cash flows under various scenarios We also considered estimates of market-based

valuation multiples for companies within our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries peer group The market-

based multiples involve judgment regarding the appropriate peer group and the appropriate multiple to

apply in the valuation and the cash flow estimates involve judgments based on broad range of

assumptions information and historical results To the extent estimated market-based valuation multiples

and/or discounted cash flows are revised downward we may be required to write down all or portion of

goodwill which would adversely impact earnings As of December31 2009 consolidated goodwill totaled

$950.2 million and we determined that no impairment existed at lTCTransmission METC or ITC Midwest

as of our goodwill impairment testing date of October 2009

Contingent Obligations

We are subject to number of federal and state laws and regulations as well as other factors and

conditions that potentially subject us to environmental litigation income tax and other risks We
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periodically evaluate our exposure to such risks and record reserves for those matters where loss is

considered probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with GAAP The adequacy of reserves can

be significantly affected by external events or conditions that can be unpredictable thus the ultimate

outcome of such matters could materially affect our financial statements These events or conditions

include the following

Changes in existing state or federal regulation governmentai authorities having jurisdiction over

air quality water quality control of toxic substances hazardous and solid wastes and other

environmental matters

Changes in existing federal income tax laws or Internal Revenue Service regulations

Identification and evaluation of potential lawsuits or complaints in which we may be or have been

named as defendant

Resolution or progression of existing matters through the legislative process the courts the Internal

Revenue Service or the Environmental Protection Agency

Valuation of Share-Based Payments

Our accounting for share-based payments requires us to determine the fair value of awards of ITC

Holdings common stock We use the value of ITC Holdings common stock at the date of grant in the

calculation of the fair value of our share-based awards The fair value of stock options held by our employees

is determined using Black-Scholes option valuation method which is valuation technique that is

acceptable for share-based payment accounting Key assumptions in determining fair value include volatility

risk-free interest rate dividend yield and expected lives In the event different assumptions were used

different fair value would be derived that could cause the related expense to be materially higher or lower

Pension and Postretirement Costs

We sponsor certain post employment benefits to our employees which include retirement plans and

certain postretirement health care dental and life insurance benefits Our periodic costs and obligations

associated with these post employment plans are developed from actuarial valuations derived from

number of assumptions including rates of return on plan assets the discount rate the rate of increase in

health care costs the amount and timing of plan sponsor contributions and demographic factors such as

retirements mortality and turnover among others We evaluate these assumptions annually and update

them periodically to reflect our actual experience Three critical assumptions in determining our periodic

costs and obligations are discount rate expected long-term return on plan assets and the rate of increases

in health care costs The discount rate represents the market rate for synthesized double-A zero coupon

bonds with durations corresponding to the expected durations of the benefit obligations and is used to

calculate the present value of the expected future cash flows for benefit obligations under our post

employment plans For our rate of return on plan assets we consider the current and expected asset

allocations as well as historical and expected long-term rates of return on those types of plan assets in

determining the expected long-term return on plan assets Assumed health care cost trend rates have

significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans as described in Note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements

Oft-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have material

effect on our financial condition

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to the consolidated financial statements
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Commodity Price Risk

We have commodity price risk at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries arising from market price
fluctuations for materials such as copper aluminum steel oil and gas and other goods used in con
struction and maintenance activities Higher costs of these materials are passed on to us by the

contractors for these activities These items affect only cash flows as the amounts are included as

components of net revenue requirement and any higher costs are included in rates under their cost-based

formula rates

Interest Rate Risk

Fixed Rate Long Term Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with similar terms and average
maturities the fair value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding revolving credit agreements was
$2165.9 million at December 31 2009 The total book value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding

revolving credit agreements was $2353.0 million at December 31 2009 We performed an analysis

calculating the impact of changes in interest rates on the fair value of long-term debt excluding revolving
credit agreements at December 31 2009 An increase in interest rates of 10% from 7.0% to 7.7% for

example at December 31 2009 would decrease the fair value of debt by $84.9 million and decrease in

interest rates of 10% at December31 2009 would increase the fair value of debt by $92.9 million at that date

Revolving Credit Agreements

At December 31 2009 we had consolidated total of $81.4 million outstanding under our revolving

credit agreements which are variable rate loans and therefore fair value approximates book value 10%
increase or decrease in borrowing rates under the revolving credit agreements compared to the weighted

average rates in effect at December31 2009 would increase or decrease the total interest expense by less

than $0.1 million respectively for an annual period on constant borrowing level of $81.4 million

Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily with Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and lPL which were responsible
for 37.7% 23.6% and 22.5% respectively of our consolidated operating revenues for 2009 These
percentages assume portion of the 2009 revenue accruals and deferrals included in our 2009 operating

revenues which will be billed to our customers in 2011 would be paid by Detroit Edison Consumers
Energy and lPL in the future based on the respective percentage of network revenues billed to them in

2009 Under Detroit Edisons and Consumers Energys current rate structure Detroit Edison and Con
sumers Energy include in their retail rates the actual cost of transmission services provided by ITC
Transmission and METC respectively in their billings to their customers effectively passing through to

end-use consumers the total cost of transmission service lPL currently includes in their retail rates an

allowance for transmission services provided by ITC Midwest in their billings to their customers However
any financial difficulties experienced by Detroit Edison Consumers Energy or lPL mayaffect their ability

to make payments for transmission service to lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest which could

negatively impact our business MISO as our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries billing agent bills

Detroit Edison Consumers Energy lPL and other customers on monthly basis and collects fees for the

use of our transmission systems SPF the billing agent for ITC Great Plains began to bill ITC Great Plains

2009 network revenues in January 2010 retroactive to August 18 2009 MISO and SPP have imple
mented strict credit policies for its members customers which include customers using our transmission

systems In general if these customers do not maintain their investment grade credit rating or have

history of late payments MISO and SPP may require them to provide MISO and the SPP with letter of

credit or cash deposit equal to the highest monthly invoiced amount over the previous twelve months
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable not absolute

assurance as to the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Internal control over financial reporting no

matter how well designed has inherent limitations Therefore internal control over financial reporting

determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement

preparation and may not prevent or detect all misstatements

Under managements supervision an evaluation of the design and effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting was conducted based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
Our assessment included extensive documenting evaluating and testing of the design and operating

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting Based on this evaluation management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009

Deloitte Touche LLF an independent registered public accounting firm as auditors of our consol

idated financial statements has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 Deloitte Touche LLPs report which expresses an

unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting is included herein
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

ITC Holdings Corp

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of ITC Holdings

Corp and subsidiaries the Company as of Deueuibei 31 2009 arid 2008 and the related consolidated

statements of operations changes in stockholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 Our audits also included the financial

statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and financial statement

schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that

our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of ITC Holdings Corp and subsidiaries as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December31

2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in

our opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated

financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the information set forth

therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2010

expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

/s/ DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 25 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

ITC Holdings Corp

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of ITC Holdings Corp and subsidiaries

the Company as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The
Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in

all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides
reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the super
vision of the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar

functions and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain

to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide rea
sonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or dispo
sition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility
of collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud

may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness

of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanyAccounting Oversight
Board United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and

for the year ended December31 2009 of the Company and our report dated February 252010 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 25 2010
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

In thousands except share data
2009 2008

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
74853 58110

Accounts receivable 72352 57638

Inventory
36834 25077

Deferred income taxes 23859

Regulatory assets revenue accrual including accrued interest of $2652 and

$1637 respectively
82871 22301

Other 3244 4147

Total current assets 294013 167273

Property plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation and amortization

of $1051045 and $925890 respectively 2542064 2304386

Other assets

Goodwill 950163 951319

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization of $9095 and $6050

respectively 51987 52357

Regulatory assets revenue accrual including accrued interest of $75 and $1512

respectively
20406 81643

Other regulatory assets 134924 120513

Deferred financing fees net of accumulated amortization of $9616 and $8048

respectively
21672 21410

Other 14487 15664

Total other assets 1193639 1242906

TOTAL ASSETS $4029716 $3714565

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
43508 79403

Accrued payroll
13648 10331

Accrued interest 39099 37779

Accrued taxes 21188 18104

Deferred income taxes 6476

Refundable deposits from generators for transmission network upgrades 25891 8701

Other 3344 5384

Total current liabilities 146678 166178

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities 31158 24295

Deferred income taxes 255516 144889

Regulatory liabilities revenue deferral including accrued interest of $186 10238

Regulatory liabilities accrued asset removal costs 112430 196656

Refundable deposits from generators for transmission network upgrades 17664 1500

Other 10111 3731

Long-term debt 2434398 2248253

Commitments and contingent liabilities Notes and 16
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock without par value 100000000 shares authorized 50084061 and

49654518 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively 862512 848624

Retained earnings
149776 81268

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 765 829

Total stockholders equity 1011523 929063

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $4029716 $3714565

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

In thousands except per share data 2009 2008 2007

OPERATING REVENUES $621015 $617877 $426249
OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance 95730 113818 81406
General and administrative 69231 81296 62089

Depreciation and amortization 85949 94769 67928
Taxes other than income taxes 43905 41180 33340
Other operating income and expense net 667 809 688

Total operating expenses 294148 330254 244075

OPERATING INCOME 326867 287623 182174
OTHER EXPENSES INCOME

Interest expense 130209 122234 81863

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 13203 11610 8145
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1263 349

Other income 2792 3415 3457
Other expense 2918 3944 1618

Total other expenses income 118395 111153 72228

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 208472 176470 109946
INCOME TAX PROVISION 77572 67262 36650

NET INCOME $130900 $109208 73296

Basic earnings per common share Note 2.62 2.22 1.72

Diluted earnings per common share Note 2.58 2.18 1.68

Dividends declared per common share 1.250 1.190 1.130

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Common Stock
Retained

Shares Amount arnings ______________

In thousands except share and per share data

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2006 42395760 $526485

Net income

Repurchase and retirement of common stock 41867 841

Common stock issuance costs

Dividends declared on common stock $1 .130 per

share
Stock option

exercises 351172

Shares issued under the Employee Stock Purchase

Plan 8922

Issuance of restricted stock 228644

Forfeiture of restricted stock 25779
Amortization of share-based compensation net of

forfeitures 4062

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow hedges net

oftax$34

Comprehensive income
_________ ________ ________

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2007

Net income

Common stock issuance costs

Dividends declared on common stock $1 .190 per

share

Issuance of common stock

Stock option exercises

Shares issued under the Employee Stock Purchase

Plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Amortization of share-based compensation net of

forfeitures

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow hedges net

of tax $34

Other

Comprehensive income

Employers accounting for defined benefit pension and

other postretirement plans change in measurement

date provisions

Service cost interest cost and expected return on

plan assets for October December31 2007

net of tax of $400

Amortization of prior service cost and losses for

October December31 2007 net of tax of

$140 ____ ___ ___
BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2008

Net income

Repurchase and retirement of common stock

Dividends declared on common stock $1 .250 per

share

Stock
option

exercises

Shares issued under the Employee Stock Purchase

Plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Vesting of deferred stock units

Amortization of share-based compensation net of

forfeitures

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow hedges net

of tax $34

State tax deduction for stock compensation exceeding

book value

Other

Comprehensive income
_________ ________

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2009 50084061 $862512 $149776

6714

73296

42916852 $532103 31864

109208

755

6420737

141883

18593

172261

15808

308317

1460

766

Accumulated
Other Total

Comprehensive Stockholders

Loss Equity

$955 532244

73296

1841

48168 48168

3081 3081

321 321

4062

63 63

$892 563075

109208

755

58953 58953
308317

1460

766

7251

63 63

518

647

225

$829 929063

130900

31

62421
2522

1053

29

9977

64

129

238

______ ______
$765 $1011523

7251

518

647

Comprehensive
tIUuuuI

73296

63

73359

$109208

63

$109271

$130900

64

$130964

49654518 $848624

700 31

223975 2522

225

81268

130900

62421

28681 1053

189264

16894 29

5217

9977

64

129

238

See notes to consolidated financial statements



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

See notes to consolidated financial statements

2009 2008 2007
In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 130900 109208 73296

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 85949 94769 67928

Revenue accrual and deferral including accrued interest 10912 83390 20325

Deferred income tax expense 75001 65054 36650

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 13203 11610 8145

Recognition of ITC Great Plains regulatory assets 8191

Other 13820 10370 6622

Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of changes shown separately

Accounts receivable 12986 14455 3023

Inventory 14599 10237 18016

Other current assets 903 629 6469

Accounts payable 6097 14948 9533

Accrued payroll 2003 778 3401

Accrued interest 1320 14693 4172

Accrued taxes 3073 3600 779

METC rate case accrued liability 20000

Other current liabilities 2049 1191 2952
Other non-current assets and liabilities net 1179 1131 605

Net cash provided by operating activities 267935 195421 135784

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for property plant and equipment 404514 401840 287170

ITC Midwests asset acquisition purchase price 4714 783113

ITC Midwests asset acquisition direct fees 1008 11377

Other 4448 6242 6130

Net cash used in investing activities 408962 401320 1075530

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of long-term debt 333670 782782 865000

Repayment of long-term debt 100000 765000

Borrowings under short-term loan agreement 25000

Repayment of short-term loan agreement 25000

Borrowings under revolving credit agreements 623966 657733 678200

Repayments of revolving credit agreements 671834 670999 562200

Issuance of common stock 3575 310543 3402

Dividends on common stock 62408 58935 48168

Refundable deposits from generators for transmission network upgrades 40279 15661

Repayment of refundable deposits from generators for transmission network

upgrades 5228 2352
Other 4250 8040 7298

Net cash provided by financing activities 157770 261393 928936

NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16743 55494 10810

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of period 58110 2616 13426

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS End of period 74853 58110 2616
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

TC Hodings Corp TC HoIdings and together with its subsidiaries we our or us was

incorporated for the purpose of acquiring International Transmission Company ITCTransmission from

DTE Energy Company DTE Energy Following the approval of the transaction by the Federal Energy

Regulatory Commission the FERC ITC Holdings acquired the outstanding ownership interests of

llCTransmission on February 28 2003

On October 10 2006 ITC Holdings acquired an indirect ownership through various intermediate

entities of all the partnership interests in Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership MTH the

sole member of Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC METC
On December 20 2007 ITC Midwest LLC ITC Midwest wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC

Holdings completed the acquisition of the transmission assets of Interstate Power and Light Company

IPL an Alliant Energy Corporation subsidiary

On August 18 2009 ITC Great Plains LLC ITC Great Plains wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC

Grid Development LLC ITC Grid Development which is wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Holdings

completed the acquisition of two electric transmission substations from Mid-Kansas Electric Company

LLC Mid-Kansas and implemented its cost-based formula rate as described in Note

Through lTCTransmission METC ITC Midwest and ITC Great Plains together our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries we are engaged in the transmission of electricity in the United States Our

business strategy is to operate maintain and invest in transmission infrastructure in order to enhance

system integrity and reliability to reduce transmission constraints and to allow new generating resources

to interconnect to our transmission systems By pursuing this strategy we strive for high reliability of our

systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of choice including renewable sources We

operate high-voltage systems in Michigans Lower Peninsula and portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois

Missouri and Kansas that transmit electricity from generating stations to local distribution facilities

connected to our systems

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are independent electric transmission utilities with rates

regulated by the FERC and established on cost-of-service model lTCTransmissions service area is

located in southeastern Michigan and METCs service area covers approximately two-thirds of Michigans

Lower Peninsula and is contiguous with lTCTransmissions service area with nine interconnection points

ITC Midwests service area is located in portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois and Missouri and ITC Great

Plains service area is currently located in Kansas The Midwest Independent Transmission System

Operator Inc MISO bills and collects revenues from lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwests

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries customers Southwest Power Pool Inc SPP bills and

collects revenue from ITC Great Plains customers

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

summary of the major accounting policies followed in the preparation of the accompanying

consolidated financial statements which conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America GAAP is presented below

Principles of Consolidation ITC Holdings consolidates its majority owned subsidiaries We

eliminate all intercompany balances and transactions

Use of Estimates The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with

GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets

liabilities revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities Actual

results may differ from these estimates
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Regulation Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of

the FERC which issues orders pertaining to rates recovery of certain costs including the costs of

transmission assets and regulatory assets conditions of service accounting financing authorization

and
operating-related matters The electric transmission operations of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries meet the accounting standards set forth by the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB for the accounting effects of certain types of regulation These accounting standards

recognize the cost-based rate setting process which results in differences in the application of

GAAP between regulated and non-regulated businesses These standards require the recording of

regulatory assets and liabilities for transactions that would have been recorded as revenue and

expense in non-regulated businesses Regulatory assets represent costs that will be included as

component of future tariff rates and regulatory liabilities represent amounts provided in the current

tariff rates that are intended to recover costs expected to be incurred in the future or amounts to be

refunded to customers

Cash and Cash Equivalents We consider all unrestricted highly-liquid temporary investments

with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows The following table presents certain supplementary
cash flows information for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Year Ended December 31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Supplementary cash flows information

Interest paid net of interest capitalized $125254 $102149 $73489

Federal and state income taxes paid 1971 2012 2058

Supplementary non-cash investing and financing

activities

Additions to property plant and equipmenta 23169 54689 33998
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 13203 11610 8145

Amounts consist of current liabilities for construction labor and materials that have not been

included in investing activities These amounts have not been paid for as of December 31 2009
2008 or 2007 respectively but have been or will be included as cash outflow from investing

activities for expenditures for property plant and equipment when paid

Accounts Receivable We recognize losses for uncollectible accounts based on specific

identification of any such items As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we did not have an accounts

receivable reserve

Inventories Materials and supplies inventories are valued at average cost

Propert% Plant and Equipment Depreciation and amortization expense on property plant and

equipment was $76.8 million $85.6 million and $58.7 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Property plant and equipment in service at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is stated at its

original cost when first devoted to utility service The gross book value of assets retired less salvage

proceeds is charged to accumulated depreciation The provision for depreciation of transmission

assets is significant component of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries cost of service under

FERC approved rates Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful lives of the assets using
the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes and accelerated methods for income tax

reporting purposes The composite depreciation rate for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

included in our consolidated statements of operations was 2.6% 3.0% and 3.2% for 2009 2008

66



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

and 2007 respectively Both lTCTransmission and METC implemented new depreciation rates

effective for the year ended December 31 2009 Refer to Note for additional discussion of these

depreciation rate changes The composite depreciation rates inckide depreciation primary on

transmission station equipment towers poles and overhead and underground lines that have

useful life ranging from 30 to 75 years The portion of depreciation expense related to asset removal

costs is added to regulatory liabilities and removal costs incurred are deducted from regulatory

liabilities Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries capitalize an allowance for the cost of equity and

borrowings used during construction AFUDC in accordance with FERC regulations The AFUDC

debt of $3.9 million $3.5 million and $2.6 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively was

reduction to interest expense The AFUDC equity was $13.2 million $11.6 million and $8.1 million for

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Property plant and equipment includes capital equipment inventory stated at original cost

consisting of items that are expected to be used exclusively for capital projects

Property plant and equipment at ITC Holdings and non-regulated subsidiaries is stated at its

acquired cost Proceeds from salvage less the net book value of assets disposed of is recognized as

gain or loss on disposal Depreciation is computed based on the acquired cost less expected residual

value over the estimated useful lives of the assets on straight-line method for financial reporting

purposes and accelerated methods for income tax reporting purposes

Software Costs We capitalize the costs associated with computer software we develop or

obtain for use in our business which is included in property plant and equipment We amortize

computer software costs on straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit once the installed

software is ready for its intended use

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than for goodwill our long-lived assets are reviewed

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the expected undiscounted future

cash flows generated by the asset an impairment loss is recognized resulting in the asset being

written down to its estimated fair value

Goodwill and Intangible Assets We comply with the standards set forth by the FASB for

goodwill and other intangible assets Under these standards goodwill and other intangibles
with

indefinite lives are not subject to amortization However goodwill and other intangibles are subject to

fair value-based rules for measuring impairment and resulting write-downs if any are to be reflected

in operating expense In order to perform these impairment tests we determined fair value using

valuation techniques based on discounted future cash flows under various scenarios and we also

considered estimates of market-based valuation multiples for companies within the peer group of the

reporting unit that has goodwill recorded These accounting standards require that goodwill be

reviewed at least annually for impairment and whenever facts or circumstances indicate that the

carrying amounts may not be recoverable We completed our annual goodwill impairment test for

each of our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries as of October 2009 and determined that no

impairment exists There were no events subsequent to October 2009 that indicated impairment of

our goodwill Our intangible assets have finite lives and are amortized over their useful lives refer to

Note

Deferred Financing Fees The costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are deferred and

amortized over the life of the debt issue The debt discount or premium related to the issuance of long

term debt is recorded to long-term debt and amortized over the life of the debt issue We recorded to

interest expense the amortization of deferred financing fees and the amortization of our debt

discounts for 2009 2008 and 2007 of $3.3 million $3.2 million and $2.1 million respectively
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Asset Retirement Obligations We comply with the standards set forth by the FASB for asset

retirement obligations As defined in the standards conditional asset retirement obligation refers to

legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement

are conditional on future event that may or may not be within our control We have identified

conditional asset retirement obligations primarily associated with the removal of equipment containing

polychlorinated biphenyls PCBs and asbestos We record liability at fair value for legal asset

retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred When new legal obligation is recorded we
capitalize the costs of the liability by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset We
accrete the liability to its present value each period and depreciate the capitalized cost over the useful

life of the related asset At the end of the assets useful life we settle the obligation for its recorded

amount or incur gain or loss The standards for asset retirement obligation applied to our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries require us to recognize regulatory assets or liabilities for the timing differences

between when we recover legal asset retirement obligations in rates and when we would recognize
these costs under the standards Our asset retirement obligations as of December31 2009 and 2008
of $3.5 million and $2.0 million respectively are included in other liabilities

Contingent Obligations We are subject to number of federal and state laws and regulations

as well as other factors and conditions that potentially subject us to environmental litigation and other

risks We periodically evaluate our exposure to such risks and record reserves for those matters

where loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with GAAR The

adequacy of reserves can be significantly affected by external events or conditions that can be

unpredictable thus the ultimate outcome of such matters could materially affect our consolidated

financial statements

Generator Interconnection Projects Certain capital investment at our MISO Regulated Oper
ating Subsidiaries relates to investments we make under generator interconnection agreements The
generator interconnection agreements typically consist of both transmission network upgrades which

have been deemed by FERC to benefit the transmission system as whole as well as direct

connection facilities which are needed to interconnect the generating facility to the transmission

system and primarily benefit the generating facility Our investment in transmission network upgrade
facilities are recorded to property plant and equipment For direct connection facilities we collect

contribution in aid of construction from the generator for the cost of the facilities and offset the

contribution against the plant investment recorded to property plant and equipment

We receive deposits or other security from the generator for the network upgrade facilities in

advance of construction When the generator meets certain criteria of Attachment FF of the MISO
tariff such as having long-term sales agreement at the commercial operation date for the generating

capacity of the facility we refund the cash deposits or release other security that was provided If the

generator does not meet these criteria the deposit is retained or other security drawn upon and is

recorded as an offset against the plant investment recorded to property plant and equipment When
the cash or other security received is not refunded under the criteria of Attachment FF the receipt of

cash becomes taxable income for us for which we bill the generator tax gross-up The tax gross-up

represents the difference between taxable income associated with the contribution compared to the

present value of tax depreciation of the property constructed using the taxable contribution in aid of

construction The deferred revenues associated with the tax gross-up is recorded to other long-term

liabilities when collected and amortized based on the effective interest method over the tax depre
ciation life of the asset to other operating income and expense-net

Revenues Revenues from the transmission of electricity are recognized as services are

provided We record reserve for revenue subject to refund when such refund is probable and

can be reasonably estimated The reserve is recorded as reduction to operating revenues
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The cost-based formula rates at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries include true-up mech

anism whereby they compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed revenues for each

year and record revenue accruai or deferrai For the diffeieice Refer to Note under Cost-Based

Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism for discussion of our revenue accounting under our cost-

based formula rate templates

Property Taxes We use calendar year method of accounting for property taxes Property tax

expense is accrued on straight-line basis over the calendar year immediately following the tax lien

date or assessment date of each year

Share-Based Payment We have an Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option

Plan for Key Employees of ITC Holdings Corp and its subsidiaries the 2003 Stock Purchase and

Option Plan and an Amended and Restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP pursuant to

which we grant various share-based awards including options and restricted stock and deferred stock

units Compensation expense for employees and directors is recorded for stock options restricted

stock awards and deferred stock units based on their fair value at the grant date and is amortized over

the expected vesting period We recognize expense for our stock options which have graded vesting

schedules on straight-line basis over the entire vesting period and not for each separately vesting

portion of the award The grant date is the date at which our commitment to issue share based awards

to the employee or director arises which is generally the later of the board approval date the date of

hire of the employee or the date of the employees compensation agreement which contains the

commitment to issue the award

We also have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP which is compensatory plan

Compensation expense is recorded based on the fair value of the purchase options at the grant date

which corresponds to the first day of each purchase period and is amortized over the purchase

period

Comprehensive Income Loss Comprehensive income loss is the change in common

stockholders equity during period arising from transactions and events from non-owner sources

including net income

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are recognized for the expected future tax conse

quences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statements and

tax bases of various assets and liabilities using the tax rates expected to be in effect for the year in

which the differences are expected to reverse

The accounting standards for uncertainty in income taxes prescribe recognition threshold and

measurement attribute for tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax return that may not be

sustainable reserve was recorded for an uncertain tax position relating to the METC acquisition as

described in Note 10

We file income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service and with various state and city

jurisdictions We are no longer subject to U.S federal tax examinations for tax years 2006 and earlier

The Internal Revenue Service completed its examination of our 2006 federal tax returns in January

2010 State and city jurisdictions that remain subject to examination range from tax years 2003 to

2007 The State of Michigan completed its examination of the 2004 through 2006 Michigan Single

Business Tax returns for ITCTransmission in January 2009 The Internal Revenue Service and State

of Michigan examinations did not result in any material adjustments to our consolidated financial

statements In the event we are assessed interest or penalties by any income tax jurisdictions interest

would be recorded as interest expense and penalties would be recorded as other expense
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles

In June 2009 the FASB Accounting Standard Codification ASC and the Hierarchy of GAAP was

completed The ASC is the single source of authoritative GAAF other than guidance put forth by the

Securities Exchange Commission SECAll other accounting literature not included in the codification

will be considered non-authoritative We adopted the ASC for the quarterly period ended September 30
2009 and the references to the superseded FASB pronouncement titles have been removed throughout
this Form 10-K The adoption of the ASC did not have material impact on our consolidated financial

statements

Earnings per Share

Effective January 2009 unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights

to dividends or dividend equivalents are considered participating securities and are included in com
puting earnings per share using the two-class method The rights to dividends or dividend equivalents

result in non-contingent transfer of value each time an entity declares dividend or dividend equivalent

during the awards vesting period We retroactively adjusted prior period earnings per share computations
to reflect the two-class method Refer to our earnings per share calculation in Note

Business Combinations

The new guidance for business combinations effective January 2009 set forth by the FASB states

that an acquiring entity must recognize all and only the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the

transaction and establish the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets

acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination Certain provisions will among other things

impact the determination of acquisition-date fair value of consideration paid in business combination

including contingent consideration exclude transaction costs from acquisition accounting and require

expense recognition for these costs and change accounting practices for acquired contingencies

acquisition-related restructuring costs in-process research and development indemnification assets

and tax benefits The adoption of this guidance did not have material effect on our consolidated financial

statements however it is expected to have material impact on the accounting for any future business

combinations we may consummate

Fair Value Measurements

The new guidance set forth by the FASB for fair value measurements clarifies the definition of fair

value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands the disclosures on fair value

measurements Adoption of the framework for financial instruments as required at January 2008 did not

have material effect on our consolidated financial statements However we are required to provide

additional disclosure as part of our consolidated financial statements Effective January 2009 non
financial assets and non-financial liabilities such as goodwill and intangible assets held by us are

measured annually pursuant to new accounting standards for impairment testing purposes Refer to

our fair value measurement disclosure in Note 12

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The new FASB requirements for accounting for derivative instruments and hedging require enhanced
disclosures about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments how derivative instruments and

related hedged items are accounted for and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect
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an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows Qualitative disclosures about objec

tives and strategies for using derivatives quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts of gains and

losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative

agreements are required in the financial statements The disclosure requirements did not have material

impact on our consolidated financial statements

Employers Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets

The new disclosure requirements set forth by the FASB regarding employers plan assets include

employers investment strategies major categories of plan assets concentrations of risk within plan

assets and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets and are effective for us for

the year ended December 31 2009 Refer to Note 11

Subsequent Events

We have incorporated certain guidance that previously existed under generally accepted auditing

standards which requires the disclosure of the date through which subsequent events have been

evaluated and whether that date is the date on which the financial statements were issued or the date

on which the financial statements were available to be issued We adopted the new guidance in the second

quarter of 2009 We evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued

The updated guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

The new consolidation guidance set forth by the FASB applicable to variable interest entity VIE
and the guidance governing the determination of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of VIE

and is therefore required to consolidate an entity requires qualitative analysis rather than quantitative

analysis The qualitative analysis will include among other things consideration of who has the power to

direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance and who

has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be

significant to the VIE Continuous reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of

VIE and enhanced disclosures about an enterprises involvement with VIE are also required Previously

reconsideration of whether an enterprise was the primary beneficiary of VIE arose only when specific

events had occurred These requirements became effective for us for in the first quarter of 2010 We do not

expect this guidance to have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

REGULATORY MATTERS

ITC Great Plains

On January 15 2009 ITC Great Plains filed an application with the FERC for the approval of cost-

based formula rate with true-up mechanism to apply to ITC Great Plains transmission facilities in SPF

including Kansas The application sought approval of formula rate for ITC Great Plains as an indepen

dent transmission company in SPR The application also sought transmission investment incentives for

major transmission projects that ITC Great Plains has committed to construct in Kansas including the

Kansas Electric Transmission Authority KETA Project which would run from Spearville Kansas to

point near Hays Kansas and then northward to Axtell Nebraska and the Kansas V-Plan which would run

from Spearville southward to Comanche County Kansas and then on northeastern track to Wichita

Kansas Additionally the application sought approval of the recovery of start-up and development

expenses of ITC Great Plains and other development expenses relating to the KETA Project and Kansas

V-Plan through the recognition of regulatory assets
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On March 16 2009 the FERC issued an order approving ITC Great Plains request for transmission

investment incentives The approval of the application provides ITC Great Plains with the regulatory

certainty needed to make significant transmission investments in the SPP region generally and Kansas in

particular Specifically the FERC order authorized

the establishment of regulatory assets for start-up and development costs of ITC Great Plains and

pre-construction costs specific to the KETA Project and the Kansas V-Plan to be recovered

subsequent to future FERC filing

an incentive return on common equity of 12.16 percent

inclusion of 100 percent of construction work in progress for the KETA and V-Plan projects in rate

base

abandoned plant recovery in the event either the KETA Project or the Kansas V-Plan must be

abandoned for reasons outside of ITC Great Plains control and

capital structure comprised of 60 percent equity and 40 percent debt

Further the FERC order conditionally accepted ITC Great Plains proposed formula rate tariff sheets

subject to refund and set them for hearing and Settlement Judge procedures The approved transmission

investment incentives and return on equity were specifically excluded from any hearing process During

September 2009 ITC Great Plains FERC Staff and intervening parties reached an agreement in principle

to resolve all of the issues set for hearing and Settlement Judge procedures On October 23 2009 ITC

Great Plains FERC Staff and the intervening parties filed an offer of settlement with the FERC to resolve

all of the issues set for hearing and Settlement Judge procedures which the FE RC accepted on February
2010

In July 2009 we recorded approximately $8.2 million of regulatory assets for development expenses
incurred by ITC Great Plains through June 30 2009 that became probable of recovery and recorded

corresponding $8.2 million reduction to operating expenses primarily to general and administrative

expense These development expenses became probable of recovery due to progress made relating

to the KETA project and the likelihood of meeting the requirement to have at least $100 million of plant in-

service at ITC Great Plains to recover the development expenses Subsequent to the initial recognition of

these regulatory assets we recorded an additional $1.8 millionof costs incurred during the third and fourth

quarter of 2009 directly to regulatory assets The regulatory asset includes amounts relating to devel

opment activities of ITC Great Plains as well as pre-construction costs for the KETA Project Based on ITC

Great Plains application and the FERC order ITC Great Plains will be required to make an additional filing

with the FERC under Section 205 of the Federal Power Act in order to recover these start-up development

and pre-construction expenses

The regulatory assets recorded at ITC Great Plains do not include amounts associated with pre
construction costs for the Kansas V-Plan In the period in which it becomes probable that future revenues

will result from the authorization to recover pre-construction expenses for the Kansas V-Plan which totaled

$0.9 million at December 31 2009 we will record reduction to operating expenses and recognize the

regulatory asset

In August 2009 ITC Great Plains purchased two electric transmission substations from Mid-Kansas

with net book value of $4.7 million ITC Great Plains now operates the 138 kV Flat Ridge Substation

located in Barber County Kansas and the 230 kV Elm Creek Substation located in Cloud County Kansas
under services agreement with Mid-Kansas The acquisition allows ITC Great Plains to now participate in

SPP as transmission owner Upon acquisition of these electric transmission assets ITC Great Plains

implemented its cost-based formula rate and recognizes revenues based on its actual net revenue

requirement pursuant to Attachment of the SPP tariff
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Green Power EKpress

On Februari 2009 Green Power Express filed an application with the FERC for approval of cost-

based formula rate with true-up mechanism and incentives for the construction of the Green Power

Express project including the approval of regulatory asset for recovery of development expenses

previously incurred as well as future development costs for the project We have identified network of

transmission lines that would facilitate the movement of 12000 megawatts of power from the wind-

abundant areas in the Dakotas Minnesota and Iowa to Midwest load centers that demand clean

renewable energy The Green Power Express project would traverse portions of North Dakota South

Dakota Minnesota Iowa Wisconsin Illihois and Indiana and is ultimately expected to include approx

imately 3000 mies of extra high-voltage 765 kV transmission The entire project is currently estimated to

cost approximately $10 to $12 billion Portions of the Green Power Express project fall within the service

territory of ITC Midwest ITC Holdings expects to partner with other utilities within the geographical

footprint of the Green Power Express project and therefore expects to invest in only portion of the total

project cost

On April 10 2009 the FERC issued an order approving Green Power Express request for trans

mission investment incentives Specifically the FERC order authorized

the establishment of regulatory asset for start-up and development costs of Green Power Express

and pre-construction costs for the project to be recovered subsequent to future FERC filing

an incentive return on common equity of 12.38 percent

inclusion Df 100 percent of construction work in progress in rate base

abandoned plant recovery in the event the project must be abandoned for reasons outside of Green

Power Express control and

use of hypothetical capital structure comprised of 60 percent equity and 40 percent debt until any

portion of the Green Power Express project is placed in service at which date the actual capital

structure also expected to be 60 percent equity and 40 percent debt will apply

Further the FERC order conditionally accepted Green Power Express proposed formula rate tariff

sheets subject to refund and set them for hearing and Settlement Judge procedures The approved

transmission investment incentives and return on equity were specifically excluded from any hearing

process Subsequent to the FERC order Green Power Express FERC Staff and intervening parties have

participated in settlement discussions before FERC Administrative Law Judge Drafts of an offer of

settlement and supporting documents that would resolve all of the issues set for hearing in the 2009 order

are under review by the parties

The total development expenses at Green Power Express through December 31 2009 that may be

recoverable through regulatory assets were approximately $4.5 million which have been recorded to

expenses in the periods in which they were incurred In the period in which it becomes probable that future

revenues will result from the authorization to recover these pre-construction expenses we would record

reduction to operating expenses and recognize the regulatory assets No revenue or regulatory assets

were recorded as of December 31 2009

Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up Mechanism

The transmission rates at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are generally set annually and

remain in effect for one-year period Rates are posted on the Open Access Same-Time Information

System each year By completing their formula rate template on an annual basis our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries are able to adjust their transmission rates to reflect changing operational data and financial
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performance including the amount of network load on their transmission systems operating expenses

and additions to property plant and equipment when placed in service among other items The FERC
approved formula rates do not require further action or FERC filings for the calculated joint zone rates to go

into effect although the rate is subject to legal challenge at the FERC The formula rates will continue to be

used by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries to calculate their respective annual net revenue require

ments until and unless it is determined by the FERC to be unjust and unreasonable or another mechanism

is determined by the FERC to be just and reasonable

Our cost-based formula rate templates include true-up mechanism whereby our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed revenues for each

year to determine any over- or under-collection of revenue requirement Our formula rates and any over- or

under-collection of revenue requirements meet the accounting requirements for rate-regulated utilities for

the effects of certain alternative revenue programs Accordingly revenue is recognized for services

provided during each reporting period based on actual net revenue requirements calculated using the

formula rate template Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue or defer revenues to the extent that

the actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher or lower respectively than the

amounts billed relating to that reporting period The true-up amount is automatically reflected in customer

bills within two years under the provisions of the formula rate templates

Complaint of IPL

On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint with the FERC against ITC Midwest under Section 206

of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleged that the operations and maintenance expenses and

administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appeared excessive the

true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through December 31 2008
will cause hG Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the methodology of allocating

administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating companies was changed resulting in

such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest Among other things IPLs complaint sought

investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission service charges reflected in its

2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness of the 2009 rate with the

ultimate goal of reducing such rate

On April 16 2009 the FERC issued an order that dismissed the IPL complaint citing that IPL failed

to meet its burden as the complainant to establish that the current rate is unjust and unreasonable and to

establish that IPLs alternative rate proposal is just and reasonable Requests for rehearing have been

filed with the FERC so the April 16 order remains subject to rehearing and ultimately to an appeal to

federal Court of Appeals within 30 days of any decision on rehearing

METC Rate Case Settlement

On January 192007 METC and other parties to the rate case entered into settlement agreement to

resolve all outstanding matters in METCs pending rate case before the FERC including those set for

hearing in the FERC December 30 2005 rate order which authorized METC beginning on January

2006 to charge rates for its transmission service using the rate setting formula contained in Attachment

The terms of this settlement agreement were approved by the FERC on August 29 2007 and no parties

filed for rehearing within the allowed 30-day period subsequent to the approval Pursuant to the settlement

in October 2007 METC made payments totaling $20.0 million to various transmission customers in lieu of

any and all refunds and/or interest payment requirements in this proceeding in connection with METCs
rates in effect on and after January 2006 METC has no other refund obligation or liability beyond this

payment in connection with this proceeding
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Pursuant to certain conditions in the December 30 2005 FERC order METC had previously made

adjustments to its net revenue requirement for depreciation and amortization expense and the related

interest expense associated with new transmission assets placed in service from January 2001 10

December 31 2005 the METC Regulatory Deferrals In addition METC had previously made adjust

ments to its net revenue requirement for all the equity return on investment and the carrying costs on new

transmission assets placed in service from January 2001 to December 31 2005 and recorded as

regulatory asset the portion of METCs purchase price in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired

from Consumers Energy approved for inclusion in future rates by the FERC the METC ADIT Deferrals

The METC rate case settlement established an initial balance of the METC Regulatory Deferrals of

$55.0 million with 20-year amortization beginning January 2007 In addition the settlement estab

lished an initial balance of the METC ADIT Deferrals of $61.3 million with an 18-year amortization

beginning January 2007

Certain portions of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals of $39.6 million and

$18.8 million respectively were recorded as regulatory asset on METCs historical FERC financial

statements but were not recorded on METCs historical GAAP financial statements because they did not

meet the requirement of an incurred cost eligible for deferral These amounts were identified and recorded

as intangible assets acquired pursuant to the METC acquisition Refer to additional discussion in Note

under Intangible Assets The remaining portions of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT

Deferrals of $15.4 million and $42.5 million respectively continued to be recorded as regulatory asset

acquired pursuant to the METC acquisition Refer to additional discussion associated with the regulatory

assets METC Regulatory Deferrals and METC ADIT Deferrals in Note under Regulatory Assets

ITC Midwests Rate Discount

As part of the orders by the Iowa Utility Board IUB and the Minnesota Public Service Commission

MPUC approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITC Midwest agreed to provide rate discount of

$4.1 million per year to its customers for eight years beginning in the first year customers experience an

increase in transmission charges following the consummation of the ITC Midwest asset acquisition

Beginning in 2009 and extending through 2016 ITC Midwests net revenue requirement was or will be

reduced by $4.1 million for each year The recognition of the rate discount occurs when we provide the

service and charge the reduced rate that includes the rate discount

ITCTransmission Rate Freeze Revenue Deferral

lTCTransmissions revenue deferral resulted from the difference between the revenue lTCTransmis

sion would have collected under Attachment and the actual revenue lTCTransmission received based on

the frozen rate of $1 .075 kW/month for the period from February 28 2003 through December 31 2004

The cumulative revenue deferral at the end of the rate freeze was $59.7 million $38.8 million net of tax
The revenue deferral and related taxes are not reflected as an asset or as revenue in our consolidated

financial statements because they do not meet the criteria to be recorded as regulatory assets Similarly

none of the revenue deferral amortization used in ratemaking is reflected in our consolidated financial

statements Accounting standards for regulated entities provide that an enterprise shall capitalize all or

part of an incurred cost that would otherwise be charged to expense if certain criteria are met including

whether it is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost will result from

inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for rate-making purposes.Although the amortization of the revenue

deferral is an allowable component of future rates based on the FERCs approval obtained for this item the

revenue deferral does not represent an incurred cost Rather it is delayed recovery of revenue based on

many components of our tariff rate including incurred costs rate base capital structure network load and

other components of Attachment regulated enterprise should recognize revenue for other than
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incurred costs if the revenue program meets certain criteria The revenue deferral does not satisfy the

criteria to record the revenue deferral in the year it was determined as the amounts will not be collected

within two years following the end of the year in which the amount was established We believe the proper

revenue recognition relating to the revenue deferral occurs when we charge the rate that includes the

amortization of the revenue deferral The revenue deferral is amortized for ratemaking straight-line for five

years beginning in June 2006 As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the balance of ITCTransmissions

revenue deferral was $16.9 million net of accumulated amortization of $42.8 million and $28.8 million net
of accumulated amortization of $30.9 million respectively

Depreciation Studies

During 2009 the FERC accepted depreciation studies filed by lTCTransmission and METC that

revised depreciation rates at IlCTransmission and METC and their revenue requirements for 2009 and

resulted in $19.5 million reduction in revenue recognized for the year This change in accounting estimate

results in lower composite depreciation rates for ITCTransmission and METC primarily due to the revision

of asset service lives and cost of removal values The revised estimates resulted in reduction of

depreciation expense of $19.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Because of the inclusion of

depreciation expense as component of net revenue requirement under the cost-based formula rate

there was an offsetting effect on revenues from the change in depreciation rates The depreciation studies

also resulted in revised estimates for the amount of accrued removal costs we have recorded in our

consolidated balance sheet and we recorded decrease in our regulatory liability for accrued removal

costs and an increase in accumulated depreciation of $84.3 million
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REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Regulatory Assets

The following table summarizes the regulatory asset balances at December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands
2009 2008

Regulatory Assets

Formula rate revenue accruals

Current including accrued interest of $2652 and $1637 as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 82871 22301

Non-current including accrued interest of $75 and $1512 as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 20406 81643

Other

llCTransmission ADIT Deferral net of accumulated amortization of

$20706 and $17676 as of December 31 2009 and 2008
respectively 39896 42926

METC ADIT Deferral net of accumulated amortization of $7076 and

$4717 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 35380 37739

METC Regulatory Deferrals net of accumulated amortization of $2314
and $1543 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 13114 13885

Unamortized loss on reacquired debt 382

Income taxes recoverable related to AFUDC equity 22296 15329

ITC Great Plains Start-up and Development Regulatory Asset 8757

KETA Project Regulatory Asset 1202

Pensions and postretirement 14279 10252

Total $238201 $224457

Revenue Accruals

Refer to discussion of revenue accruals in Note under Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up

Mechanism Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not earn an equity return on the balance of the

revenue accruals but do accrue interest on the true-up amount

ITC Transmission ADIT Deferral

The carrying amount of the lTCTransmission ADIT Deferral is the remaining unamortized balance of

the portion of ITCTransmissions purchase price in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired approved

for inclusion in future rates by the FERC ITCTransmission earns an equity return on the remaining

unamortized balance of the lTCTransmission ADIT Deferral The original amount recorded for this

regulatory asset of $60.6 million is being recognized in rates and amortized on straight-line basis over

20 years ITCTransmission recorded amortization expense of $3.0 million annually during 2009 2008 and

2007 which is included in depreciation and amortization

METC ADIT Deferrals

The original amount recorded for the regulatory asset for METC ADIT Deferrals of $42.5 million is

recognized in rates and amortized over 18 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the

amortization period established in the MEIC rate case settlement Refer to additional discussion of METC
ADIT Deferrals in Note under METC Rate Case Settlement METC earns an equity return on the

77



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

remaining unamortized balance of the regulatory asset for METC ADIT Deferrals METC recorded

amortization expense of $2.4 million annually during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively which is included

in depreciation and amortization

METC Regulatory Deferrals

The original amount recorded for the regulatory asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals of $15.4 million

is recognized in rates and amortized over 20 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the

amortization period established in the METC rate case settlement Refer to additional discussion of METC
Regulatory Deferrals in Note under METC Rate Case Settlement METC earns an equity return on the

remaining unamortized balance of the regulatory asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals METC recorded

amortization expense of $0.8 million during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively which is included in

depreciation and amortization

Unamortized Loss on Reacquired Debt

In accordance with accounting standards for the effects of certain types of regulation the remaining

unamortized balance of deferred financing fees for terminated debt agreements are reclassified to other

regulatory assets Our regulatory assets for this item were amortized on straight-line basis through 2009

During 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized amortization expense of $0.4 million $2.2 million and

$2.1 million respectively associated with these regulatory assets which was recorded to interest

expense Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not earn an equity return on these regulatory assets

but they are included as component of long-term interest used to calculate the cost of long-term debt

under the formula rate

Income Taxes Recoverable Related to AFUDC Equity

Accounting standards for income taxes provides that regulatory asset be recorded if it is probable

that future increase in taxes payable relating to AFUDC equity will be recovered from customers through

future rates Under our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries cost-based formula rates with true-up mech

anisms the future taxes payable relating to AFUDC equity will be recovered from customers in future rates

The true-up mechanism allows our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries to collect their actual net revenue

requirement which includes taxes payable relating to AFUDC equity The carrying amount of this

regulatory asset is related to the income taxes on AFUDC equity recognized that is expected to be

earned in future revenues Because AFUDC equity is component of property plant and equipment that is

included in rate base when the plant is placed in service and the related deferred tax liabilities are not

reduction to rate base we effectively earn return on this regulatory asset

ITC Great Plains Start-up and Development Regulatory Asset

The start-up and development regulatory asset consists of costs incurred by ITC Great Plains from

inception through the effective date of the ITC Great Plains cost-based formula rate including ongoing

costs which had been incurred to develop and acquire transmission assets in the SPP region These costs

relate primarily to obtaining various state SPP and FERC approvals necessary for ITC Great Plains to own

transmission assets and build new facilities in the SPP region efforts to establish the ITC Great Plains

cost-based formula rate the establishment of ITC Great Plains as public utility in Kansas and Oklahoma

as well as obtaining the necessary approvals and authorizations for the state regulators in Kansas and

Oklahoma

The startup and development regulatory asset accrues carrying charges at rate equivalent to ITC

Great Plains weighted average cost of capital adjusted annually based on ITC Great Plains actual

weighted average cost of capital calculated in ITC Great Plains formula rate template for that year The
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equity component of these carrying charges totaling $0.5 million as of December31 2009 is not recorded

for GAAP accounting and reporting but is recorded for FERC reporting as it does not meet the recognition

criteria of incurred costs eligible for deferral under GAAP The carrying charges began to accrue in

March 2009 as authorized by the FERC Order and will continue until such time that the regulatory asset is

included in rate base

Recovery of the start-up and development regulatory asset requires FERC authorization upon ITC

Great Plains making an additional filing under Section 205 of the Federal Power Act to demonstrate that

the costs to be recovered are just and reasonable Subsequent to FERC authorization ITC Great Plains

will include the unamortized balance of the start-up and development regulatory assets in its rate base and

will begin amortizing it over ten-year period upon the in-service date of the KETA Project the Kansas

Plan or when the total in-service gross property plant and equipment at ITC Great Plains exceeds

$100 million whichever occurs first The amortization expense will be recovered through ITC Great Plains

cost-based formula rate template beginning in the period in which amortization begins

KETA Project Regulatory Asset

The KETA Project regulatory asset includes costs incurred associated with regulatory activities in

Kansas and Oklahoma and with participants in SPP to obtain the necessary approvals and authorization

before proceeding further with plans as well as engineering studies routing studies and education and

outreach to stakeholders on ITC Great Plains efforts to bring these projects to the SPP region and other

pre-construction costs specific to the KETA Project The KETA Project regulatory asset accrues carrying

charges at rate equivalent to ITC Great Plains weighted average cost of capital adjusted annually based

on ITC Great Plains actual weighted average cost of capital calculated in our formula rate template for that

year The equity component of these carrying charges totaling less than $0.1 million as of December31

2009 is not recorded for GAAP accounting and reporting but are for FERC as they do not meet the

recognition criteria of incurred costs eligible for deferral under GAAP The carrying charges began to

accrue in March 2009 as authorized by the FERC Order and will continue until such time that the regulatory

asset is included in rate base

Recovery of the KETA Project regulatory asset requires FERC authorization upon ITC Great Plains

making an additional filing under Section 205 of the Federal Power Act to demonstrate that the costs to be

recovered are just and reasonable Subsequent to FERC authorization ITC Great Plains will include the

unamortized balance of the KETA Project Regulatory Asset in its rate base and begin amortizing it over

ten-year period upon the in-service date of the KETA Project The amortization expense will be recovered

through ITC Great Plains cost-based formula rate template beginning in that year

Pensions and Postretirement

Accounting standards for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans require that

amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated other comprehensive

income are recorded as regulatory asset or liability because as the unrecognized amounts recorded to

this regulatory asset are recognized expenses will be recovered from customers in future rates under our

cost-based formula rates Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not earn return on the balance of the

Pension and Postretirement regulatory asset
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Regulatory Liabilities

The following table summarizes the regulatory liabilities balances at December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands 2009 2008

Regulatory Liabilities

Accrued asset removal costs $112430 $196656

Formula rate revenue deferralsa

Current including accrued interest of $24 as of December 31 2008b. 228

Non-current including accrued interest of $186 as of December 31
2009 10238

Total $122668 $196884

Refer to discussion of revenue deferrals in Note under Cost-Based Formula Rates with True-Up

Mechanism Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not earn an equity return on the balance of the

revenue deferrals but do accrue interest on the true-up amount

Current portion of Regulatory Liabilities revenue deferral including accrued interest is recorded with

other current liabilities on our consolidated statement of financial position

Accrued Asset Removal Costs

The carrying amount of the accrued asset removal costs represents the accrued asset removal costs

to remove the asset at retirement The portion of depreciation expense related to asset removal costs is

added to this regulatory liability and removal expenditures incurred are charged to this regulatory liability

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries include this item within accumulated depreciation for rate-making

purposes which is reduction to rate base As result of lTCTransmission and METC depreciation

studies as discussed in Note under Depreciation Studies we recorded decrease in our regulatory

liability for accrued removal costs of $29.2 million and $55.1 million for lTCTransmission and METC
respectively

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At December 31 2009 we had goodwill balances recorded at llCTransmission METC and ITC

Midwest of $173.4 million $453.8 million and $323.0 million respectively which resulted from the

lTCTransmission acquisition the METC acquisition and ITC Midwests asset acquisition respectively

At December 31 2008 we had goodwill balances recorded at lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest

of $173.4 million $455.3 million and $322.6 million respectively

Intangible Assets

Pursuant to the METC acquisition in October2006 we have identified intangible assets with finite lives

derived from the portion of regulatory assets recorded on METCs historical FERC financial statements

that were not recorded on METCs historical GAAP financial statements associated with the METC
Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals The carrying amount of the intangible asset for METC
Regulatory Deferrals at December31 2009 and 2008 is $33.6 million and $35.6 million respectively and

is amortized over 20 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the amortization period

established in the METC rate case settlement The carrying amount of the intangible asset for METC ADIT

Deferrals at December31 2009 and 2008 is $15.7 million and $16.7 million respectively and is amortized

over 18 years beginning January 2007 which also corresponds to the amortization period established in

the METC rate case settlement METC earns an equity return on the remaining unamortized balance of
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both the intangible asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals and the intangible asset for METC ADIT

Deferrals Refer to the discussion of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals in

Note under METC Rate Case Settiement

During 2009 ITC Great Plains recorded intangible assets for payments made to certain transmission

owners to acquire rights which are required under the SPP tariff to designate ITC Great Plains to build own

and operate projects within the SPP region including the KETA Project and the Kansas V-Plan The

carrying amount of these intangible assets was $2.7 million net of accumulated amortization of less than

$0.1 million as of December 31 2009

During each of the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized $3.0 million of

amortization expense of our intangible assets We expect the annual amortization of our intangible assets

that have been recorded as of December 31 2009 to be as follows

In thousands

2010 3078

2011 3078

2012 3078

2013 3078

2014 3078

2015 and thereafter 36597

Total $51987

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment-net consisted of the following at December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands
2009 2008

Property plant and equipment

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Property plant and equipment in service 3330057 $3003312

Construction work in progress 167092 163655

Capital equipment inventory 76697 45282

Other 12114 10843

ITC Holdings and other 7149 7184

Total 3593109 3230276

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1051045 925890

Property plant and equipment-net 2542064 $2304386

Additions to property plant and equipment in service and construction work in progress during 2009

and 2008 were primarily for projects to upgrade or replace existing transmission plant to improve the

reliability of our transmission systems
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LONG-TERM DEBT

The following amounts were outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

In thousands

ITC Holdings 5.25% Senior Notes due July 15 2013 net of discount of

$421 and $540 respectively 266579 266460

ITC Holdings 6.04% Senior Notes Series due September 20 2014 50000 50000

ITC Holdings 5.875% Senior Notes due September 30 2016 net of

discount of $22 and $26 respectively 254978 254974

ITC Holdings 6.23% Senior Notes Series due September 20 2017 50000 50000

ITC Holdings 6.375% Senior Notes due September 30 2036 net of

discount of $205 and $212 respectively 254795 254788

ITC Holdings 6.050% Senior Notes due January 31 2018 net of discount

of $1276 and $1434 respectively 383724 383566

ITC Holdings 5.500% Senior Notes due January 15 2020 net of discount

of $1319 198681

ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement due March 29 2012 67953

ITCTransmission 4.45% First Mortgage Bonds Series due July 15 2013

net of discount of $42 and $54 respectively 184958 184946

llCTransmission 6.125% First Mortgage Bonds Series due March 31
2036 net of discount of $96 and $100 respectively 99904 99900

lTCTransmission 5.75% First Mortgage Bonds Series due April 18
2018 net of discount of $95 and $106 respectively 99905 99894

ITCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement due March 29 2012 57803 42065

METC 5.75% Senior Secured Notes due December 10 2015 175000 175000

METC 6.63% Senior Secured Notes due December 18 2014 50000 50000

ITC Midwest 6.15% First Mortgage Bonds Series due January 31 2038

net of discount of $493 and $51 respectively 174507 174489

ITC Midwest 7.12% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 22
2017 40000 40000

ITC Midwest 7.27% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 22
2020 35000 35000

ITC Midwest 4.60% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 17
2024 35000

ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement due January 29 2013 23564 19218

Total long-term debt $2434398 $2248253
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The annual maturities of long-term debt as of December 31 2009 are as follows

In thousands

2010

2011

2012 57803

2013 475564

2014 100000

2015 and thereafter 1805000

Total $2438367

ITC Holdings

Term Loan Agreement

On April 29 2009 ITC Holdings entered into two year Term Loan Agreement the Term Loan

Agreement with various financial institutions as lenders The Term Loan Agreement established an

unguaranteed unsecured $100 million term facility under which the entire $100 million was drawn at

closing Amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Agreement accrued interest at 350 basis points over

the applicable LIBOR rate and could be repaid without penalty in increments of $5 million in advance of the

maturity date The funds provided under the Term Loan Agreement were used for general corporate

purposes

In December 2009 we repaid in full all amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Agreement using

proceeds of ITC Holdings $200.0 million 5.50% Senior Notes due January 15 2020 Senior Notes
described below ITC Holdings incurred loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.3 million related to the write

off of deferred debt issuance costs

Senior Notes

On December 11 2009 ITC Holdings issued $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of its Senior

Notes under its first mortgage indenture dated as of December 11 2009 in private placement in reliance

on exemptions from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 The Senior Notes were sold to various

initial purchasers pursuant to purchase agreement dated December 2009 The proceeds were used to

repay the $100 million outstanding under the ITC Holdings Term Loan discussed above to repay all

amounts outstanding under the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

including funding capital expenditures

lTCTransmission

The lTCTransmission First Mortgage Bonds are issued under lTCTransmissions First Mortgage and

Deed of Trust and therefore have the benefit of first mortgage lien on substantially all of lTCTrans

missions property

METC

The METC Senior Secured Notes are secured by first priority security interest in all of METCs
assets equally with all other notes issued under the related indenture
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ITC Midwest

On December 17 2009 ITC Midwest issued $35.0 million of the total face amount of $75.0 million of

its 4.60% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 17 2024 ITC Midwest held lending

commitment from the lenders and closed on the additional $40.0 million of Series Bonds in February

2010 The proceeds from 2009 were used to repay portion of the amounts outstanding under the ITC

Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement All of ITC Midwests First Mortgage Bonds are issued under its First

Mortgage and Deed of Trust and therefore have the benefit of first mortgage lien on substantially all of

ITC Midwests property

Revolving Credit Agreements

Lehman Brothers Bank FSB Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndication

was included in bankruptcy filing made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on September 14
2008 Lehmans aggregate commitment to our various agreements of $55.0 million represents 16.2% of

our total consolidated revolving credit agreement capacity of $340.0 million At December 31 2009 we
had $2.7 million outstanding under the agreements relating to Lehmans participation drawn prior to

Lehmans bankruptcy Lehman has not funded its share of borrowing notices since its bankruptcy filing

and given the favorable terms of our existing agreements compared to current market conditions we do

not expect to replace Lehmans commitments on our existing credit agreements

ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement

On March 29 2007 ITC Holdings entered into revolving credit agreement the ITC Holdings

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 that established an unguaranteed unsecured

revolving credit facility under which ITC Holdings may borrow and issue letters of credit up to $125.0 million

subject to increase to $150.0 million with consent of the lenders The maturity date of the ITC Holdings

Revolving Credit Agreement is March 29 2012 With consent of the lenders holding majority of the

commitments under the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement ITC Holdings may extend the maturity

date of the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement for up to two additional one-year periods Loans

under the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement are variable rate loans with rates on LIBOR-based

loans varying from 20 to 110 basis points over the applicable LIBOR rate depending on ITC Holdings

credit rating and the amount of the credit line in use and rates on other loans at the higher of prime or

50 basis points over the federal funds rate The outstanding balance under the ITC Holdings Revolving

Credit Agreement was repaid with proceeds from the ITC Holdings Senior Notes issued on December 11
2009 At December31 2009 ITC Holdings had no outstanding amounts under the ITC Holdings Revolving

Credit Agreement and borrowing capacity of $105.2 million net of unfulfilled Lehman commitment At

December31 2008 ITC Holdings had $68.0 million outstanding under the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit

Agreement The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings outstanding under the agreement at

December 31 2008 was 1.6% The ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement also provides for the

payment to the lenders of commitment fee on the average daily unused commitments at rates varying

from .05% to 0.20% each year depending on ITC Holdings credit rating

lTCTransmissionJMETC Revolving Credit Agreement

On March 29 2007 ITCTransmission and METC entered into revolving credit agreement the

ITCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 that established an

unguaranteed unsecured revolving credit facility under which lTCTransmission may borrow and issue

letters of credit up to $105.0 million as modified December 27 2007 and METC may borrow and issue

letters of credit up to $60.0 million subject to increase to $85.0 million with consent of the lenders The

maturity date of the ITCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement is March 29 2012 With consent
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of the lenders holding majority of the commitments under the lTCTransmission/M ETC Revolving Credit

Agreement ITCTransmission and METC may extend the maturity date of the ITCTransmission/METC

flevoMng Credit Agreement for up to two addtona one-year periods Loans made unde the TCTrais

mission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement are variable rate loans with rates on LIBOR-based loans

varying from 20 to 110 basis points over the applicable LIBOR rate depending on lTCTransmission and

METCs credit ratings and the amount of the credit line in use and rates on other loans at the higher of

prime or 50 basis points over the federal funds rate At December 31 2009 and 2008 lTCTransmission

had $20.9 million and $26.5 million respectively outstanding under the lTCTransmission/METC Revolving

Credit Agreement out of borrowing capacity of $88.3 million net of the unfulfilled Lehman commitment
At December 31 2009 and 2008 METC had $36.9 million and $15.6 million respectively outstanding

under the lTCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement out of borrowing capacity of $50.5 mil

lion net of the unfulfilled Lehman commitment The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings

outstanding under the agreement at December 31 2009 and 2008 was 0.6% and 2.1% respectively

for both lTCTransmission and METC The lTCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement also

provides for the payment to the lenders of commitment fee on the average daily unused commitments at

rates varying from .05% to 0.20% each year depending on lTCTransmissions and METCs credit ratings

ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement

On January 29 2008 ITC Midwest entered into revolving credit agreement the ITC Midwest

Revolving Credit Agreement that established an uriguaranteed unsecured revolving credit facility under

which ITC Midwest may borrow and issue letters of credit up to $50.0 million subject to increase to

$75.0 million with the consent of the lenders The maturity date of the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit

Agreement is January 29 2013 ITC Midwests loans made under the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit

Agreement bear interest at variable rate with rates on LIBOR-based loans varying from 20 to 10 basis

points over the applicable LIBOR rate depending on ITC Midwests credit rating and the amount of the

credit line in use and rates on other loans at the higher of prime or 50 basis points over the federal funds

rate At December 31 2009 and 2008 ITC Midwest had $23.6 million and $19.2 million respectively

outstanding under the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement out of borrowing capacity of $43.7 mil

lion net of the unfulfilled Lehman commitment and the weighted-average interest rate of borrowings

outstanding under the agreement was 0.6% and 0.9% respectively at December 31 2009 and 2008 The

ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement also provides for the payment to the lenders of commitment fee

on the average daily unused commitments at rates varying from .05% to 0.2% each year depending on

ITC Midwests credit rating

Covenants

Our debt instruments described above contain numerous financial and operating covenants that place

significant restrictions on certain transactions such as incurring additional indebtedness engaging in sale

and lease-back transactions creating liens or other encumbrances entering into mergers consolidations

liquidations or dissolutions creating or acquiring subsidiaries selling or otherwise disposing of all or

substantially all of our assets and paying dividends In addition the covenants require us to meet certain

financial ratios such as maintaining certain debt to capitalization ratios and maintaining certain interest

coverage ratios We are currently in compliance with all debt covenants
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

We report both basic and diluted earnings per share reconciliation of both calculations for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is presented in the following table

In thousands except share per share data and percentages
2009 2008 2007

Numerator

Net income 130900 109208 73296

Less dividends declared common shares

restricted shares and deferred stock units 62392 58933 48146

Undistributed earnings 68508 50275 25150

Percentage allocated to common sharesa 98.6% 98.9% 99.3%

Undistributed earnings common shares 67549 49722 24974

Add dividends declaredcommon shares 61517 58318 47829

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per

common share 129066 108040 72803

Denominator

Denominator for basic earnings per common share

weighted-average common shares 49196470 48592534 42298478

Incremental shares for stock options and employee

stock purchase plan 880963 1035353 1155637

Denominator for diluted earnings per common
share adjusted weighted-average shares and
assumed conversion 50077433 49627887 43454115

Per common share net income

Basic 2.62 2.22 1.72

Diluted 2.58 2.18 1.68

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 49196470 48592534 42298478

Weighted-average restricted shares and deferred

stock units participating securities 705716 517248 306232

Total 49902186 49109782 42604710

Percentage allocated to common shares 98.6% 98.9% 99.3%

Our restricted stock and deferred stock units contain rights to receive nonforfeitable dividends and

thus are participating securities requiring the two-class method of computing earnings per share The

calculation of earnings per share for common shares shown above excludes the income attributed to our

restricted stock and deferred stock units from the numerator and excludes the related shares from the

denominator In accordance with GAAP we retroactively adjusted prior period earnings per share

computations so that our historical earnings per share are presented on consistent basis using the

two-class method

The retroactive application of the two-class method resulted in decrease in basic earnings per share of

$0.03 and $0.01 per share for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively as compared to

the earnings per share calculations used and disclosed in our Form 10-K for the annual periods ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 The retroactive application of the two-class method decreased diluted
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earnings per share by $0.01 per share for the year ended December31 2008 The retroactive application did

not result in change in the diluted earnings per share calculation for the year ended December 31 2007

At December31 2009 2008 and 2007 we had 2673121 2603115 and 2503272 of outstanding

stock options respectively Stock options are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation using

the treasury stock method unless the effect of including the stock options would be anti-dilutive At

December31 2009 and 2008 814914 and 502511 anti-dilutive stock options were excluded from the

diluted earnings per share calculations respectively At December 31 2007 there were no anti-dilutive

stock options

10 INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rate varied from the statutory federal income tax rate due to differences between the

book and tax treatment of various transactions as follows

In thousands
2009 2008 2007

Income tax expense at 35% statutory rate $72965 $61765 $38481

State income taxes net of federal benefit 7230 6769 4047

Valuation allowance state income taxes 785 1829 4047

AFUDC equity 4336 3601 2691

Othernet 928 500 860

Income tax provision
$77572 $67262 $36650

Components of the income tax provision were as follows

In thousands
2009 2008 2007

Current income tax expense 2571 2208

Deferred income tax expense 74001 65054 36650

Benefits of operating loss carryforward 1000

Total income tax provision $77572 $67262 $36650

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effect of temporary

differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and the reported amounts in the financial

statements Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or noncurrent according to the

classification of the related assets or liabilities Deferred tax assets and liabilities not related to assets or

liabilities are classified according to the expected reversal date of the temporary differences
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Deferred income tax assets liabilities consisted of the following at December 31

2009

$2091 69

80437

21697

17395

15704

57555

41970
12506

17103

18994

2613

$231657

$382244

153200

2613

$231 657

2008

$1 32295

78186

22316

19250

16216

39298

41051

9180

14874

14617

13194

$1 51365

$280554

142383

13194

$151 365

The deferred tax asset valuation allowance relates primarily to state income tax NOLs for which it is

more likely than not that tax benefit will not be realized

We have estimated federal income tax NOLs of $266.9 million as of December31 2009 all of which

we expect to use prior to their expiration These federal income tax NOLs result in part from accelerated

depreciation methods for property plant and equipment for income tax reporting purposes The federal

income tax NOLs of $38.5 million included in the 2006 consolidated tax return for the entities acquired in

the METC acquisition would expire beginning in 2019 The remaining estimated federal income tax NOLs
of $228.4 million would expire in 2023 through 2029

Included in the $266.9 million total estimated federal income tax NOLs is $37.1 million $13.0 million

after tax of federal income tax NOLs relating to tax deductions for share-based compensation not

recognized in the consolidated financial statements The accounting standards for share-based com
pensation require that the tax deductions that exceed book value be recognized as increases to common
stock only if that deduction reduces taxes payable as result of realized cash benefit from the deduction
For the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 we did not recognize the tax effects of the excess
federal tax deductions as increases in common stock or increases to NOL deterred tax assets as the

deductions have not resulted in reduction of taxes payable due to our federal income tax NOLs For the

year ended December 31 2009 we recognized the tax effects of the excess state tax deduction as

common stock of $0.1 million No state tax deductions were recognized for the years ended December31
2008 and 2007

Michigan Business Tax

On July 12 2007 Michigan law replaced the Michigan Single Business Tax with the Michigan
Business Tax effective January 2008 Key features of the Michigan Business Tax include business

In thousands

Property plant and equipment

Federal income tax NOLs

Michigan Business Tax deductions

METC regulatory deferrala

Acquisition adjustments ADIT deferralsa

Goodwill

Revenue accrual/deferral-net including accrued interest

Pension and postretirement liabilities

State income tax NOLs

Other net

Deferred tax asset valuation allowanceb

Net deferred tax assets liabilities

Gross deferred income tax liabilities

Gross deferred income tax assets

Deferred tax asset valuation allowanceb

Net deferred tax assets liabilities

Described in Note
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income tax at rate of 4.95% and modified gross receipts tax at rate of 0.80% with deductions and

credits for certain activities In December 2007 21.99% surcharge was added to the Michigan Business

Tax The surcharge expires no earlier than January 2017 The Michigan Single Business Tax that was in

effect through December 31 2007 was accounted for as tax other than income tax The Michigan

Business Tax is accounted for as an income tax and resulted in state income tax provision recorded for

the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 of $7.8 million and $8.4 million net of federal benefit

respectively

METC Uncertain Tax Position

At December 31 2009 we had an uncertain tax position resulting from an analysis we performed on

various transaction costs incurred in connection with the METC acquisition In applying the measurement

provisions of income taxes this tax position resulted in an immaterial reduction to the deferred tax asset

recorded in purchase accounting This tax position was effectively settled in January 2010 upon com

pletion of the Internal Revenue Service audit of our 2006 tax year The settlement of this tax position did not

have material effect on our consolidated statements when recorded in the first quarter of 2010

11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND ASSETS HELD IN TRUST

Retirement Plan Benefits

We have qualified retirement plan for eligible employees comprised of traditional final average pay

plan and cash balance plan The traditional final average pay plan is noncontributory covers select

employees and provides retirement benefits based on the employees years of benefit service average

final compensation and age at retirement The cash balance plan is also noncontributory covers sub

stantially all employees and provides retirement benefits based on eligible compensation and interest

credits While we are obligated to fund the retirement plan by contributing the minimum amount required by

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended it is our practice to contribute the

maximum allowable amount as defined by section 404 of the Internal Revenue Code We made contri

butions of $3.2 million $2.1 million and $4.0 million to the retirement plan in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively although we had no minimum funding requirements We expect to contribute up to $6.0 million

to the defined benefit retirement plan relating to the 2009 plan year in 2010

We have also established two supplemental nonqualified noncontributory retirement benefit plans

for selected management employees The plans provide for benefits that supplement those provided by

our other retirement plans The obligations under these supplemental nonqualified plans are included in

the pension benefit obligation calculations below The investments in trust for the supplemental non-

qualified retirement plans of $9.4 million and $4.6 million at December31 2009 and 2008 respectively are

not included in the pension plan asset amounts presented below but are included in other assets on our

consolidated statement of financial position For the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 we

contributed $4.0 million $1.0 million and $1.1 million respectively to these supplemental nonqualif led

noncontributory retirement benefit plans We account for the assets contributed under the supplemental

nonqualified noncontributory retirement benefit plan and held in trust as trading securities under the

ASC for certain investments in debt and equity securities Accordingly realized and unrealized gains or

losses on the investments are recorded as investment income or loss We recognized gains of $0.7 million

in other income during 2009 losses of $1.8 million in other expenses during 2008 and gains of $0.1 million

in other income during 2007 associated with realized and unrealized gains and losses on the investments

held in trust associated with our supplemental nonqualif led retirement plans
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The plan assets consisted of the following assets by category

Asset Category 2009 2008

Fixed income securities 57.8% 61.9%

Equity securities 42.2% 38.1%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Net pension cost for 2009 2008 and 2007 includes the following components

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Service cost $2674 1977 1493
Interest cost 1691 1164 996

Expected return on plan assets 987 1038 650
Amortization of prior service cost 42 882 1101
Amortization of actuarial loss 2250 1762 1952

Net pension cost $5586 2983 2690

The effective date of the annual measurement changed from September 30 to December 31

beginning in 2008 pursuant to the measurement provisions of the guidance for employers accounting
for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans The following table reconciles the obligations
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assets and funded status of the pension plans as well as the amounts recognized as accrued pension

liability in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands
2009 2008

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning projected benefit obligation $26175 $18869

Employers accounting for defined benefit pension and other

postretirement plan measurement date adjustment 785

Service cost 2674 1977

Interestcost 1691 1164

Actuarial net loss 5820 3692

Benefits paid
626 312

Ending projected benefit obligation $35734 $26175

Change in Plans Assets

Beginning plan assets at fair value 12294 13424

Employers accounting for defined benefit pension and other

postretirement plan measurement date adjustment 259

Actual loss return on plan assets 1648 3179

Employer contributions 3187 2102

Benefits paid
626 312

Ending plan assets at fair value 16503 12294

Funded status underfunded $19231 $13881

Ending accumulated benefit obligation $25534 $22178

Amounts recorded as

Funded Status

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities $1 9231 $1 3881

Total $19231 $13881

Unrecognized Amounts in Other Regulatory Assets

Net actuarial loss 11398 8490

Prior service credit 184 226

Total 11214 8264

The unrecognized amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated

other comprehensive income associated with the guidance for employers accounting for pensions are

recorded as regulatory asset on our consolidated statements of financial position as discussed in Note

We also recorded deferred income tax liability on the regulatory asset in deferred income tax liabilities on

our consolidated statements of financial position The amounts recorded as regulatory asset represent

net periodic benefit cost to be recognized in our operating income in future periods

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation are listed below

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate
6.00% 5.95% 6.19%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
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Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost for 2009 2008 and 2007 are listed below

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 5.95% 6.19% 5.95%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.25% 7.25% 7.00%

At December 31 2009 the projected benefit payments for the defined benefit retirement plan

calculated using the same assumptions as those used to calculate the benefit obligation described above

are listed below

In thousands

2010 587

2011 677

2012 1188

2013 1824

2014 3248
2015 through 2019 19339

Other Postretirement Benefits

We provide certain postretirement health care dental and life insurance benefits for employees who

may become eligible for these benefits We contributed $2.5 million and $1.3 million to the postretirement

benefit plan in 2009 and 2008 respectively We expect to contribute $3.0 million to the plan in 2010

The plan assets consisted of the following assets by category

Asset Category 2009 2008

Fixed income securities 73.3% 73.7%

Equity securities 26.7% 26.3%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

On December 2003 the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

the Act was signed into law We have not assessed whether the benefits provided by the plan are

actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part under the Act and our measurement of the accumulated

postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31 2009 and 2008 does not reflect any potential

amounts associated with subsidies under the Act

Net postretirement cost for 2009 2008 and 2007 includes the following components

In thousands
2009 2008 2007

Service cost $1841 $1632 982

Interest cost 921 672 330

Expected return on plan assets 228 218 93
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 314 580 235

Amortization of actuarial gain loss 166 94
Ne pusiieireirieriL us $3014 $1360

The effective date of the annual measurement changed from September 30 to December 31 starting

on January 2008 The following table reconciles the obligations assets and funded status of the plans as
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well as the amounts recognized as accrued postretirement liability in the

financial position as of December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning accumulated postretirement obligation

Employers accounting for defined benefit pension and other

postretirement plan measurement date adjustment

Service cost

Interest cost

Obligation assumed in ITC Midwests asset acquisition

Amendments

Actuarial gain loss

Benefits paid

Ending accumulated postretirement obligation

Change in PlansAssets

Beginning plan assets at fair value

Employers accounting for defined benefit pension and other

postretirement plan measurement date adjustment

Actual loss return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Employer provided retiree premiums

Benefits paid

Ending Plan assets at fair value

Funded status underfunded

Amounts recorded as

Funded Status

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities

Total

Unrecognized Amounts in Other Regulatory Assets

Net actuarial loss

Prior service cost

Total

consolidated statement of

2009 2008

$13419 9139

576

1841 1632
921 672

1669

The unrecognized amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated

other comprehensive income associated with the guidance for employers accounting for pensions are

recorded as regulatory asset on our consolidated statements of financial position We also recorded

deferred income tax liability on the regulatory asset in deferred income tax liabilities on our consolidated

statements of financial position The amounts recorded as regulatory asset represent net periodic

benefit cost to be recognized in our operating income in future periods

1625
49

$1 7757

3005

297

2528

49

49

5830

$1 1927

$1 1927

$1 1927

2314

751

3065

239

30

$1 3419

2211

55

558
1297

30

30

3005

$10414

$10414

$10414

923

1065
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Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation are as follows

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 6.00% 5.95% 6.19%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.00% 10.00% 10.50%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2015

Annual rate of increase in dental benefit costs 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost for 2009 2008 and 2007 are as follows

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 5.95% 6.19% 5.95%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 10.00% 10.50% 11.00%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2015

At December 31 2009 the projected benefit payments for the postretirement benefit plan calculated

using the same assumptions as those used to calculate the benefit obligations listed above are listed

below

In thousands

2010 179

2011 255

2012 351

2013 523

2014 764

2015 through 2019 7484

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for the health

care plans one-percentage-point increase or decrease in assumed health care cost trend rates would

have the following effects on costs for 2009 and the postretirement benefit obligation at December 31
2009

One-Percentage- One-Percentage

In thousands Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost 444 359
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 1756 1442

Investment Objectives and Fair Value Measurement

The general investment objectives of the qualified retirement benefit plan and other postretirement

benefit plan include maximizing the return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk and controlling

administrative and management costs The targeted asset allocation is weighted equally between equity

and fixed income investments Investment decisions are made by our retirement benefits board as

delegated by our board of directors Equity investments may include various types of U.S and international

equity securities such as large-cap mid-cap and small-cap stocks Fixed income investments may include

cash and short-term instruments U.S Government securities corporate bonds mortgages and other

fixed income investments There are no prohibited investments for the retirement plan and other post
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retirement plans including the use of derivatives but our exposure to derivatives currently is not material

We intend that the long-term capital growth of the retirement plan and other post retirement plans together

with employer contributions will provide for the payment of the benefit obligations

We determine our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets based on the current target

allocations of the retirement plan investments and considering historical returns on comparable fixed

income investments and equity investments

The measurement of fair value is based on three-tier hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value These tiers include Level defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in

active markets Level defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly

or indirectly observable and Level defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data

exists therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant

Active Markets for Other Observable Unobservable

In thousands
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

Financial assets measured on recurring basis

Cash and cash equivalents $2836

Short term investments 3599

Common collective trusts U.S equity securities 6210

Common collective trusts international equfty securfties 1643

Common collective trusts fixed income securities 5367

Mutual funds equity securities 662

Mutual funds fixed income securities 519

Guaranteed deposit fund 1497

Total $4017 $18316

Defined Contribution Plans

We also sponsor defined contribution retirement savings plan Participation in this plan is available

to substantially all employees We match employee contributions up to certain predefined limits based

upon eligible compensation and the employees contribution rate The cost of this plan was $2.6 million

$1.8 million and $1.4 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

12 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The measurement of fair value is based on three-tier hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value These tiers include Level defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in

active markets Level defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly

or indirectly observable and Level defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data

exists therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions
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Our assets measured at fair value subject to the three-tier hierarchy at December 31 2009 were as

follows

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant

Active Markets for Other Observable Unobservable

In thousands
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

Financial assets measured on recurring

basis

Cash and cash equivalentscash equivalents $70558

Other non current assets trading securities 9866

Total $80424 $_

As of December 31 2009 we held certain assets that are required to be measured at fair value on

recurring basis These consist of investments recorded within cash and cash equivalents and other long-

term assets including investments held in trust associated with our nonqualified noncontributory sup
plemental retirement benefit plans for selected management and employees that are classified as trading
securities Our investments included in cash equivalents consist of money market funds recorded at cost

plus accrued interest to approximate fair value Our investments classified as trading securities consist

primarily of mutual funds and equity securities that are publicly traded and for which market prices are

readily available Changes in the observed trading prices and liquidity of money market funds are

monitored as additional support for determining fair value and losses are recorded in earnings if fair

value falls below recorded cost

As of December 31 2009 our accounts receivable and accounts payable balances approximate fair

value We also held non-financial assets that are required to be measured at fair value on non-recurring

basis These consist of goodwill and intangible assets We did not take any impairment charges on long-

lived assets and no other significant events requiring non-financial assets to be measured at fair value

occurred subsequent to initial recognition during the year ended December 31 2009

Fair Value of Long-Term Debt

Fixed Rate Long-Term Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with similar terms and average
maturities the fair value of our consolidated long-term debt as described in Note excluding revolving
credit agreements was $2165.9 million and $1986.2 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respec
tively The total book value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding revolving credit agreements was
$2353.0 million and $2119.0 at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Revolving Credit Agreements

At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had consolidated total of $81.4 million and $129.2 million

respectively outstanding under our revolving credit agreements which are variable rate loans and
therefore fair value approximates book value
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13 OTHER COMPENSATION PLANS

Special Bonus Plans

On June 15 2005 our board of directors approved two discretionary bonus plans the ITC Holdings

Executive Group Special Bonus Plan and the ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan under which plan

participants had amounts credited to accounts which were maintained for each participant in respect

of each calendar year during which the plans are in place Under these special bonus plans in determining

the amounts to be credited to the plan participants accounts our board of directors is to give consideration

to dividends paid or expected to be paid on our common stock during each year Our board of directors

can generally amend or terminate the plans at any time except that no such amendment or termination

can materially and adversely affect accrued and vested rights unless an amendment is necessary to

satisfy applicable laws or new accounting standards All distributions under these plans are payable only in

cash The special bonus plans are accounted for as compensation plans

On November 12 2007 the compensation committee of the board of directors approved amendments

to the ITC Holdings Executive Group Special Bonus Plan and the ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan

providing that amounts previously deferred under the plans became vested and immediately payable and

that any future special bonus amounts awarded under the plans would be immediately vested Prior to

these amendments awards made under the special bonus plans were amortized to expense over the

vesting period of the award if the award vests in the future or expensed immediately if the participant is

vested in the award at the time of the award In December 2007 $2.0 million previously deferred under the

ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan was paid by us from the funded trust to non-executive employee

participants and $1.6 million previously deferred under the ITC Holdings Executive Group Special Bonus

Plan was paid by us from cash on hand to executive employee participants

In 2009 and 2008 we recognized $2.1 million and $2.2 million respectively in general and admin

istrative expenses relating to the special bonus plan In 2007 we recognized $4.2 million in general and

administrative expenses relating to the special bonus plans consisting of $2.5 million for awards autho

rized during 2007 and $1.7 million for awards authorized in 2006 and 2005 for which expense had not yet

been recognized as result of the vesting of these previously deferred awards as discussed above

14 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Common Stock

General ITC Holdings authorized capital stock consists of

100 million shares of common stock without par value and

10 million shares of preferred stock without par value

As of December31 2009 there were 50084061 shares of our common stock outstanding no shares

of preferred stock outstanding and 533 holders of record of our common stock

Voting Rights Each holder of ITC Holdings common stock including holders of our common stock

subject to restricted stock awards is entitled to cast one vote for each share held of record on all matters

submitted to vote of stockholders including the election of directors Holders of $TC Holdings common

stock have no cumulative voting rights

Dividends Holders of our common stock including holders of common stock subject to restricted

stock awards are entitled to receive dividends or other distributions declared by the board of directors The

right of the board of directors to declare dividends is subject to the right of any holders of ITC Holdings

preferred stock to the extent that any preferred stock is authorized and issued and the availability under

the Michigan Business Corporation Act of sufficient funds to pay dividends We have not issued any shares
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of preferred stock The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of ITC Holdings

board of directors and depends on various factors including our net income financial condition cash

requirements future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by fTC Holdings board of directors

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of the stock

and membership interests in its subsidiaries deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax

NOLs and cash on hand ITC Holdings only sources of cash to pay dividends to our stockholders are

dividends and other payments received by us from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and any other

subsidiaries we mayhave and the proceeds raised from the sale of our debt and equity securities Each of

our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries however is legally distinct from ITC Holdings and has no obligation

contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us for the payment of dividends to ITC Holdings

stockholders or otherwise The ability of each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and any other

subsidiaries we may have to pay dividends and make other payments to ITC Holdings is subject to among
other things the availability of funds after taking into account capital expenditure requirements the terms

of its indebtedness applicable state laws and regulations of the FERC and the FPA

Each of the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement the ITCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit

Agreement the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement and the note purchase agreements governing

ITC Holdings Senior Notes imposes restrictions on ITC Holdings and its subsidiaries respective abilities to

pay dividends if an event of default has occurred under the relevant agreement and thus ITC Holdings

ability to pay dividends on its common stock will depend upon among other things our level of indebt

edness at the time of the proposed dividend and whether we are in compliance with the covenants under

our revolving credit facilities and our other debt instruments ITC Holdings future dividend policy will also

depend on the requirements of any future financing agreements to which we may be party and other

factors considered relevant by ITC Holdings board of directors

Pursuant to the requirements of SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-08e Schedule is required because of

restrictions which limit the payment of dividends to ITC Holdings by its subsidiaries

Liquidation Rights If ITC Holdings is dissolved the holders of our common stock will share ratably

in the distribution of all assets that remain after we pay all of our liabilities and satisfy our obligations to the

holders of any of ITC Holdings preferred stock to the extent that any preferred stock is authorized and

issued

Preemptive and Other Rights Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights to purchase

or subscribe for any of our stock or other securities of our company and there are no conversion rights or

redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect to our common stock

Repurchases In 2009 and 2007 we repurchased 700 and 41867 shares of common stock for an

aggregate of less than $0.1 million and $1.8 million respectively which represented shares of common
stock delivered to us by employees as payment of tax withholdings due to us upon the vesting of restricted

stock No shares of common stock were repurchased during 2008

ITC Holdings Common Stock Offerings

In January 2008 ITC Holdings completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock ITC

Holdings sold 6420737 newly-issued common shares in the offering which resulted in proceeds of

$308.3 million net of underwriting discount of $13.7 million and before issuance costs of $0.8 millionThe

proceeds from this offering were used to partially finance ITC Midwests asset acquisition and for general

purposes

In February 2007 International Transmission Holdings Limited Partnership IT Holdings LP
formerly our largest shareholder sold or distributed its remaining 11390054 common shares through
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secondary offering of 8149534 common shares and through distributions of 3240520 common shares

to its genera and limited partners TC Hodings received no proceeds from t.ese offerings and distri

butions ITC Holdings incurred offering costs of $0.6 million relating to this transaction which was recorded

in general and administrative expenses in 2007

ITC Holdings Sales Agency Financing Agreement

On June 27 2008 ITC Holdings entered into Sales Agency Financing Agreement the SAFE

Agreement with BNY Mellon Capital Markets LLC BNYMCM Under the terms of the SAFE Agree

ment ITC Holdings may issue and sell shares of common stock without par value from time to time up to

an aggregate sales price of $150.0 million The term of the SAFE Agreement is for period of up to June

2011 subject to continued approval from the FERC authorizing ITC Holdings to issue equity BNYMCM will

act as ITC Holdings agent in connection with any offerings of shares under the SAFE Agreement The

shares of common stock may be offered in one or more selling periods none of which will exceed 20

trading days Any shares of common stock sold under the SAFE Agreement will be offered at market prices

prevailing at the time of sale Moreover ITC Holdings will specify to BNYMCM the aggregate selling

price of the shares of common stock to be sold during each selling period which may not exceed

$40.0 million without BYNMCMs prior written consent and ii the minimum price below which sales may

not be made which may not be less than $10.00 per share without BNYMCMs prior written consent ITC

Holdings will pay BNYMCM commission equal to 1% of the sales price of all shares of common stock sold

through it as agent under the SAFE Agreement plus expenses The shares we would issue under the

SAFE Agreement have been registered under ITC Holdings automatic shelf registration statement on

Form S-3 File No 333- 163716 filed on December 14 2009 with the SEC As of December31 2009 we

have not issued shares under the SAFE Agreement

Share-Based Compensation

Our Long Term Incentive Plan which was adopted in 2006 and amended and restated in 2008 the

LTIP permits the compensation committee to make grants of variety of share-based awards such as

options restricted shares and deferred stock units for cumulative amount of up to 4950000 shares to

employees directors and consultants The LTIP provides that no more than 3250000 of the shares may
be granted as awards to be settled in shares of common stock other than options or stock appreciation

rights No awards would be permitted after February 2012 Prior to the adoption of the LTIP we made

various share-based awards under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan the 2003 Plan including

options and restricted stock In addition our board of directors and shareholders approved the ESPF

which we implemented effective April 2007 The ESPP allows for the issuance of an aggregate of

180000 shares of our common stock Participation in this plan is available to substantially all employees

As of December31 2009 3695244 shares were available for future issuance under our 2003 Plan ESPP

and 2006 LTlP including 2673121 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options of

which 1852682 were vested We implemented the ESPP effective April 2007 ITC Holdings issues new

shares to satisfy option exercises restricted stock grants employee ESPP purchases and settlement of

deferred stock units
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We recorded share-based compensation in 2009 2008 and 2007 as follows

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Operation and maintenance expenses 1581 $1152 868

General and administrative expenses 4999 4674 2509

Amounts capitalized to property plant and equipment 3426 1446 707

Total share-based compensation $10006 $7272 $4084

Total tax benefit recognized in the consolidated statement of

operations 2621 $2328 $1147

Tax deductions that exceed the cumulative compensation cost recognized for options exercised

restricted shares that vested or deferred stock units that are settled are recognized as common stock only if

the tax deductions reduce taxes payable as result of realized cash benefit from the deduction For the

year ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we did not recognize excess federal tax deductions for

option exercises and restricted stock vesting of $2.4 million $2.0 million and $5.9 million respectively in

common stock as the deductions have not resulted in cash benefit due to our federal income tax NOLs
We will recognize these excess federal tax deductions in common stock when the tax benefits are realized

For the year ended December31 2009 we recognized the tax effects of the excess state tax deduction as

common stock of $0.1 million No state tax deductions were recognized for the years ended December31
2008 and 2007

Options

Our option grants vest in equal annual installments over three- or five-year period from the date of

grant or as result of other events such as death or disability of the option holder The options have term

of 10 years from the grant date Stock option activity for 2009 was as follows

Weighted
Number of Average

Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 2009 1792020 exercisable with

weighted average exercise price of $12.61 2603115 $21.01

Granted 317830 41.37

Exercised 223975 11.26

Forfeited 23849 37.95

Outstanding at December 31 2009 1852682 exercisable with

weighted average exercise price of $16.50 2673121 $24.10
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Grant date fair value of the stock options was determined using Black-Scholes option pricing model

The following assumptions were used in determining the weighted-average fair value per option

2009 2008 2007

Option Grants Option Grants Options Grants

Weighted-average grant-date fair value per

option 11.93 13.31 9.08

Weighted-average expected volatilitya 37.5% 24.7% 21.3%

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 2.4% 3.4% 4.5%

Weighted-average expected termb years years years

Weighted-average expected dividend yield 2.95% 2.14% 2.71%

Estimated fair value of underlying shares 41.37 56.88 42.82

We estimated volatility using the historical volatility of our stock

The expected term represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding

We have utilized the simplified method permitted under share-based award accounting standards in

determining the expected term for all option grants as we do not have sufficient historical exercise data

to provide reasonabte basis upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of time

our equity shares have been publicly traded

At December31 2009 the aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-average remaining contractual

term for all outstanding options were approximately $76.0 million and 5.6 years respectively At Decem
ber 31 2009 the aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-average remaining contractual term for

exercisable options were $66.3 million and 4.5 years respectively The aggregate intrinsic value of options

exercised during 2009 2008 and 2007 were $7.5 million $6.2 million and $13.1 million respectively At

December 31 2009 the total unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested options awards

was $6.0 million and the weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized was 2.2 years

We estimate that 2654861 of the options outstanding at December31 2009 will vest including those

already vested The weighted-average fair value aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-average

remaining contractual term for options shares that are vested and expected to vest as of December 31
2009 was $23.96 per share $75.8 million and 5.6 years respectively

Restricted Stock Awards

Holders of restricted stock awards have all the rights of holder of common stock of ITC Holdings

including dividend and voting rights The holder becomes vested as result of certain events such as death

or disability of the holder but not later than the vesting date of the awards The weighted-average expected

remaining vesting period at December 31 2009 is 2.4 years Holders of restricted shares may not sell

transfer or pledge their restricted shares until the shares vest and the restrictions lapse

Restricted stock awards are recorded at fair value at the date of grant which is based on the closing

share price on the grant date Awards that were granted for future services are accounted for as unearned

compensation with amounts amortized over the vesting period
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Restricted stock award activity for 2009 was as follows

Number of Weighted-
Restricted Average

Stock Grant Date

Awards Fair Value

Unvested restricted stock awards at January 2009 591447 $45.52

Granted 189264 41.81

Vested 6878 40.55

Forfeited 16894 50.35

Unvested restricted stock awards at December 31 2009 756939 $44.55

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock awarded during 2008 and 2007 was

$55.07 and $48.84 per share respectively The aggregate fair value of restricted stock awards as of

December 31 2009 was $39.4 million The aggregate fair value of restricted stock awards that vested

during 2009 2008 and 2007 was $0.3 million $0.1 million and $5.7 million respectively At December31
2009 the total unrecognized compensation cost related to the restricted stock awards was $21.0 million

and the weighted-average period over which that cost is expected to be recognized was 2.6 years

As of December31 2009 we estimate that 654133 shares of the restricted shares outstanding at

December31 2009 will vest The weighted-average fair value aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-

average remaining contractual term for restricted shares that are expected to vest is $32.20 per share

$22.3 million and 1.7 years respectively

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP is compensatory plan accounted for under the expense recognition provisions of the

share-based payment accounting standards Compensation expense is recorded based on the fair market

value of the purchase options at the grant date which corresponds to the first day of each purchase period

and is amortized over the purchase period During 2009 2008 and 2007 employees purchased 28681

18593 and 8922 shares respectively resulting in proceeds from the sale of our common stock of

$1.1 million $0.8 million and $0.3 million respectively under the ESPP The total share-based compen
sation amortization for the ESPP was $0.3 million $0.2 million and $0.1 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively

Deferred Stock Units

Our deferred stock units are paid in shares of common stock on each of the following three

anniversaries of the grant date in equal installments The deferred stock units do not contain any vesting

provisions that is our common stock will be issued at the anniversary dates of the grant dates irrespective

of employment status The deferred stock units do not provide for any voting rights until the deferred stock

units are delivered as shares of our common stock The deferred stock units have dividend equivalent

rights providing the holder with the right to any dividends declared on our common stock subsequent to the

grant date such that the holders receive additional deferred stock units with fair market value equal to the

cash dividends they would have received on the shares underlying the deferred stock units they hold as if

such underlying shares of common stock had been outstanding on the record date for the dividend The

additional dividend equivalent units granted will be settled in shares of our common stock at the same time

as the deferred stock units on which the dividend equivalents were received The deferred stock units are

not transferable by the holders but the shares issued upon each settlement date will be immediately

transferable
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During 2009 we granted 301 deferred stock units with weighted average grant date fair value of

$43.54 per deferred stock unit The aggregate fair vaue of deferred stock units as of December 31 2009

was $0.6 million Additionally in 2009 5217 deferred stock units vested The aggregate fair value of

deferred stock units that vested as of December 31 2009 was $0.2 million The weighted-average

remaining contractual term for the deferred stock units outstanding as of December 31 2009 was

0.6 years During 2008 there were no settlements of the deferred stock units

15 JOINTLY OWNED UTILITY PLANT/COORDINATED SERVICES

Our MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have agreements with other utilities for the joint

ownership of specific substations and transmission lines We account for these jointly owned substations

and lines by recording property plant and equipment for our percentage of ownership interest

Transmission Ownership and Operating Agreement or an Interconnection Facilities Agreement provides

the authority for construction of capital improvements and for the operating costs associated with the

substations and lines Each party is responsible for the capital operation and maintenance and other

costs of these jointly owned facilities based upon each participants undivided ownership interest Our

MISO Regulated Operating Subsidiaries participating share of expenses associated with these jointly

held assets are primarily recorded within operating and maintenance expense on our consolidated

statement of operations

We have investments in jointly owned utility facilities as shown in the table below as of December31

2009

Construction

in thousands
Net lnvestmenta Work in Progress

Substations $127540 $3154

Lines 87642 356

Total $215182 $3510

Amount represents our investment in jointly held plant which has been reduced by the ownership

interest amounts of other parties

ITCTransmission

The Michigan Public Power Agency the MPPA has 50.4% ownership interest in two lTCTrans

mission 345 kV transmission lines lTCTransmissions net investment in these two lines totaled $21.7 mil

lion as of December 31 2009 The MPPAs ownership portion entitles them to approximately 234 MW of

network transmission service over the lTCTransmission system An Ownership and Operating Agreement
with the MPPA provides lTCTransmission with authority for construction of capital improvements and for

the operation and management of the transmission lines The MPPA is responsible for the capital and

operating and maintenance costs allocable to their ownership interest

METC

METC has joint sharing of several substations that interconnect with Consumers Energy other

municipal distribution systems and other generators The rights responsibilities and obligations for these

jointly owned substation facilities are documented in the Amended and Restated Distribution Trans

mission Interconnection Agreement with Consumers Energy and in numerous Interconnection Facilities

Agreements with various municipals and other generators As of December 31 2009 METC had net

investments in jointly shared substations including jointly shared substations under construction totaling

$124.0 million of which METCs ownership percentages for these jointly owned substation facilities ranged
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from 7.1% to 66.7% In addition the MPPA the Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative mc the WPSC
and the Michigan South Central Power Agency the MSCPA each have an ownership interest in several

METC 345 kV transmission lines This ownership entitles the MPPA WPSC and MSCPA to approximately

608 MW of network transmission service over the METC transmission system As of December 31 2009
METC had net investments in jointly shared transmission lines totaling $41 .8 million of which METCs
ownership percentages for these jointly owned lines ranged from 35.4% to 64.8%

ITC Midwest

ITC Midwest has joint sharing of several substations and transmission lines with various parties As of

December 31 2009 ITC Midwest had net investments in jointly shared substations facilities including

jointly shared substations facilities under construction totaling $6.7 million of which ITC Midwests

ownership percentages for these jointly owned substations facilities ranged from 48.0% to 70.0% As

of December 31 2009 ITC Midwest had net investments in jointly shares transmission lines including

jointly shared transmission lines under construction totaling $24.5 million of which ITC Midwests own
ership percentage for the jointly owned substation facilities and lines ranged from 28.0% to 70.0%

16 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Environmental Matters

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations are subject to federal state and local environ

mental laws and regulations which impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment

establish standards for the management treatment storage transportation and disposal of hazardous

materials and of solid and hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and remediate

contamination in certain circumstances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as well

as other liabilities concerning hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury or

property damage may arise at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and sites

where wastes have been treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated by our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Such liabilities may arise even where the contamination does not result

from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws Under number of environmental laws such

liabilities may also be joint and several meaning that party can be held responsible for more than its

share of the liability involved or even the entire share Environmental requirements generally have become

more stringent and compliance with those requirements more expensive We are not aware of any specific

developments that would increase our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries costs for such compliance in

manner that would be expected to have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial

position or liquidity

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets and operations also involve the use of materials

classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise dangerous Many of the properties our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries own or operate have been used for many years and include older facilities and equipment

that may be more likely than newer ones to contain or be made from such materials Some of these

properties include aboveground or underground storage tanks and associated piping Some of them also

include large electrical equipment filled with mineral oil which may contain or previously have contained

PCBs Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries facilities and equipment are often situated close to or on

property owned by others so that if they are the source of contamination others property may be affected

For example aboveground and underground transmission lines sometimes traverse properties that our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not own and at some of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

transmission stations transmission assets owned or operated by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

and distribution assets owned or operated by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

customer are commingled

104



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Some propErties in which our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have an ownership interest or at

which they operate are and others are suspected of being affected by environmental contamination Our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are not aware of any pending or threatened claims against them with

respect to environmental contamination or of any investigation or remediation of contamination at any

properties that entail costs likely to materially affect them Some facilities and properties are located near

environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands

Claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or other

damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmission and

distribution lines While our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not believe that causal link between

electromagnetic field exposure and injury has been generally established and accepted in the scientific

community if such relationship is established or accepted the liabilities and costs imposed on our

business could be significant We are not aware of any pending or threatened claims against our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries for bodily injury disease or other damages allegedly related to exposure to

electromagnetic fields and electric transmission and distribution lines that entail costs likely to have

material adverse effect on our results of operations financial position or liquidity

Litigation

We are invDlved in certain legal proceedings before various courts governmental agencies and

mediation panek concerning matters arising in the ordinary course of business These proceedings include

certain contract disputes regulatory matters and pending judicial matters We cannot predict the final

disposition of suDh proceedings We regularly review legal matters and record provisions for claims that are

considered probable of loss The resolution of pending proceedings is not expected to have material

effect on our operations or consolidated financial statements in the period in which they are resolved

Michigan Sales and Use Tax Audit

The Michigan Department of Treasury conducted sales and use tax audit of lTCTransmission for the

audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 and has recently determined to deny lTCTransmissions

use of the industrial processing exemption from use tax it has taken beginning January 2007

lTCTransmission has certain administrative and judicial appeal rights

lTCTransmission believes that its utilization of the industrial processing exemption is appropriate and

intends to defend itself against the denial of such exemption However it is reasonably possible that the

assessment of additional use tax could be sustained after all administrative appeals and litigation have

been exhausted

The amount of use tax liability associated with the exemptions taken by ITCTransmission through

December 31 2009 is estimated to be approximately $5.7 million which includes approximately $3.3 mil

lion assessed for the audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 including interest In the event it

becomes apprcpriate to record additional use tax expense relating to this matter lTCTransmission would

record the additional use tax expense primarily as an increase to the cost of property plant and equipment

as the majority of purchases for which the exemption was taken relate to equipment purchases associated

with capital projects These higher use tax expenses would be passed on to lTCTransmissions customers

as the amounts are included as components of net revenue requirements and resulting rates METC has

also taken the industrial processing exemption estimated to be approximately $5.9 million for periods still

subject to audit since 2005 The Michigan Department of Treasury initiated use tax audit of MTH METCs

sole member ii the first quarter of 2010
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Purchase Obligations and Leases

At December 31 2009 we had purchase obligations of $57.3 million representing commitments for

materials services and equipment that had not been received as of December 31 2009 primarily for

construction and maintenance projects for which we have an executed contract The majority of the items

relate to materials and equipment that have long production lead times that are expected to be paid for in

2010

We have operating leases for office space equipment and storage facilities We recognize expenses

relating to our operating lease obligations on straight-line basis over the term of the lease We recognized

rent expense of $0.4 million $0.6 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively recorded in general and administrative and operation and maintenance expenses
These amounts and the amounts in the table below do not include any expense or payments to be made
under the METC Easement Agreement described below under Other Commitments METC
Amended and Restated Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy

Future minimum lease payments under the leases at December 31 2009 were

In thousands

2010 482

2011 428

2012 424

2013 405

2014 and thereafter 340

Total minimum lease payments $2079

Other Commitments

ITC Transmission

Service Level Agreements SLA9 with Detroit Edison During 2003 and through April 2004
lTCTransmission and Detroit Edison operated under construction and maintenance engineering

and system operations SLA whereby Detroit Edison performed maintenance asset construction and

certain aspects of transmission operations and administration the SLA Activities on lTCTransmissions

behalf Operation and maintenance expenses incurred by lTCTransmission under the SLA that exceeded

$15.9 million during 2003 were recognized as expense but were deferred as long-term payable and were

paid to Detroit Edison in equal annual installments over five-year period beginning June 2005
lTCTransmission paid the final annual installment of SLA expenses to Detroit Edison in June 2009

In August 2003 lTCTransmission entered into an Operation and Maintenance Agreement with its

primary maintenance contractor and Supply Chain Management Agreement with its primary purchasing

and inventory management contractor to replace the services that Detroit Edison has provided under the

SLA lTCTransmission is not obligated to take any specified amount of services under the terms of the

Operation and Maintenance Agreement or the Supply Chain Management Agreement which have five-

year terms ending August 29 2013 and automatically renew for additional five year terms unless

terminated by either party

METC

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary Services with Consumers

Energy Under the Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary Services with Consumers Energy the

Ancillary Services Agreement Consumers Energy provides reactive power balancing energy load
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following and spinning and supplemental reserves that are needed by METC and MISO These ancillary

services are necessary part of the provision of transmission service This agreement is necessary

because METC does not own any generating facilities and therefore must procure ancillary services from

third party suppliers including Consumers Energy The Ancillary Services Agreement establishes the

terms and conditions under which METC obtains ancillary services from Consumers Energy Consumers

Energy will offer all ancillary services as required by FERC Order No 888 at FERC-approved rates METC

is not precluded from procuring these services from third party suppliers and is free to purchase ancillary

services from unaffiliated generators located within its control area or in neighboring jurisdictions on non-

preferential competitive basis This one- year agreement became effective on May 2002 and is

automatically renewed each year for successive one-year periods The Ancillary Services Agreement can

be terminated by either party with six months prior written notice Services performed by Consumers

Energy under the Ancillary Services Agreement are charged to operation and maintenance expense

Amended and Restated EasementAgreement with Consumers Energy The Easement Agreement

with Consumers Energy the Easement Agreement provides METC with an easement for transmission

purposes and rights-of-way leasehold interests fee interests and licenses associated with the land over

which the transmission lines cross Consumers Energy has reserved for itself the rights to and the value of

activities associated with other uses of the infrastructure such as for fiber optics telecommunications and

gas pipelines The cost for use of the rights-of-way is $10.0 million per year The term of the Easement

Agreement runs through December 31 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals thereafter

Payments to Consumers Energy under the Easement Agreement are charged to operation and main

tenance expense

ITC Midwest

Transition ServicesAgreement ITC Midwest and IPL are party to Transition Services Agreement

the IPL TSA dated as of December 20 2007 which identifies the transmission corporate adminis

tration services the construction and maintenance services the engineering services and the system

operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system that IPL agreed to provide to ITC

Midwest The system operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system and the associated

detailed billing service have been extended through December 31 2010 The IPL TSA can also be

terminated by mutual agreement of the parties

ITC Great Plains

Transition Services Agreement Mid-Kansas and ITC Great Plains are party to Transition Services

Agreement the Mid-Kansas TSA dated as of August 18 2009 The Mid-Kansas TSA identifies the

operations and accounting services Mid-Kansas will perform related to the ITC Great Plains Elm Creek

and Flat Ridge Substations which ITC Great Plains has purchased from Mid-Kansas The services will be

provided for 12 months from the date of execution The Mid-Kansas ISA can also be terminated by mutual

agreement of the parties

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily with Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and lPL which were responsible

for approximately 37.7% 23.6% and 22.5% respectively or $234.1 million $146.6 million and $139.5 mil

lion respectively of our consolidated operating revenues for the year ended December 31 2009 These

percentages and amounts of total operating revenues of Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL
include an estimate for the 2009 revenue accruals and deferrals that were included in our 2009 operating

revenues but will not be billed to our customers until 2011 We have assumed that the revenues

associated with the revenue accruals and deferrals would be billed to these customers in 2011 in the

107



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

same proportion of the respective percentages of network revenues billed to them in 2009 Any financial

difficulties experienced by Detroit Edison Consumers Energy or IPL could negatively impact our

business MISC as our MISC Regulated Operating Subsidiaries billing agent bills Detroit Edison

Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly basis and collects fees for the use of our

transmission systems The SPF the billing agent for ITC Great Plains began to bill ITC Great Plains 2009

network revenues in January 2010 retroactive to August 18 2009 MISC and the SPP have implemented

strict credit policies for its members customers which include customers using our transmission systems
In general if these customers do not maintain their investment grade credit rating or have history of late

payments MISC and the SPP may require them to provide MISO and the SPP with letter of credit or cash

deposit equal to the highest monthly invoiced amount over the previous twelve months

17 SEGMENT INFORMATION

We identify reportable segments based on the criteria set forth in the ASC regarding disclosures about

segments of an enterprise We determine our reportable segments based primarily on the regulatory

environment of our subsidiaries and the business activities pertormed to earn revenues and incur

expenses As discussed in Note during the third quarter of 2009 ITC Great Plains acquired electric

transmission assets and implemented its cost-based formula rate in SPP to record revenues As result

the newly regulated transmission business at ITC Great Plains is now included in the Regulated Operating
Subsidiaries segment

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

We aggregate ITCTransmission METC ITC Midwest and ITC Great Plains into one reportable

operating segment based on their similar regulatory environment and economic characteristics among
other factors They are engaged in the transmission of electricity within the United States earn revenues

from the same types of customers and are regulated by the FERC Their tariff rates are established using

cost-based formula rates

ITC Holdings and Other

Information below for ITC Holdings and Other consists of holding company whose activities include debt

and equity financings and general corporate activities and all of ITC Holdings other subsidiaries excluding the

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries which are focused primarily on business development activities

Regulated

Operating ITC Holdings

Subsidiariesa and Other Reconciliations Eliminations Total

621061 329

327

2009

In thousands

Operating revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax provision benefitb
Net incomeb

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Total assetsc

Capital expenditures

85622

49605

297241

90532

206709

2535826

950163

3890874

410086

80604

88769

12960

130900

6238

2614394

47

375 621015

85949

130209

208472

77572

206709 130900

2542064

950163

1940 2473612 4029716

5619 404514
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Regulated

Operating ITC Holdings

2008 Subsidiaries and Other Reconciliations Eliminations Total

in thousands

Operating revenues 617924 254 301 617877

Depreciation and amortization 94477 292 94769

Interest expense 43579 79394 739 122234

Income before income taxes 267530 91060 176470

Income tax provision benefitb 82919 15657 67262

Net incomeb 184611 109208 184611 109208

Property plant and equipment net 2297799 6587 2304386

Goodwill 951319 951319

Total assetsc 3667660 2354510 3154 2304451 3714565

Capital expenditures 398618 492 2730 401840

Regulated

Operating 1TC Holdings

2007 Subsidiariesd and Other Reconciliations Eliminations Total

in thousands

Operating revenues 426249 181 181 426249

Depreciation and amortization 67637 291 67928

Interest expense 28336 53830 303 81863

Income before income taxes 175568 65622 109946

Income tax provision benefitb 39202 2552 36650

Net incomeb 136366 73296 136366 73296

Property plant and equipment net 1953556 6877 1960433

Goodwill 959042 959042

Total assetsc 3177561 2313701 540 2277425 3213297

Capital expenditures 287069 1062 961 287170

Amounts include the results of operations from ITC Great Plains for the period August 18 2009

through December 31 2009

Income tax provision benefit and net income for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not include

any allocation of taxes for METC METC is treated as branch of MTH which is taxed as multiple-

partner limited partnership for federal income tax purposes Since METC and MTH its immediate

parent file as partnership for federal income tax purposes they are exempt from federal income

taxes As result METC does not record provision for federal income taxes in its statements of

operations or record amounts for federal deferred income tax assets or liabilities on its statements of

financial position For FERC regulatory reporting however METC computes theoretical federal

income taxes as well as the associated deferred income taxes and includes an annual allowance

for income taxes in its net revenue requirement used to determine its rates

Reconciliation of total assets results primarily from differences in the netting of deferred tax assets and

liabilities under the guidance for accounting for income taxes at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

as compared to the classification in our consolidated statement of financial position

Amounts include the results of operations from the electric transmission business acquired by ITC

Midwest for the period December 20 2007 through December 31 2007
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18 SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION UNAUDITED

Quarterly earnings per share amounts may not sum to the totals for each the years since quarterly

computation are based on weighted average common shares outstanding during each quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Ouartera Quarter Year

In thousands except per share data

2009

Operating revenue $155941 $157238 $151328 $156508 $621015

Operating income 74661 78267 89057 84882 326867

Net income 28725 30793 37818 33564 130900

Basic earnings per share 0.58 0.62 0.76 0.67 2.62

Diluted earnings per share 0.57 0.61 0.74 0.66 2.58

2008

Operating revenue $141914 $160616 $163279 $152068 $617877

Operating income 69268 74039 74432 69884 287623

Net income 25521 28661 28045 26981 109208

Basic earnings per shareb 0.53 0.58 0.57 0.54 2.22

Diluted earnings per shareb 0.52 0.57 0.55 0.53 2.18

During 2009 we recognized $10.0 million of regulatory assets associated with both the start-up and

development costs at ITC Great Plains and development costs for the KETA project Upon initial

establishment of these regulatory assets in the third quarter of 2009 $8.2 million of operating

expenses were reversed of which $5.9 million were incurred in periods prior to 2009 This resulted

in an increase in operating income net income and earnings per share in the third quarter of 2009 as

compared to other quarters in 2009

The retroactive application of the two-class method resulted in decrease in basic and diluted

earnings per share of $0.01 per share for the fourth quarter ended December31 2008 as compared
to the earnings per share calculations used and disclosed for the fourth quarter in our Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2008

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting is included in Item of this

Form 10-K The attestation report of Deloitte Touche LLF our independent registered public accounting

firm on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting is also included in Item of this

Form 10-K

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance

that material information required to be disclosed in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange

Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules

and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management including our
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding

required financial disclosure In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures man

agement recognized that controi system no matter how weH designed and operated can provide oniy

reasonable not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system are met Because of the

inherent limitations in all control systems no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all

control issues and instances of fraud if any with company have been detected

As of the end of the period covered by this report we carried out an evaluation under the supervision

and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant

to Rule 3a-1 of the Exchange Act Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable

assurance level

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2009 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal

control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is contained under the captions Election of Directors Exec

utive Officers Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and Corporate Governance

in the Proxy Statement and excluding the report of the Audit Committee is incorporated herein by

reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Compensation of Executive

Officers and Directors in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Security Ownership of Man

agement and Major Shareholders in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

Equity Compensation Plans

At December 31 2009 we had the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan and the LTIF pursuant to

which we grant stock options and restricted stock and other equity based compensation to employees

officers and directors as well as the ESPP Each of these plans has been approved by shareholders
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ITC HOLDINGS CORR AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our equity compensation plans at

December 31 2009 shares in thousands

Number of Shares

Remaining Available

Number of Shares for Future Issuance
to be Issued Weighted-Average Under Equity

Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Compensation
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Plansa

Equity compensation plans approved

by shareholders 2673 $24.10 3695

The number of shares remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans has

been reduced by the common shares issued through December 31 2009 upon exercise of stock

options the number of common shares to be issued upon the future exercise of outstanding stock

options and the number of restricted stock awards granted that have not been forfeited The LTIP

imposes separate restriction so that no more than 3250000 of the shares may be granted as awards

to be settled in shares of common stock other than options or stock appreciation rights

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is contained under the captions Certain Transactions and

Corporate Governance Director Independence in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by

reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income for the

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

All other schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X either are not required under the

related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted or ii the information required is

included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto that are part hereof

The exhibits included as part of this report are listed in the attached Exhibit Index which is

incorporated herein by reference At the request of any shareholder ITC Holdings will furnish any

exhibit upon the payment of fee of $.1O per page to cover the costs of furnishing the exhibit



SCHEDULE Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

ITC HOLDINGS CORP

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION PARENT COMPANY ONLY

December 31

2009 2008

In thousands except share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 70583 19372

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 30373 21716
Deferred income taxes 4672 3926
Other 438 420

Total current assets 106066 45434
Other assets

Investment in subsidiaries 2375583 2229875
Deferred income taxes 30675 22554

Deferred financing fees net of accumulated amortization of $4610 and

$4311 respectively 10296 9698

Other 24156 15368

Total other assets 2440710 2277495

TOTAL ASSETS $2546776 $2322929

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accrued payable 3432 3684

Accrued payroll 13648 10329

Accrued interest 26352 25835
Other 52 294

Total current liabilities 43484 40142
Accrued pension and other postretirement liabilities 31158 24295
Other 1854 1688

Long-term debt net of discounts of $3243 and $2212 respectively 1458757 1327741

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock without par value 100000000 shares authorized

50084061 and 49654518 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 862512 848624

Retained earnings 149776 81268

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 765 829

Total stockholders equity 1011523 929063

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $2546776 $2322929

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only
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SCHEDULE Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

ITC HOLDINGS CORR

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS PARENT COMPANY ONLY

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Other income 1154 1392 833

General and administrative expense 5539 5232 9768
Interest expense 80638 79394 53830

Loss on extinguishment of debt 1263 349

Other expense 344 1965 754

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 86630 85199 63868

INCOME TAX BENEFIT 35798 35881 22750

LOSS AFTER TAXES 50832 49318 41118

EQUITY IN SUBSIDIARIES EARNINGS 181732 158526 114414

NET INCOME $130900 $109208 73296

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only
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SCHEDULE Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

ITC HOLDINGS CORP

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS PARENT COMPANY ONLY

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 130900 109208 73296
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by used in

operating activities

Equity in subsidiaries earnings 181732 158526 114414
Dividends from subsidiaries 189200 84039 82799
Deferred income tax expense 31776 36109 22750
Intercompany tax payments from subsidiaries 26950 30900 33681

Share-based compensation expense 10006 7272 4084
Other 3369 2341 1280

Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of changes shown

separately

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 14377 15376 37871
Other current assets 18 29

Accrued payable 342 622 3215
Accrued payable to subsidiary 4170
Accrued payroll 3319 1848 8481

Accrued interest 517 8355 4075
Other current liabilities 2617 528 84
Non-current assets and liabilities net 1731 4673 5561

Net cash provided by operating activities 131668 69475 37212
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Equity contributions to subsidiaries 152522 117050 752504
Intercompany advance to ITC Midwest 175000
Repayment of advance to ITC Midwest 175000
Return of capital from subsidiary 3495 26997
MTH and METC direct acquisition fees 254

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 149027 57950 900761
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of long-term debt 298670 383422 865000

Repayment of long-term debt 100000 765000
Borrowings under short-term loan agreement 25000

Repayment of short-term loan agreement 25000
Borrowings under revolving credit agreements 90715 153807 294700
Repayments of revolving credit agreements 158668 131954 248600
Issuance of common stock 3575 310543 3402
Dividends on common stock 62408 58935 48168
Debt issuance costs 3412 575 5113
Other 98 881 1889

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 68570 109573 859332

NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 51211 17852 4217
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of period 19372 1520 5737

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS End of period 70583 19372 1520

Supplementary cash flows information

Interest paid 78181 68794 48414
Income taxes paid 1967 1317 2058

Supplementary noncash investing and financing activities

Equity transfers to subsidiaries 4149 3537 545

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only
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SCHEDULE Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

ITC HOLDINGS CORR

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PARENT COMPANY ONLY

GENERAL

For ITC Holdings Corp.s ITC Holdings we our and us presentation Parent Company only

the investment in subsidiaries is accounted for using the equity method The condensed parent company

financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements

and notes of ITC Holdings appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of

investments in our subsidiaries deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax operating

loss carryforwards and cash ITC Holdings material cash inflows are only from dividends and other

payments received from our subsidiaries and the proceeds raised from the sale of debt and equity

securities ITC Holdings may not be able to access cash generated by our subsidiaries in order to fulfill

cash commitments or to pay dividends to shareholders The ability of our subsidiaries to make dividend

and other payments to us is subject to the availability of funds after taking into account their respective

funding requirements the terms of their respective indebtedness the regulations of the FERC under the

FPA and applicable state laws Each of our subsidiaries however is legally distinct from us and has no

obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us

LONG-TERM DEBT

As of December 31 2009 the maturities of our long-term debt outstanding were as follows

In thousands

2010

2011

2012

2013 267000

2014 50000

2015 and thereafter 1145000

Total $1462000

Refer to Note to the consolidated financial statements for description of the ITC Holdings Senior

Notes and the ITC Holdings Revolving Credit Agreement and related items

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for loans with similar terms and average

maturities the fair value of the ITC Holdings Senior Notes is $1437.2 million at December 31 2009 The

total book value of the ITC Holdings Senior Notes net of discount is $1458.8 million at December31 2009

At December 31 2009 we were in compliance with all covenants

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

lTClransmission MTH ITC Midwest ITC Grid Development and other subsidiaries paid cash

dividends to ITC Holdings totaling $189.2 million $84.0 million and $82.8 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively Additionally lTCTransmission paid amounts of $23.5 million $30.9 million and

$38.9 million to ITC Holdings under an intercompany tax sharing arrangement during 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively METC paid $3.5 million to ITC Holdings under an intercompany tax sharing arrange

ment during 2009 No payments were made by METC in 2008 or 2007
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized in the City of Novi State of Michigan on February 25 2010

ITC HOLDINGS CORP

By Is JOSEPH WELCH

Joseph Welch

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/s Joseph Welch Chairman President and Chief February 25 2010

Joseph Welch Executive Officer principal executive

officer

/5/ Cameron Bready Senior Vice President Treasurer and February 25 2010

Cameron Bready
Chief Financial Officer principal

financial officer and principal

accounting officer

Is Edward Jepsen Director February 25 2010

Edward Jepsen

Is Richard McLeIIan Director February 25 2010

Richard McLellan

/5/ William Museler Director February 25 2010

William Museler

Is Hazel OLeary Director February 25 2010

Hazel OLeary

Is Gordon Bennett Stewart Ill Director February 25 2010

Gordon Bennett Stewart Ill

/5/ Lee Stewart Director February 25 2010

Lee Stewart

118



EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or filed previously and incorporated by reference to

the filing indicated Our SEC file number is 001 -32576

Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

2.3 Asset Sale Agreement by and between Interstate Power and Light Companyand ITC Midwest

LLC dated as of January 18 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 24 2007

2.4 Parent Guaranty by the Registrant in favor of Interstate Power and Light Company dated as of

January 18 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 24 2007

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant filed with Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant dated as of November 19 2008 filed with

Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

4.1 Form of Certificate of Common Stock filed with Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.3 Indenture dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and BNY Midwest

Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as

amended Reg No 333-123657

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 16 2003 supplemental to the Indenture dated

as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed

with Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.5 First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International

Transmission Company and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-i 23657

4.6 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15 2003 supplementing the First Mortgage and
Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Company and
BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.7 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15 2003 supplementing the First Mortgage
and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Companyand
BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.8 Amendment to Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 19 2005 between

International Transmission Company and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.9 Second Amendment to Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 24 2006 between
International Transmission Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as
successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on

March 30 2006

4.10 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 28 2006 supplementing the First Mortgage
and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Company and
BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on March 30
2006

4.12 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 10 2006 supplemental to the Indenture

dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on October 10 2006
4.14 First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and

JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 2003 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q
for the quarter ended September 30 2006
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Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

4.15 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 10 2003 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and JPMorgan
Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter

ended September 30 2006

4.16 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 10 2003 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and JPMorgan
Chase Bank to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission

Company LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with

Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended September 30 2006

4.17 ITC Holdings Corp Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 20 2007 filed with

Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended September 30 2007

4.18 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 24 2008 supplemental to the Indenture

dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on January 25 2008

4.19 First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of January 14 2008 between ITC Midwest LLC

and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K

filed on February 2008

4.20 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 14 2008 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between ITC Midwest LLC and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as trustee First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of January 14 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 2008

4.21 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 25 2008 between International

Transmission Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as trustee to the

First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 filed with Registrants Form 8-K

filed on March 27 2008

4.22 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 11 2008 between METC and The

Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A
as trustee to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company
LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on December 23 2008

4.23 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 15 2008 between ITC Midwest LLC

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to The Bank of New York

Trust Company N.A as trustee to the First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of

January 14 2008 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 23 2008

4.24 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 25 2008 between METC and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as

trustee to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company
LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on December 23 2008

4.25 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 11 2009 between ITC Holdings Corp
and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A f.k.a The Bank of New York

Trust Company N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 14 2009

4.26 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 10 2009 between ITC Midwest LLC

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to The Bank of New York

Trust Company N.A as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 17 2009

10.7 Forms of Management Stockholders Agreements filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form 5-1 as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.8 Form of First Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.8 to

Registrants 2005 Form 10-K

120



Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

10.9 Forms of Waiver and Agreement for Executive Stockholders filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.10 Form of Waiver and Agreement for Non-Executive Stockholders filed as an exhibit to

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.11 Form of Sale Participation Agreement filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-1 23657

10.13 Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the

Registrant and its Subsidiaries filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.15 Form of Short Term Incentive Plan of the Registrant filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.27 Deferred Compensation Plan filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.28 Service Level Agreement Construction and Maintenance/Engineering/System Operations

dated February 28 2003 between The Detroit Edison Company and International

Transmission Company filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-i 23657

i034 Form of stock option agreement for executive officers under Amended and Restated 2003
Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its subsidiaries filed

as Exhibit 10.34 to Registrants Form iO-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2005

10.35 Form of restricted stock award agreement for directors and executive officers under Amended
and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and
its subsidiaries filed as Exhibit 10.35 to Registrants 2005 Form 10-K

10.36 Executive Cash Bonus Agreement dated as of February 2006 between the Registrant and
Daniel Oginsky filed as Exhibit 10.36 to Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 14 2006

0.38 Amendment No dated as of February 2006 to Amended and Restated 2003 Stock

Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant filed as Exhibit 10.38 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 14 2006

10.44 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-employee Directors under Amended and

Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its

subsidiaries filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.45 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Employees under the Registrants 2006 Long
Term Incentive Plan filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

i046 Form of Stock Option Agreement for Employees under the Registrants 2006 Long Term

Incentive Plan filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.47 Form of Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.48 Summaryof Stock Ownership Agreement effective August 16 2006 for Registrants Directors

and Executive Officers filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.49 Form of Waiver and Agreement for Employees pursuant to the Management Stockholders

Agreement filed with Registrants Form S-i/A filed on September 25 2006

10.51 Form of Amended and Restated Easement Agreement between Consumers Energy Company
and Michigan Electric Transmission Company filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter

ended September 30 2006

10.52 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Operating Agreement by and between

Michigan Electric Transmission Company and Consumers Energy Company effective May
2002 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006

10.53 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary

Services between Consumers Energy Company and Michigan Electric Transmission

Company effective May 2002 filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended

September 30 2006
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Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

10.54 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Distribution-Transmission Interconnection

Agreement by and between Michigan Electric Transmission Company as Transmission

Provider and Consumers Energy Company as Local Distribution Company effective

May 2002 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006

10.55 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Generator Interconnection Agreement
between Michigan Electric Transmission Company and Consumers Energy Company LLC
dated as of May 2002 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended

September 30 2006

10.56 Non-Competition Agreement dated as of May 2002 by and between Consumers Energy

Company Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership and Michigan Electric

Transmission Company LLC filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended

September 30 2006

10.57 Settlement Agreement dated January 19 2007 by Michigan Electric Transmission Company
LLC on behalf of itself Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator Inc Consumers

Energy Company the Michigan Public Power Agency Michigan South Central Power Agency
Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative Inc and International Transmission Company filed

with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 23 2007

10.58 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among the Registrant as the

Borrower Various Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto

as the Lenders JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.P Morgan
Securities Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit

Suisse Cayman Islands Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on April 2007

10.59 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among International Transmission

Company and Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC as the Borrowers Various

Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto as the Lenders

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.R Morgan Securities Inc as Sole

Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on April 2007

10.61 Form of Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement by and between ITC Midwest

LLC as Transmission Owner and Interstate Power and Light Company as Local Distribution

Company dated as of December 17 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on

December 21 2007

10.62 Form of Large Generator Interconnection Agreement entered into by the Midwest

Independent Transmission System Operator Inc Interstate Power and Light Company and

ITC Midwest LLC filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 21 2007

10.63 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 29 2008 among ITC Midwest LLC as the

Borrower Various Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto

as the Lenders JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.R Morgan
Securities Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch as Syndication Agent and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Documentation Agent

filed with Registrants Form8-K filed on January 31 2008

10.64 Form of Amended and Restated Executive Group Special Bonus Plan of the Registrant dated

November 12 2007 filed with Registrants 2007 Form 10-K

10.65 Form of Amended and Restated Special Bonus Plan of the Registrant dated November 12

2007 filed with Registrants 2007 Form 10-K

10.66 ITC Holdings Corp Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended June 2007 filed with

Registrants 2007 Form 10-K
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Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

10.67 Commitment Increase Supplements of the Lenders dated December 27 2007 related to the

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among International Transmission

Company and Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC as the Borrowers Various

Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto as the Lenders

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.R Morgan Securities Inc as Sole

Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents filed with Registrants

2007 Form 10-K

10.68 Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement dated February 25 2008 pursuant to the 2006 Long-

Term Incentive Plan of Registrant between the Registrant and Joseph Welch filed with

Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008

10.69 Amended and Restated Registrant 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan effective May 21 2008

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on May 23 2008

10.70 Sales Agency Financing Agreement dated June 27 2008 between Registrant and BNY
Mellon Capital Markets LLC filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on June 27 2008

10.71 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Plan Initial Option August

2008 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.72 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Plan P0 Option August 2008
filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.73 Form of Amendment to Restricted Stock Agreement under 2003 Plan August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.74 Form of Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

0.75 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreements under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.76 Form of Amendment Restricted Stock Agreements under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.77 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.78 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.79 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-employee Directors under Amended and

Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its

subsidiaries filed with Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

10.80 Management Supplemental Benefit Plan filed with Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

10.81 ExecutiveSupplemental Retirement Plan filed with Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

10.82 Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Joseph Welch filed with Registrants

2008 Form 10-K

10.83 Form of Employment Agreements between the Registrant and Linda Blair Jon Jipping

Edward Rahill and Cameron Bready filed with Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

10.84 Form of Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Daniel Oginsky filed with

Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

10.85 Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 29 2009 among the Registrant as the Borrower

Various Financial Institutions and Other Parties from Time to Time Parties Thereto as the

Lenders JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.P Morgan Securities

Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and PNC Bank National Association as

Syndication Agent

21 List of Subsidiaries filed with Registrants 2008 Form 10-K

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP relating to the Registrant and subsidiaries
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Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a-1 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 3a-1 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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